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Inprint Systems Limited
Directors® report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Strategic report

Principal activities

The Company’s principal activity continued to be that of a holding company, primarily engaged in the provision of the
manufacturing facility to its subsidiary. The Company’s subsidiary is principally engaged in the print, design and
manufacture of Expanded Content Booklet labels.

Business model

The Company primarily focuses on supporting its Ashford subsidiary with the provision of a state of the art
manufacturing facility in order to service its customer’s requirements and needs in an ever changing and demanding
market.

Business review and results

The results for the year are shown in the profit and loss account on page 6.
For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company reported a profit after taxation of £19,490,000 (2016
£8,204,000).

Key performance indicators

Key performance indicators are not considered relevant for this holding company.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties and areas of strategic development and performance are primarily those of its
subsidiary and include the following:

Raw matenial availability and prices: the Company monitors key raw material sources on a global basis and negotiates

fixed price contracts where appropriate with key suppliers.

e Environmental risks: the Company places considerable emphasis upon environmental compliance and not only
seeks to ensure ongoing compliance with relevant legislation but also strives to ensure that environmental best
practice is incorporated into its key processes.

s Debtors: the Company maintains strong relationships with each of its key customers. Approptiate credit terms are
agreed with all customers and these are closely managed.

*  Major disruption/disaster: business continuity planning is reviewed regularly.

+  The Company manitors forthcoming and current legislation regularly.

Future developments

The Company is expected to remain a holding company.
By order of the board
Foster Road,

Ashford Business Park,

Michael MeGarry /l/, _/ Sevington, Ashford,

Director b/ TN24 0SH
i

17 July 2018

Registered number. 03650238 !



[nprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Directors’ report

The directors present their directors’ report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Results for the year and Dividends
The results for the year are shown on page 6.

The directors do not propose a final ordinary dividend, which together with the interim dividend of £1,935 per ordinary
share, make a total dividend of £1,935 per share (2016 £800 per share).

The Company made no political donations or incurred any political expenditure in the year.

Directors

The directors who held office during the year were as follows:

T D Nielsen resigned 04/08/2017
G T Martin

L Vaidyanathan resigned 12/10/2017
G N Moyles

M A Beckram appointed 01/10/2017
M I McGarry appointed 12/10/2017

Certain directors benefited from qualifying third party indemnity provisions in place during the financial year and at
the date of this report.

Disclosure of information to auditor

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and each director has taken all the
steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor
Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP

will therefore continue in office.

By order of the board

Michael McGarry Foster Road,

Drrector / Ashford Business Park,
“/( Sevington, Ashford,

‘/ TN24 0SH

{ i 17 July 2018

Registered number: 03650238 2



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Strategic report, the
Directors’ report and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they
have elected to prepare the financial statements 1n accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law
{UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

s  state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

s  assess the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

» use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do se.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible
for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

Registered number. 03650238 3
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KPMG@G LLP

1 Sovereign Square
Sovereign Street
Leeds

LS14DA

United Kingdom

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Inprint Systems Limited

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Inprint Systems Limited (“the company™) for the year ended 31 December

2017 which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes,
including the accounting policies in note 1.

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2017 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, inctuding FRS 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are
independent of the company 1n accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

We are required to report to you if we have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is
inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use of that basis
for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements. We have nothing to report
in these respects.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

. we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

. n our apinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
statements; and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.



Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

s the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
¢ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
¢ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 3, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is providled on the FRC’s  website at

www e ore ub auditorsiesponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as
a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Katharine L’Estrange (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1 Sovereign Square

Sovereign Street

Leeds

LS14DA

18 July 2018



Inprint Systems Linuted
Directors” teport and financial statements

Profit and Loss Account and Other Comprehensive Income

for year ended 31st December 2017

Note

Turnover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administration expenses

Operating profit 2,3
Income from shares in group undertaking

Profit before taxation

Tax on profit 4

Profit and other comprehensive income for the financial
year

2017
£000

440

440
(283)

157
19,346

19,503

ay

19,4590

All items dealt with in arriving at operating profit above relate to continuing operations.

31 December 2017

2016
£000

440

440
(257)

183
8,000

8,183

21

8,204

The Company has no recognised gains and losses other than the profit above and therefore no separate statement of

total comprehensive income has been presented.

Notes on pages 9 to 21 form part of financial statements.

Registered number: 03650238



Inprint Systems Limited
Durectors’ report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Balance Sheet

at 31st December 2017
Note 2017 2016

£000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 5 6,057 6,333
Investments 6 18,000 18,000

24,057 24,333
Current assets
Debtors 7 665 247
Cash at bank and in hand 22 22
687 269

Creditors: amounts falling due within gne year 8 (7) (9
Net current assets 680 260
Total assets less current liabilities 24,737 24,593
Net assets 24,737 24,593
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital i1 2,283 2,283
Profit and loss account 22,454 22310
Shareholders’ funds 24,737 24,593

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 17 July 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

Michael McGarry

Director _/
Company registered number: 03650238 /1/47/ ; M
¥ "

Notes on pages 9 to 21 form part of financial statements

Registered number: 03650238 7



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Statement of Changes in Equity

Called-up Profit Total
share and loss equity
capital account

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2016 2,283 12,106 14,389
Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the year - 8,204 8,204

Total comprehensive income for the period - 8,204 8,204

Equity dividends - (8,000) (8,000)

Capital contribution - 10,000 10,000

Balance at 31 December 2016 2,283 22,310 24,593

Called-up Profit Total

share and loss equity

capital account

£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2017 2,283 22,310 24,593
Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the year - 19,490 19,490

Total comprehensive mcome for the pernod - 19,450 19,490

Equity dividends - (19,346) (19,346)

Balance at 31 December 2017 2,283 22,454 24,737

A capital contribution took place in October 2016 by converting to capital amounts owed to the Company’s sole
shareholder CCL Industries UK Ltd.

Notes on pages 9 to 21 form part of financial statements

Registered number: 03650238 8



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors’ report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes

(forming part of the financial statements)

1 Accounting policies

1.1  Basis of preparation

Inprint Systems Limited (the “Company™) is a private company incorporated, domiciled and registered in England in
the UK. The registered number is 03650238 and the registered address is Foster Road, Ashford Business Park,
Sevington, Ashford, TN24 0SH.

The Company is exempt by virtue of s401 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group financial
statements. These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not
about its group.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102. The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 1027). The presentation currency of these
financial statements is sterling. All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest £1,000.

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking, CCL Industries Inc includes the Company in its consolidated financial
statements. The consclidated financial statements of CCL Industries Inc are prepared 1n accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from Suite 500, Gordon Baker
Road, Framingham, Canada. In these financial statements, the company is considered to be a qualifying entity (for
the purposes of this FRS) and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the following
disclosures:

s Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding from the beginning to end of the period;
¢ Cash Flow Statement and related notes; and
¢ Key Management Personnel compensation.

As the consolidated financial statements of CCL Industries Inc include the disclosures equivalent to those required by
FRS 102, the Company has also taken the exemptions available in respect of the following disclosures:

e  Certain disclosures required by FRS 102.26 Share Based Payments; and,

s  Certain disclosures required by FRS 102.11 Basic Financial Instruments and FRS 102,12 Other Financial
Instrument Issues in respect of financial instruments not falling within the fair value accounting rules of
Paragraph 36(4) of Schedule 1.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these financial statements.

Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note
1.13.

L2 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments and financial instruments classified at fair value through the
profit or loss.

Registered number: 03650238 9



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors™ report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

13 Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and its financial
position are described in the Strategic report on page 1.

The Company, as part of CCL Industries Inc., has considerable financial resources together with long-term contracts
with a number of customers and suppliers across different geographic areas and industries. As a consequence, the
directors believe that the Company is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the current
uncertain economic outlook. After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company
and the group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Directors’ report and financial statements.

1.4 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currency at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance
sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-menetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the profit and loss account.

L5 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company

In accordance with FRS 102.22, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extenat
that they meet the following two conditions:

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial habilities with another party under conditions that are potentially
unfavourable to the company; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the company’s own equity instruments
or is a derivative that will be settled by the company’s exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial
assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the
instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Lé Basic financial instruments
Trade and other debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at transaction price less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
imtial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
If the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for example if payment is deferred beyond normal business terms,
then it is measured at the present value of future payments discounted at a market rate of instrument for a similar debt
instrument.

Registered number 03650238 10



[nprint Systems Limited
Directors™ report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)

i Accounting policies fcontinued)
L6 Basic financial instraments (continued)

Trade and other creditors

Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at transaction price plus attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
nitial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. If the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction, for example if payment is deferred beyond normal business terms, then it is
measured at the present value of future payments discounted at a market rate of instrument for a similar debt instrument.

Interest-bearing borrowings classified as basic financial instruments

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective nterest methed, less any
impairment losses,

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.

L7 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items, for
example land is treated separately from buildings.

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether tangible fixed assets (including those leased under a finance
lease) are impaired,

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part
of an item of tangible fixed assets. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

s freehold building 40 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change
since the last annual reporting date in the pattern by which the company expects to consume an asset’s future economic
benefits.

Registered number: 03650238 1



[nprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
1.8 Impairment excluding stocks and deferred tax assets
Financial assets (including trade and other debtors)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. For financial instruments measured at cost less impairment an impairment is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the best estimate of the amount that the Company would receive for the asset if it
were to be sold at the reporting date. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding
of the discount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. When a subsequent event causes the amount of
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than stocks and deferred tax assets, are reviewed
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater
of its value mn use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested
individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The
goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing is allocated to cash-generating
units, or (“CGU™) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. For the purpose of goodwill
impairment testing, if goodwll cannot be allocated to individual CGUs or groups of CGUs, the company tests the
impairment of goodwill by determining the recoverable amount of the entity in its entirety, including the integrated
acquired operations.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed if and only if the reasons for the impairment have ceased to apply.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 1f no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Registered number: 03650238 12



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors™ report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
Lg Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are recognised at the best estimate of the amount required to settle the
obligation at the reporting date.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within
its group, the company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable
that the company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

LI0 Turnover

Turnover represents the amounts (excluding value added tax) receivable for intercompany rents, recognised on rental
payments.

LiI Expenses
Interest payable and interest receivable

Interest payable and similar charges include interest payable, finance charges on shares classified as liabilities and
finance leases recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method and unwinding of the discount on
provisions, and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the profit and loss account (see foreign currency
accounting policy).

Other interest receivable and similar income include interest receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange
gains.

Interest income and interest payable are recognised in profit or loss as they accrues, using the effective interest
method. Dividend income is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date the Company’s right to receive
payments is established. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

LI12 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case
it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments
in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements. Deferred tax is not recognised on
permanent differences arising because certain types of income or expense are non-taxable or are disallowable for tax or
because certain tax charges or allowances are greater or smaller than the corresponding income or expense.

Deferred tax is provided in respect of the additional tax that will be paid or avoided on differences between the amount
at which an asset (other than goodwill) or liability is recognised in a business combination and the corresponding amount
that can be deducted or assessed for tax. Goodwill is adjusted by the amount of such deferred tax.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is expected to apply to the reversal of the related difference, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that is it probable that they will be
recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Registered number: 03650238 13



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)
1 Accounting policies (continued)
L3 Accounting estimates and judgements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resuiting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(i) Usefui economic lives of tangible assets

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful economic lives and
residual values of the assets. The useful economuc lives and residual values are re-assessed annually. They are amended
when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on technological advancement, future investments, economic
utihisation and the physical condition of the assets. See note 5 for the carrying amount of the property plant and
equipment, and note 1.7 for the useful economic lives for each class of assets.

(i1) Impairment of debtors

The company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors. When assessing impairment of
trade and other debtors, management considers factors including the current credit rating of the debtor, the ageing
profile of debtors and historical experience. See note 7 for the net carrying amount of the debtors and asscciated
impairment provisior.

(i11) Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are initially measured at cost. An annual review of investments is performed to ensure there
is no indication of impairment and the carrying value is supported by the assets and trade of the subsidiary

Registered number: 03650238 14



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)

2 Expenses and auditor’s remuneration
Included in operating profit are the following.
2017 2016
£000 £000
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 276 262
Auditor’s remuneration:
2017 2016
£000 £000
Audit of these financial statements 3 3
Disclosures below based on amounts receivable in respect of other services to the
company and its subsidiaries
Amounts receivable by the company’s auditor and its associates in respect of:
Taxation compliance services 3 5
Other services 1 1

3 Directors and employees

None of the directors received emoluments in respect of their services to the Company during the year (2016 £nil).
The directors are remunerated by another group company.

The Company had no employees during the year apart from the directors (2016: none).

Registered number: 03650238 15



Inprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Notes (continued)

4 Taxation

Total tax expense recognised in the profit and loss account

2017 2016
£000 £000 £000 £000

Current tax
Current tax on income for the period - -
Adjustments in respect of prior periods - -
Total current tax - _
Deferred fax (see note 9)
Ongination and reversal of timing differences 13 (6
Change in tax rate - (15)
Total deferred tax 13 (21)
Total tax 13 20
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

017 2016

£000 £000
Profit for the year 19,490 8.204
Total tax expense 13 2n
Profit before tax 19,503 8,183
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.25 % (2016 20%) 3,754 1,637
Reduction 1n tax rate on deferred tax balances (£2] {15)
Fixed asset differences 47 46
Income not taxable (3,724) (1,600}
Uulisation of brought forward tax losses (54) (89)
Other differences 4} -
Total tax expense included n profit or loss 13 2n

Please note that from 1 April 2014, the main rate of corporation tax was reduced to 21% and from 1 April 2016 the
main rate will be reduced to 20%. Accordingly, prior year tax had been measured at the hybrid rate of 20.25%. In the
Budget on 8 July 2016, the Chancellor announced additional planned reductions to 19% from 01 April 2017 and 18%
from 01 April 2020. This will reduce any future current tax charge accordingly. Any deferred tax at 31 December
2017 has been calculated based on the rate of 17% being the rate substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A further reduction to the corporation tax rate by 1% to 17% by 1 April 2020 was announced in the Chancellor’s 2017

budget statement. This further change had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, 1s
not included in these financial statements as the proposed reduction cannot be reliably quantified at this stage.

Registered number: 03650238 16



Notes (continued)

5 Tangible fixed assets

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2017

Balance at 31 December 2017

Depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation charge for the year

Balance at 31 December 2017

Net book value
At 31 December 2017

At | January 2017

Land and Buildings

The net book value of land and buildings comprises:

Land
Freehold

Registered number 03650238

Inprint Systems Limited
Directors” report and financial statements
31 December 2017

Land and
buildings
£000

8,840

8,840

2,507
276

6,333

2017 2016
£000 £000

1,760 1,760
4,297 4,573

6,057 6,333
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Notes (continued)

6 Fixed asset investments
Shares in
group
undertakings
£000
Cost and nef book value
As at 1 January 2017 18,000
Additions -
Disposals -
As at 31 December 2017 18,000
The Company has the following investment in subsidiary:
Activity Registered Class of  Ownership  Ownership
Office address shares 2017 2016
Y Yo
CCL Label {Ashford) Limited Trading Foster Rd Ordinary 100% 100%
Ashford, Kent
TN24 0SH, UK
7 Debtors
2017 2016
£600 £000
Amounts owed by group undertakings 649 218
Deferred taxation (see note 9} 16 29
665 247

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

Registered number 03650238 18



Inprint Systems Lumited
Dhrectors” report and financial statements
37 December 2017

Notes (continued)

8 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2017 2016
£000 £000
Accruals and deferred income 7 9
7 9
9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Assets
2017 2016
£000 £000
Accelerated capital allowances 16 29
16 26

Tax assets

In addition to the deferred tax asset above, the Company has additional unrecognised deferred tax assets of £502,000
(2016 £555.000).

10 Deferred tax asset movement
2017
£000
Balance at | January 2017 29
Charged to profit and loss during the year (13
Balance at 31 December 2017 16
19

Registered number: 03650238



Notes (continued)

11 Capital and reserves

Share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid
9,000 A ordinary shares of £1 each
900 B ordinary shares of £1 each

50 C ordinary shares of £1 each

50 D ordinary shares of £1 each
2,272,727 deferred shares of £1 each

At 31 December

Rights of classes of shares

Ordinary shares

Inprint Systems Limited
Directors’ report and financial stafernents
31 December 2017

2017 2016
£000 £000
9 9

1 1
2,273 2,273
2,283 2,283

The ordinary shares rank pari-passu with each other for the purposes of dividend payments and voting rights.

On winding up or on exit, the ordinary sharcholders are entitled to the following proportion of assets of the company
or aggregate consideration payable to the ordinary shareholders of the company:

Up to £20m - A shareholders 90%
- B shareholders 10%

- A shareholders 79%
- B shareholders 16%
- C shareholders 3.5%
- D shareholders 1.5%

Over £44m - A shareholders 15%
- B sharcholders 25%
- C shareholders 33.6%
- D shareholders 26.4%

Between £20m and £44m

Deferred shares

Deferred shareholders are not entitled to participate in any dividend or other distribution paid or made by the
company, except when surplus assets are remaining after a total sum of £100,000,000 has been distributed in respect
of each of the ordinary shares of the company. The shareholders are then entitled to the repayment of the nominal
amounts paid up on the shares. Deferred shareholders do not have any voting rights.

Registered number: 03650238
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Notes (continued)

12 Dividends

2017
£000

Intenm dividend of £1.934 per ordinary share (2076- £800) 19,346

13 Ultimate parent company and parent company of larger group

2016
£000

8,000

The Company is a subsidiary undertaking of CCL Industries (UK) Limited. The ultimate controlling party is CCL

Industries Inc.

The largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by CCL Industries Inc, registered
office address at 111 Gordon Baker Read, Suite 801, Toronto, Ontario M2H 3R1, Canada. No other group financial
statements include the results of the Company. The consolidated financial statements of this group is available to the

public and may be obtained from the registered office.

Registered number: 03650238
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CAUTION ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION This annual report contains forward-looking infarmation and forward-looking statements. as defined under applicable securities laws,
(hereinafter collectively referred to as “forward-loaking statements™) that involve a number of nisks and uncertainties Forward-looking statements include all statements that are predictive in nature or
deperd on future events or conditions Farward-looking statements are typically identified by, but not imited to. the words “bel " "expects,” " “gstimates,” "intends,” "plans” or similar
expressions Stal Hs regarding the op pusiness, financial condition, priarities, ongoing objactives, strategies and outlook of the Company, other than statements of historical fact, are
forward-lacking statements Specifically, this MD&A contams forward-looking statements regsrding the anticipated growth in sales, Income and profitability of the Company’s segments, the Company's
improvement 1n market share tha Company’s capital spending levels and planned capital expenditures in 2018, the adequacy of the Company’s financial liquidity, the Company's targeted return on
equity, earnings per share, EBITDA growth rates and dividend payout, the Company's effective tax rate, the Company's ohgoing business strategy, and the Company's expectations regarding general
business and economic cenditions

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of Future performance They involve known and unknewn nisks and uncertainties relating to future events and conditions iIncluding, but not imited to,
the impact of competition, consumer confidence and spending preferences. general economic and geopolitical conditions, currency exchange rates, interest rates and credit availability, technological
change, chanhges Ih government regulations, risks associated with operating and product hazards, and the Company’s ability to attract and retan qualified employees. Do not unduly rely on forward-
lecking statements as the Company’s actual results could differ materially from thoss anticipated in these forward-looking statements Forward-looking statements are also pasad on a number of
assumptions, which may prove to be incorrect. including, but not Imited 10, assumptions about the following higher consumer soending, imaraved customer demand for the Company’s products,
continued historical growth trends, market growth in specific segments and entering into new segmants, the Company’s ability to provide a wide range of produsts to multunational customers cn a
global basis, the benefits of the Company’s focused strategies and operational approach, the Company’s ability to implement its acquisition strategy and successfully integrate acquired businesses, the
achievement of the Company's plans for improved efficiency and lower costs, including the abiity te pass on aluminum cost ta s cu s, the lability of cash and credit, fluctuations of
currency exchange rates, the Company’s continued relations with its customers, and general business and economic conditions Should one or more nsks materiahize or should any assumptions prove
incorrect, then actual results could vary matenally from those expressad or implied in the forward-looking statements Further detarls on key nisks can be found throughout this report and particularly
in Section 4 “Risks and Uncertainties.”

Except as ctherwise indicated, forward-looking statements do not take into account the effect that transactions of nen-recurring or other special items announced or occurnng after the statements
are made may have on the business Such statements do not, unless atherwise specified by the Company, reflect the iImpact of dispesitions, sales of assets, monetizations, mergers, acquisitions, other
kusiness combinaticns or transactions, asset write-downs or other charges announcad or occurnng after forward-looking statements ara made The financial mpact of these transactions and non-
recurring and other special items can be complex and depends on the facts particutar to each of them and therefore cannot be described In a meaningful way in advance of knowing specific facts The
forward-looking statements are pravided as of the date of this annual report and the Company doas not assume any abligation te update or rewise the forward-looking statemants to reflect new events
or crreumastances, except as required by law

Unless the context otherwise indicates, e reference to “the Company” means CCL Industries Inc . its subsidiary companies and equity accounted investments




2017 LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

CCL INDUSTRIES DELIVERED ANOTHER RECORD YEAR IN 2017 WITH
SALES OF $4.8 BILLION AND NET EARNINGS OF $474 MILLION, AIDED BY
A $40 MILLION REDUCTION IN DEFERRED LIABILITIES RESULTING FROM
THE UNITED STATES TAX CUTS & JOBS ACT THAT TAKES EFFECT IN 2018.

Donald G. Lang Geoffrey T. Martin
xecutive Charman President and
Gheef Executive Officer

6.2% organic sales growth for the CCL Segment continues to exceed global GDP; Checkpoint had a successful first full year
with increased profitability; Avery rebounded from a slow first half to post results in local currencies in ine with 2016, while our
Container business flawlessly completed the daunting consolidation of its North American operations. The Innovia acquisition,
announced late 2016 and closed at the end of February 2017, had a decidedly mixed start. Innovia Security (now CCL Secure,
part of the CCL Segment) performed well as expected, but Innovia Films had a challenging 2017 as polypropylene resin price
increases significantly impacted profitability. Reported sales increased 19.6% and adjusted basic earnings per share* (“adjusted
EPS“) improved 18% from $2.28 in 2016 to $2.69 in 2017. Foreign currency translation and transaction impacts were modestly
negative due to the lower US. dollar, offset partly by the stronger eurc. Restructuring charges and other expenses were
$27 million in 2017, offset by 2 $16 million favourable settlement of a large legal claim, compared to $35 million in 2016. Actions
were focused on improving the performance of Innovia and Checkpoint. Free cash flow from operations* was ancther highlight
reaching $438 million, and return on equity* improved slightly to 24%.

Global Economy

The world remained volatile in 2017, with tensions in North Korea, terror incidents, civil wars and the rise of populism in both
Europe and the United States. However, 179 of 192 economies in the International Monetary Fund’s (“IMF”) World Economic
Outlook posted growth; while IMF forecasts for 2018 would have the fewest countries in recession ever reported. If the recovery
in the United States lasts the decade through mid-2019, which looks a distinct possibility, it will have been the lengest period of
expansion since 1945, In this context, we regard the Company's overall 2.1% organic sales growth as a solid “par” given many
of our businesses exceeded this rate by a distance while some fell short.

CCL Segment

Sales reached $2.8 billion while operating as CCL Label for Home & Personal Care, Healthcare & Specialty and Food & Beverage
consumer packaging markets; CCL Design for high performance, durable products for Automotive & Electronics OEMs; and CCL
Secure for anti-counterfeit, graphic technologies for government institutions and companies interested in brand protection.
CCL outperformed again in 2017 with 6.2% organic sales growth on top of 71% in 2016 on modest progress in North America, solid

CCLo 2017 Anrual Repoit 1




2017 LETTER TO SHAREHOLBERS

in Latin America, strong in Europe and robust in Asia driven by exceptional results in China. Our joint ventures in the Middle East
and Russia had record years. Healthcare & Specialty results were flat but the rest of our legacy global business lines delivered
significant improvement on market share gains, while CCL Secure met expectations and augmented mix. Excluding the impact
of currency translation, worldwide sales increased 14.5%, and operating income* improved 19.0% compared tc 2016. EBITDA*
margins improved 100 basis points to 22.2%.

Home & Personal Care operations delivered high-single-digit organic growth globazlly on share gains in both labels and tubes.
Growth in China exceeded expectations as consumer sentiment recovered and many customers reported double-digit sales
growth. Other Emerging Markets were mixed, with Mexico and the Middle East strong, Brazil still soft but showing signs of
recovery and ASEAN countries only modestly up. Growth was ahead of the market in both the United States and Europe despite
difficult conditions for customers and profitability improved significantly on both mix and sales gains. Results included start-up
costs for a new plant in Colurmbus, Ohio, which moved into profitability in the fourth quarter.

Healthcare & Specialty sales increased low single-digit on acquisitions but profitability for the year was flat. Tough conditions
in a highly consolidated Agricultural Chemical industry and market challenges in Healthcare, especially for generic drugs, drove
heightened cost conscious decision making at many customers. North American results declined while Europe improved largely
on contributions from acquisitions and restructuring actions at our plants in Denmark. Emerging Markets' profits were held
in-check by a plant consolidation in Brazil and ongoing, albeit reduced, losses in Australia.

food & Beverage again delivered outstanding results in 2017 on double-digit organic sales growth with significant profit
improvement, All product lines and geographic regions progressed but Wine & Spirits excelled, especially in the Americas, only
results in Germany disappointed. Strong growth continued globally for both Sleeves and Pressure Sensitive Labels using our
proprietary coating technology for “wash off” labels on glass and PET bottles. The Closure Label business also had a solid year
despite pricing pressures. Investments in the sector overall were significant as we completed a new plant in Switzerland and
added capacity around the world In all business lines supporting customers accelerating strategies to premiumize brands,

CCL Design solidified its position as an equally important fourth leg of the CCL stool in 2017. North America posted solid
performance, despite signs of plateauing automotive demand in the NAFTA region. In Mexico, we completed construction of
two new plants, one in Guanajuato for Automotive and a second in Guadalajara for Electronics. In Europe, German automotive
OEMs continued to post strong but moderating growth in global markets, and our label and metal tread plate businesses both
delivered good results on the back of that. Electronics growth was exceptional in strong end-markets on new device launches
with sales up in the teens, driving significant profit growth despite foreign exchange challenges as all customers in this space
transact in a weaker U.S. dollar. Resuits in the mature alkaline battery market declined. Operating margins overall improved
meaningfully but remain below Segment average.

CCL1 Secure the combination of the former Innovia Security operations and the 2015 Banknote Corporation of America acquisition
had a good year improving overal! operating margins for the Segment. We were particularly proud to be involved in the production
of the commemorative $10 note, celebrating the 150th anniversary of Canada's founding as a nation, which we feature on the
inside back cover of our report. Polymer banknotes continue to attract interest from Central Banks around the world as a lower
total cost, more secure and environmentally friendlier alternative to traditional paper currency.

Avery

2017 profits before the impact of foreign exchange rate translation were flat. Hypercompetition between office supply superstores,
mass market retail chains and e-commerce marketers on top of secular declines in traditional office supply products resulted in
a mid-single-digit organic sales decline in North America. Europe posted modest organic growth with a greater proportion of
sales in the core Printable Media product lines and less distribution channel turmoil, especially in Germany. Underlying European
profitability improvement was augmented by contributions from two acquisitions that exceeded expectations. Results in Asia
Pacific and Latin America both declined. New products, smart direct-to-consumer acquisitions, pricing, improved mix, and cost-
reduction actions helped sustain results globally with $165 million in operating income* on sales of $753 million, an improved
margin of 21.8%. Avery continues to deliver the highest return on capital and free cash flow from operations* as a percentage of
sales in the Company.
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Checkpoint

Checkpoint completed its first full year under CCL Industries ownership with sales of $675 million and $87 million operating income?*,
meeting our initial financial return expectations on an acquisition purchase price of $532 million. 17.2% EBITDA* margins improved
significantly compared to pre-acquisition levels and cash flow was strong. Spending on the $40 million restructuring program
announced at acquisition in May 2016 reached $38 million at the end of 2017 and will conclude in the first half of 2018 at or below
the planned level. The hardware, software, hard tag and label product lines that callectively make up the Merchandise Availability
Systems business had a strong year on cost savings, improved execution, innovations and new customer wins. Apparel Labeling
Systems sales met expectations as we continue to invest in radio-frequency identification adoption in apparel, especially in Europe,
but modest overall profitability leaves considerable scope to improve results on cost savings and better operational execution.
Overall, we rermain excited about the possibilities for smart label and tagging solutions in the retail and apparel supply ¢hain.

Innovia

This new Segment combines acquired Innovia Films operations with two small legacy film extrusion plants previously reported in
the CCL Segment. Results for the 10 months of 2017 at the acquired business disappointed. Overall sales reached $308 million
with a 15.9% EBITDA* margin. Profitability was impacted by a 30% rise in raw materials cost that we could not pass along fast
enough to customers with a profit impact of approximately $30 million. The situation escalated as 2017 unfolded and continues
in the early part of 2018, although forecasts for the second half of the year recently improved. Historically this business henefited
during periods of declining resin prices and struggled in rising markets, suggesting the need to more closely align movement in
raw materials cost with pricing. This aside, the acquisition integration has gone smoothly and we remain excited by the possibilities
of our materials science pesition for our future development.

Container Segment

Late in 2016, an important Mome Care customer switched a large aerosol brand to a new PET-based system prompting the final
decision to exit our long-held Canadian operation, initially announced in 2013. The consolidation process, including expansions
to our L.S. and Mexican operations, was executed flawlessly. The business delivered record cash flow, aided by the conversion
of our Canadian assets into cash, despite the new investments. After a transitionary first quarter, results progressively gained
traction closing 2017 with sales of $196 million and an improved 13.3% return on sales* despite the negative impacts of rising
aluminum cost and a weaker U.S. dollar. We expect to return to growth in 2018. Our joint venture with Rheinfelden for aluminum
slug manufacturing in North Carolina continued to struggle. The plant had a small fire in early 2018; as a result, production will
be halted for a couple of quarters while repairs are undertaken and the investment programme completed Profitability isn't now
expected until 2019. We continue to believe our own slug making facility is strategically important for the future of CCL Container.

Delivering to Shareholders

At the Annual General Meeting in May 2017, shareholders approved a 5-for-1 share split of the Class B non-voting and Class A
voting shares of CCL Industries, and last summer the Company was named a member of the Toronto Stock Exchange
TSX 60 Index. Subsequent to these two events, our Class B shares reached an all-time high of $71.32, driving the Company’s
market capitalization over $10 billion for the first time. Despite another major acquisition, the Company’s leverage ratio* ended
2017 comfortably inside investment grade territory at 1.85 times. Priorities for 2018 include improving the performance of Innovia,
sustaining organic growth in the core business, adding bolt-on transactions that meet our disciplined valuation metrics while
paying down debt to build capacity for the future. Working capital results remain an area of laser-like focus, especially at recent
acquisitions. Net of disposals, we invested $273 million in plant and equipment to improve productivity, expand capabilities
and add to geographic reach, compared to $259 million in depreciation and amortization expense. Capital expenditures of
$325 million are planned for 2018, compared to an expected $283 million depreciation and amortization expense. While accretive
acquisitions have always been our priority, the annualized dividend more than doubled over the decade to 2013, and more
than doubled again by 2017, The Board approved a further 13% increase to an annualized $0.52 per Class B share, with the first-
quarter dividend payable in March 2018. With 97% of sales outside Canada, CCL continues to provide domestic shareholders with
considerable geographic rigk diversification.
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Global Leadership, Governance and Sustainability

With 167 manufacturing facilities in 39 countries around the world, CCL's leaders must be global ¢itizens. Deep industry experience
is another mandate for any key operating leadership role while cultural understanding and entrepreneurial sense are necessary
attributes to win in regionally diverse markets. Our team is energized by a younger generation but tempered by the experience
of industry veterans, some with more than 40 years' tenure. “Think global and act local” with authority and accountability
decentralized to the front line remains our creed. Acquisitions and joint ventures bring perspectives from new people with like
minds, sometimes 1n the frontier geographies of the world. The small corporate team focuses on support of our businesses
and strives to be technically excellent, agile and minimalist while recognizing their responsibilities to the broader stakeholder
community.

In 2017, we sadly said farewell to Paul Block, our langest serving independent Director, who retired this past December after
20 years on our Board. An avid globetrotter, Paul will be remembered for his many visits to our operations to mentor and get to
know our senior peopte. All of us will miss his human touch, enthusiasm and humour as well as his insightful views on our business
and the markets we serve. Our Board of Directors continues to provide strong corporate governance, acting in the interests of all
shareholders, while delivering broad-based counsel to management.

CCL Industries 1s deeply committed to help customers meet their sustainability targets while reducing the planetary impact of
our own manufacturing processes, materials and products. Facilities are built to the latest standards to conserve energy using
sustainable materials Many operations are accredited with 1SO 14001 and 16001 environmental certifications. Our plants replace
wooden pallets and corrugated boxes with multi-trip returnable systems in collaborative logistic partnerships with suppliers and
customers. CCL Label offers products based on Forest Stewardship Council certified papers while CCL Design uses low-energy
LED highting systems engineered into our tread plate products. In Food & Beverage markets, clear film pressure sensitive, wash off
labels facilitate multi-trip use of glass bottles and enable closed-loop use of PET bottles with easy label removal in reprocessing
systems. Release liner recycling and down-gauged films for pressure sensitive labels matched to bottle substrate improve the
sustainability of one of our core technologies. We believe we are the only supplier of extruded tubes in the United States made
with post-consumer polyethylene resins, and CCL Container has a zero waste manufacturing process for aluminum aerosols.
Checkpoint’s hard tag recycling programmes save cost and reduce waste for apparel retailers, while CCL Secure's polymer
banknotes reduce the frequency of replacing currency in circulation with a cleaner solution that can eventually be reprocessed
in secondary recycling applications. CCL Industries remains deeply committed to preserving the environment, filing letters of
support for key global customers to push governments to join the 2015 landmark Paris climate accord.

2018 Outlook

We enter 2018 with the global economy in its best condition for a decade. If the world has normalized after the Great Recession
then this suggests higher interest rates are to come along with the return of inflation. While this remains muted at the consumer
level, managing rising raw materials cost is likely our biggest risk in 2018. However, demand levels overall remain good and the
start to the year has been quite strong. Currency volatility is on our watchlist but greater geographic diversity, particularly the
balance between cur U.S. and European earnings, should help to offset some of the concerns around the lower U.S. dollar.

we close, as always, recegnizing our other stakeholders, customers and suppliers that partner with us in our endeavours and
20,000 employees around the world who never cease to amaze us with their dedication, ingenuity, entrepreneurial spirit and
focus on results. The past year also demonstrated our ability to show compassion as Puerto Rico was devastated by Hurricane
Maria and CCL Label's plant on the island serving the pharmaceutical industry was affected. Key leaders immedately chartered
two cargo planes from the United States full of supplies and small generators for employees and their families. The plant survived
the hurricane, and with its large generator, became a community centre for several weeks before production restarted. Appeals
were launched at our businesses around the world collecting money for those affected and all employees received full pay
throughout the lengthy disruption pericd. Events like this speak to who we are as people and as a Company.

Donald G. Lang Geoffrey T. Martin
Executive Chairman President and Chief Executve Officer

* Non-IFRS measures, see Section SA of CCL's Management’s Discussion and Analysls for more detall,
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

{In milliens of Canadian dollars, except per share and ratic data)

2017 2016 %
Sales 4,735.7 3 3,974.7 15.6%
EBITDA 959.2 $ 7927 21.0%
% of sales 20.2% 19.9%
Restructuring and other items - net loss 113 $ 346
Net earnings 474.1 S 346.3 36.9%
% of sales 10.0% 87%
Basic earnings per Class B share
Net earnings $ 2.70 § 1.98 36.4%
Diluted earnings $ 2.66 8 1.95 36.4%
Adjusted basic earnings per Class B share $ 2.69 $ 2.28 18.0%
Dividends $ 0.46 $ 0.40 15.0%
As at December 31
Total assets $ 6,144.0 $ 4,678.8 31.3%
Net debt” $ 1,773.9 3 1,6i6.2 74.6%
Total equity $ 2,157.9 5 1,773.2 21.6%
Net debt to EBITDAS 1.85 £.28
Return on equuty (before other expenses)* 24.0% 23.5%
Number of employees 20,000 19,000 5.3%

*  Anon-IFRS measure see "Key Performance Indicatars and Non-IFRS Measures™ in Secton 5A
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {Tabular amounts in millians of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the financial condition and results of operations ("MD&A") of CCL industnes
inc. ("the Company”} relates to the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. In preparing this MD&A, the Company has
taken Into account information avallable until February 22, 2018, unless otherwise noted. This MD&A should be read in
conjunction with the Company's December 31, 2017, year-end consolidated financial statements, which form part of the CCL
Industries Inc 2017 Annual Report dated February 22, 2018. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
international Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRS"} and, unless otherwise noted, both the financial statements and this MD&A
are expressed 1n Canadian dollars as the reporting currency. The major measurement currencies of the Company’s operations
are the Canadian dollar, U.S. dollar, euro, Argentine peso, Austrahian dollar, Bangladeshi taka, Brazian real, Chilean peso,
Chinese renminbi, Danish krone, Hungarian forint, Indian rupee, Japanese yen, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, Philippine
peso, Polish zloty, Russian ruble, Singaporean dollar, South African rand, South Korean won, Swiss franc, Thar baht, Turkish
hira, UK. pound sterling and Vietnamese dong. All per Class B non-voting share ("Class B share”) amounts in this document
are expressed on an undiluted basis, unless otherwise indicated The Company’s Audit Committee and its Board of Directors
(the “Board”) have reviewed this MD&A to ensure consistency with the approved strategy and results of the business.

Subsequent to the acquisition of the Innovia

Group of Companies (“Innovia”) on February 28,
INDEX 2017, the Company modified 1ts Segment
reporting disclosure. The Label Segment, or

CCL Label, was renamed the CCL Segment or
CCL, and now includes the results of the former
innovia Secunty (now CCL Secure} operations.
The new Innovia Segment includes the results
of the former innowia Films operations as well as
legacy film businesses previously included In the
CCL Segment

7 1. Corporate QOverview

7 A) The Company

8 B) Customers and Markets

8 C) Strategy and Financial Targets

11 D) Recent Acguisitions and Dispositions

12 E) Consolidated Annual Financial Results

14 F) Seasonality and Fourth Quarter Financial Results On June 5, 2017 the Company effected a 5:1 stock
spht on i1ts Class A and Class B comman shares.
Unless otherwise noted, impacted amounts and
share informaticn included in the MD&A have
been retroactively adjusted for the stock spht as
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it such stock split occurred an the first day of the
first period presented. Certain amounts In the
notes to the financial statements may be slightly
different than previously reported due to rounding
of fractionai shares as a result of the stock split,

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This MD&A contains forward-looking information
and forward-tooking statements, as defined
under applicable secunties laws, (hereinafter
coliectively referred to as “forward-looking
statements”) that involve a number of risks and
uncertainties, Forward-looking statements include
all statements that are predictive In nature or
depend on future events or conditions Forward-
looking statements are typically identified by, but
not fimited to, the words "helieves,” “expects”
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” “plans”
or similar expressions. Statements regarding
the cperations, business, financial condition,
priorities, ongoing objectives, strategies and
cutlook of the Company, other than statements
of historical fact, are forward-locking statements
Specifically, this MD&A contams forward-looking
statements regarding the antcipated growth in
sales, income and profitability of the Company’s
segments; the Company’simprovement in market
share; the Company’s capital spending levels
and planned capital expenditures in 2018; the



adequacy of the Company’s financial hiquidity; the Company’s targeted return on equity, earnings per share, EBITDA growth
rates and dividend payout; the Company's effective tax rate; the Company's ongoing business strategy.; and the Company’s
expectations regarding general business and economic conditions.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. They nvolve known and unknown risks and uncertainties
relating to future events and conditions including, but not imited 1o, the impact of competition; consumer confidence and
spending preferences, general economic and geopolitical conditions, currency exchange rates; interest rates and credit
avadability; technological change; changes in government regulations; risks associated with operating and product hazards,
and the Company's ability to attract and retain qualified empioyees. Do not unduly rely on forward-looking statements as
the Company’s actual results could differ matenally from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements Forward-
looking statements are also based on a number of assumptions, which may prove te be incorrect, including, but not limited
to, assumptions about the following: higher consumer spending: improved customer demand for the Company’s products;
continued historical growth trends, market growth in specific segments and entering into new segments; the Company’s
ability to provide a wide range of products to multinational customers on a globat basis, the benefits of the Company’s focused
strategies and operational approach; the Company's ability to implement its acquisition strategy and successfully integrate
acquired businesses; the achievement of the Company’s plans for enproved efficiency and tower costs, including the abibty
to pass on aluminum cost Increases to Its customers; the availlability of cash and credit; fluctuations of currency exchange
rates; the Company’s continued relations with its customers; and general business and economic conditions. Should one
or more risks materialize or should any assumptions prove mcorrect, then actual results could vary matenally from those
expressed or impled in the forward-looking statements. Further details on key nsks can be found throughout this report and
particularly in Section 4: "Risks and Uncertainties”

Except as otherwise indicated, forward-leoking statements de not take into account the effect that transactions or non-recurring
or other special items anncunced of occurning after the statements are made may have on the business. Such statements do
not, unless otherwise specified by the Company, reflect the impact of dispositions, sales of assets, monetizations, mergers,
acquisitions, other business combinations or transactions, asset write-downs or other charges announced or occurring after
forward-looking statements are made. The financial impact of these transactions and non-recurring and other special items
can be complex and depends on the facts particular to each of them and therefore cannot be described in a meaningful way
in advance of knowing specific facts.

The forward-locking statements are provided as of the date of this MD&A and the Company does not assume any obligation
to update or revise the forward-tooking statements to reflect new events or circumstances, except as required by law,

tinless the context otherwise mdicates, a reference to “the Company” means CCL Industries inc., 1ts subsidiary companies
and equity accounted investments.

Additional information relating to the Company, inciuding the Company’s Annual Information Form, is available on SEDAR at
www.sadar.com or on the Company’s website www.cclind.com.

1. CORPORATE OVERVIEW

A) The Company

CCL Industries Inc. s the world's largest converter of pressure sensitive and extruded film materials for a wide range of
decorative, instructicnal, security and functicnal applications for government insttutions and large global customers 1n
the consumer packaging. healthcare, chemicals, consumer durables, electronic device and automotive markets. Extruded
and laminated plastic tubes, folded instructional leaflets, precision decorated and die cut compenents, electronic displays,
polymer banknote substrate and other complementary products and services are sold m paraliel to specific end-use markets.
Avery is the world's largest supplier of labels, specialty converted media and software solutions to enable short-run digita!
printing in businesses and homes alongside complementary products sold through distributors and mass-market retailers
Checkpoint 1s a leading manufacturer of technolagy-driven loss-prevention, inventory-management and labeling selutions,
including radio-frequency {“RF"} and radio-frequency identification ("RFiD”) basad, to the retall and apparel industry. Innovia
manufactures fidms sold to customers in the pressure sensitive label materials, consumer packaged goods and security
products industries globally. Container is a leading producer of impact-extruded aluminum aerosol cans and bottles for
consumer packaged goods customers in the United States and Mexico. The Company has partly backward integrated
Inte materials science with capabilities in polymer extrusion, adhesive development and coating, surface engineering and
metallurgy that are deployed across all five business Segments.

Founded 1n 1951, the Company has been publicly listed under its current name since 1980. The Company’s corporate offices
are located in Toronto, Canada, and Framingham, Massachusetts, Umited States. The corporate offices provide executive
and centralized services such as finance, accounting, internal audit, treasury, risk management, legal, tax, human resources,
information technology, environmental, health and safety and oversight of operations. The Company employs approximately
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian doltars, except per share data}

20,000 peoplen 167 production facilities located in North America. Latin Amenica, Europe, Australia and Asia including equity
investments in Russia operating five facilities, the Middle East operating five faciities, and two in the United States operating
an in-mould label faciiity and an glurminum slug facility supporting the Container Segment. The Company also has a label and
tube license holder operating two plants in Indonesia.

B) Customers and Markets

Tha state of the global economy and geopolitical events can affect consumer demand and customers’ markeling and sales
strategies to promote growth, including the mntroduction of new products. These factors directly influence the demand
for the Company’s products Growth expectations generally mirror the trends of each of the markets and product lines
in which the Company's customers compete and the growth of the economy In each geographic region The Company
attempts to gain market share in each market and category over time.

The label market is large and highly fragmented with many players but with no single competitor having the substantial
operating breadth or giobal reach of CCL. Avery has a dominant market-leading position for its products in North America,
Europe and Australia. it also has a small developing presence in Latin America. Checkpoint has significant market positions
in Europe, North America and Asia. Checkpoint sells directly to retailers and apparel manufacturers and competes with
other global retail labeling companies Innovia operates plants in Europe and Austraha with distribution in the United States,
Asia and Latin America selling films to pressure sensttive label materials producers and converters, consumer packaged
goods companies and the security products industry.

Container operates only 1n the NAFTA region; there are two direct campetitors in the business 1n the United States and
one n Mexico.

C) Strategy and Financial Targets

The Company’s strategy is to increase shareholder value through investment in organic growth and product innovations
around the world, augmented by a global acquisition strategy The Company builds on the strength of 1ts people in
marketing, manufacturing and product development and nurtures strong relationships with its internationat, national and
regional customers and suppliers. The Company anticipates increasing its market share in most product categornes by
capitalizing on market insights and the growth of its customers, and by following developments such as globalization, new
product innovation, branding and consumer trends.

A key atiribute of this strategy 1s maimntaining focus and discipline The Company aspires to be the market leader and the
highest value-added producer in each customer sector and region 1n which it chooses to compete. The primary objective
is to Invest in the growth of CCL globaliy both organicatly and by acquisition. Avery has simular objectives aligned to
applications in labels and specialty converted media that enable short-run digital printing in businesses and homes.

Checkpoint Systems, inc (“Checkpomnt”), acquired in May of 2018, added a significant new Segment to the Company.
Checkpoint is an adjacency to the Company's core CCL Segment with principal applications 1n technology-driven loss-
prevention, inventory-management and labeling solutions to the retail and apparel labeiing industries. With the post-
acguisition restructuring program largely complete, yielding approximately $40 million in annualized synergies, focus
now turns to the qualitative development of its smart labeling and tagging solutions portfolio and geographic reach of
the Segment.

On February 28, 2017 the Company completed the acquisition of the Innovia Group of Companies (“innovia”) for
approximately $1.15 billion Inhovia, another adjacency to the CCL Segment, is a leading global producer of specialty,
high-paerfermance, mulu-layer, surface-engineered biaxially criented polypropylene ("BOPP”) fims for label, packaging
and security applications. Innovia adds significant depth and capability to develop proprietary films for label applications.
The Innowvia Films production facilities along with two small legacy film manufacturing facilities transferred from the CCL
Segment now form the new Innovia Segment. innovia also supplies base film for CCL Secure’s high-secunty, specialized
polymer banknote operations in the U.K., Australia and Mexico. CCL Secure has become the fifth global operating business
within the CCL Segment.

Centarner completed the consolidation of its operations from four plants to three in 2017 and expects to improve its
financial performance going forward. The Rhemnfeiden joint venture had a small fire at its operations m early 2018 and will
recommence production in the second half of the year. Profitabibity is now not expected until 2019 Slug supply remains
a strategic imperative for Container.
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The Company’s financial strategy s to be fiscally prudent and conservative 2017's financial results delivered strong cash
flow and an improved balance sheet. During good and difficult econemic imes, the Company has mainta:ned high levels of
cash on hand and unused lines of credit to reduce 1ts financial risk and to provide flexibility when acquisition opportunities
are avallable. As at Decernber 31, 2017, the Company had $557.5 mithion of cash with US$3977 mullion of undrawn capacity
on the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility.

The Company maintains & continuous focus on MiniMizing Its investment in working capital in order to maximize cash
flow in support of the growth in the business. tn addition, capital expenditures are approved when they are expected to
be accretive to earmings and are selectively allocated towards the most attractive growth opportunities The Company’'s
financial discipline and prudent allocation of capital have ensured sufficient avadable hquidity and a secure financial
foundation for the foreseeable future.

A key financial target is return on equity before goodwill impairment loss, restructuring and other items, tax adjustments,
gains on business dispositiens and non-cash acquisition accounting adjustments ("RCE.” a non-IFRS measure; see “Key
Performance indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section 54). The Company continues to execute its strategy with a
goal of achieving a comparable ROE level to its leading peers in speciaity packaging Despite a substantial increase in the
Company’s equity base from retained earnings over the last five years, ROE increased dramatically compared to 2012 due
to significant accretive earnings from acquisitions, as well as improved results in its legacy operations 2017 ROE of 24 0%
was a record:

2017 201e 2015 2014 2013 2012
Return on Equity 24.0% 23 5% 21.1% 264" 13.8% Fl.4%

Another metric used by the investment community as a comparative measure 1s return on total capital before goodwill
impairment loss. restructuring and other items, tax adjustments, gains on business dispasitions and non-cash acquisition
accounting adjustments ("ROTC,” a non-iFRS measure; see "Key Performance Indicators and Non-iFRS Measures” i
Section SA) The chart below details performance since 2012, The Company targsts delivering returns in excess of its cost
of capital and delivered an improved metric compared to 2012. ROTC of 14.0% for 2017 declined compared to 2016 due to
the significant increase 1n net debt attributable to the Innovia acquisition:

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Return on Total Capital 14.0% 15.9% 15.4% 14 1% 11.9% 9.3%

ROTC is expected to improve as the Company deleverages its balance sheet and increases net earnings.

The long-term growth rate of adjusted basic earnings per Class B share is another important and related financial target. This
measure excludes goodwill impairment loss, restructuring and other items, tax adjustments, gains on busmess dispositions
and non-cash acquisition accounting adjustments {a non-IFRS measure; see "Key Performance Indicators and Non-1FRS
Measures” in Seation 5A). Management believes that taking into account both the relatively stable overall demand for
consumer staple and healthcare products globally and the continuing benefits from the Company’s focused strategies and
operational approach, a positive growth rate in adjusted basic earnings per share s realistic under reasonable economic
clrcumstances.

The Company has achieved significant positive growth inits adjusted basic and basic earnings per share since 2012:

2017 2016 2015 2054 2013 2012
Adjusted Basic EPS
Growth Rate 18% 33% 32% Ty 520 13%
Basic EPS Growth Rate 36% 16% 35% 1089 493 15%

In 2017, adjusted basic earnings increased by 18 0% to a record $2.69 per Class B share improved earmings from acquired
businesses over the past four years, in particular Checkpomnt, bolt on acquisttions at CCL and results from the Innovia
transaction, contributed meaningfully to the significant increase in adjusted basic earnings per share. Excluding the impact
of currency translation, adjusted basic earnings per share increased 20.1%. The Company believes continumng growth in
earnings per share 1s achievable in the future as the European economy stabihizes, as operating efficiencies are sohdified for
the Checkpaont and Container Segments post-restructuring, as price increases are implemented 1o recover cost inflation and
as the Company executes its global business strategies for the CCL, Avery, Checkpoint and Innovia Segments.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in mithions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

The Company will continue to focus on generating cash and effectively utibzing the cash flow generated by operations and
divestitures. Earnings before net finance cost, taxes, depreciation and amortization, excluding goodw:ll impairmant loss,
earnings In equity accounted investments, non-cash acquisition accounting adjustments, restructuring and other items
("EBITOA." a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section BA), is considered a
good inchicator of cash flow and is used by many financial institutions and investment advisors to measure aperating results
and for business valuations. As a key indicator of cash flow, EBITDA demonstrates the Company's ability to incur or service
existing debt, to invest in capital additions and te take advantage of organic growth oppaortunities and acquisitions that are
accretive to earnings per share. Historically, the Company has expenenced positive growth in EBITDA,

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2082
EBITDA $ 959.2 3 7927 S 608 4 $ 4810 $ 335.6 3 2546
oy af sales 20% 210 20% 19% 1%% 9%

in 2017, EBITDA increased by approximately 22 6%, excluding the negative impact of foreign currency translation, maintaining
a solid 20% of sales. The Company’s EBITDA margins remain at the top end of the range of its peers The Company expects
positive growth in EBITDA in the future as globa! growth initiatives are implemented.

The framework supporting the above performance indicators s an appropriate level of financial leverage. Based on the
dynamics within the speciaity packaging industry and the risks that higher leverage may bring, the Company has a comfort
level up to a target of approximately 3.5 times net debt te EBITDA (a non-IFRS measure; see "Key Performance indicators and
Nan-IFRS Measures” in Section 5A) with an appropniate deleveraging and liguidity profile to maintain its investment-grade
ratings with Moody's and Standard & Poor’s. As at December 31, 2017, net debt to EBITDA was 1.85 times, higher than the
1.28 times at December 31, 2016, but reflecting significant deleveraging since the $115 bilfion Innovia acquisition on
February 28, 2017. This leverage level 1s consistent with management's conservative approach to financial nsk and the
Company's ability to generate strong levels of free cash flow from operations {a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance
Indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section 5A) This leverage leve! also allows the Company the flexibility to quickly
execute its acquisition growth strategy without significantly exposing tts credit quality.

The Board does not have a target dividend payout ratic (a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS
Measures” in Section 5A). However, the Company has paid dividends quarterly for over thirty years without an omission or
reduction and has more than doubled the annualized rate since March 2014 The Board views this consistency and dividend
growth as important factors in enhanecing shareholder value. For 2017, the dividend payout ratio was 17% of adjusted earnings
This dividend payout ratio reflects the strong net earnings generated by newly acquired businesses in 2017 and 2018, including
benefits from the Tax Cuts & Jobs Act ("TCIA") as well as improved results for the legacy operations of the Company. After
carefui review of the current year results, budgeted cash flow and income for 2018, the Board has declared a 13.0% increase
in the annual dividend: an Increase of $0.015 per Class B share per quarter, from $0.115 to $0.13 per Class B share per quarter
($0 52 per Class B share annuahzed).

The Company believes that all of the above targets are mutually compatible and consequently shouid drive meaningful
shareholder value over time.

The Company’s strategy and its ability to grow and achieve attractive returns for its shareholders are shaped by key internal
and external factors that are common 1o the businesses it operates. The key performance driver 1s the Company’s continuous
focus on customer satisfaction, supported by its reputation for guality manufacturing, competitive price, product innovation,
dependability, ethical business practices and financial stability.
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D) Recent Acquisitions and Dispositions

The Company is giobally deployed with significant diversification across the world economy including emerging markets, a
broad customer base, distinct product lines and many different currencies.

The Company continues to deploy its cash flow from operations into its core Segments with both internal capital investments
and strategic acquisitions. The following acquisitions were compileted over the last two years:

-

-

In February 2017, Innovia, headguartered in Wigton, U K., for approximately $1.15 bilhon, debt free and net of cash acquired
from a consortium of U.K.-based private equity investors. innovia is a leading global producer of specialty high-performance,
multi-layer, surface engineered BOPP films for label, packagmg and security applications. The business has film extrusion,
coating and metailizing facilities across the U.K., Belgium and Australia, which now form the basis of the Company’s new
Innovia Segment. in the UK., Australa and Mexico, the business has high-security, speciatized polymer banknote operations
that have been added to CCL Secure within the CCL Segment.

In April 2017, Goed Gemerkt BV. and Goad Gewerkt BV. ("GGW"), privately owned cormpanies with cammon shareholders,
based near Utrecht in the Netherlands for approximately $23 0 mullion. GGW 1s a manufacturer of durable, personalized
“kids’ labels” for the Benelux and German markets, expanding Avery’'s printable media platform.

In Apnil 2017, badgepoint GmbH, badgetech GmbM and Name Tag Systems Inc ("Badgepont”), privately owned companies
with commeon sharehoiders, based near Hamburg, Germany, for approximately $3.6 milion Badgepomnt expanded Avery's
printable media offering with patented, premuum name tag systems and accessories for the German market,

In October 2017, acquired the final 37 5% stake in the Acrus-CCL wine label joint venture in Chile from 1its partner for
%$6.3 mithon. As a resuit of the change in control, 2017 financial results are no lenger included n equity iInvestments but
fully consolidated with CCUs Food & Baverage business, withaut a portion of the earnings attributable to a non-controlling
interest since Gctober 2017

in January 2016, Woelco AG ("Woelco”), a privately owned company in Stuttgart, Germany, with subsicharies m China and
the United States, for approximately $21.7 million. Woelco has integrated intc CCL Design and has expanded its depth in
the industnal and automotive durable goods markets.

In January 2016, Label Art Ltd. and Label Art Digitaf Ltd (collectively "LAL"), privately owned companies with common
shareholders, based in Dublin, Ireland, for appreximately $13.6 million. LAL expands CCl's Healthcare & Specialty business
in reland and the U.K.

In January 2016, the Company invested $6.0 miflion in cash to increase 1ts stake from 50% to 75% in 1ts tube manufacturing
joint venture in Bangkok, Thailand, with Taisel Kako Co Ltd of Japan. Finally, in August 2016, the Company acquired the
final 25% stake in the venture from its partner for $1.8 million. From the date of the change in control, financial resuits are no
longer included in equity investments but fully censolidated with CCL's Home & Personal Care business, witheut a partion
of the earnings attributable to a non-controlling interest.

In February 2016, Zephyr Company Limited of Singapore, and its Malays:an subsidiaries in Penang and Jchor (collectively
“Zephyr”), privately owned companies with multiple shareholders, for approximately $40.9 million. Zephyr expands CCL
Design's presence within the electromcs mdustry to the ASEAN region.

In March 2016, Powerpress Rotulo & Etiquetas Adesivas LTDA {“Powerpress”), a privately owned company based in Sao
Paolc, Brazd, for approximately $11.4 mullion. Powerpress enhances CCL's product offering in the Healthcare & Specalty
pusiness i South America.

In May 2018, the Company acquired all the cutstanding shares of Checkpomnt (NYSE:CKP) at an enterprise value of
$531.9 million. Checkpoint 1s a leading global manufacturer and provider of hardware and software systems plus security
fabels and tags, providing inventory control and toss-prevention solutions to world leading retailers.

In July 2016, Eukerdruck GmbH & Co. KG and Pharma Druck Cdm GmbH {coflectively "Eukar”}, privately held companies
with common shareholders, and the associated facilities in Marburg and Gresden, Garmany. Euker 1s a leading supplier of
folded leaflets, specialty booklets and pressure sensitive labels to pharmaceutical companies in German-speaking Europe.
The purchase price consideration, including debt assumed, was approximately $30.0 million.

in August 2016, Labelone Lid. ("Label1”}, a privataly owned company based in Belfast, Northern treland, for approxamately
$17.5 milkion including assumed debt. Labell expands CCLs product offering in the Healthcare & Specialty business to
Northern frefand

The acausitions completed over the past few years, 1n conjunction with the building of new plants around the world, have
positioned the CCL Segment as the global leader for labels in the personal care, healthcare, food and beverage, durables,
secunty and specialty categories. Furthermore, with the addiion of Avery, the Company 1s now the world's largest supplier
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

of labels, specialty converted media, and software solutions to enable short-run digital printing in businesses and homes
alongside complementary office products Checkpoint has added technology-driven loss-prevention, inventory-management
and labeling solutions, including RF and RFID-based, to the retall and apparel industry innowvia provides vertical integration
driving the Caompany deeper into polymer sciences, enhancing the development of propriety products for its customers.

E) Consolidated Annual Financial Results
Selected Financial Information

Results of Consolidated Operations

2017 2016
Sales $ 47557 $ 39747
Cost of sales 3,319.4 2.806.8
Gross profit 1,436.3 1.167.9
Sellmyg, general and adminjstrative expenses 751.5 612.8

684.8 555.1
Earnings in equity accounted investments 3.7 45
Netfinance cost {75.2) (37.9)
Restructuring and other items — net loss (11.3) (31 86)
Earnings before mcome laxes 602.0 4871
[ncome taxes 127.9 140 8
Net earnings 3 474.1 $ 3463
Basic earmnys per Class B share $ 2.70 $ 193
Diluted earnings per Class B share $ 2.66 $ 195
Adjusted basic earnings per Class B share $ 2.69 $ 2.28
Dividends per Class B share $ 0.46 $ 0.40
Total assets $ 6,144.0 % 4,678 8
Total non-current habilities $ 2,686.4 kS 1,996.6

Comments on Consolidated Results

Sales were a record $4,7557 million in 2017, an increase of 19.6% compared to $3,874 7 million recorded mn 2016, This
improvement 1n sales can be attnibuted to acquisition growth of 19.1%, augmented by orgamic growth of 2 1%, partially offset
by a negative 1 6% impact from foreign currency translation.

Consistent with 2016, approximately 97% of the Company’s 2017 sales to end-use customers are denominated in foreign
currencies. Consequently, changes in foreign exchange rates can have a matenal impact on sales and profitability when
translated into Canadian doliars for public reporting. The depreciation of the U.S. dollar, euro, U.K. pound, Mexican peso and
Chingse renminti by 2.0%, 0.1%, 6 9%, 3 2% and 3 7%, respectively, was shghtly offset by a 6.6% appreciation of the Brazihan
real, relative to the Canadian dollar in 2017 compared to average exchange rates in 2016,

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A™) were $751.5 million for 2017, compared to $612.8 million reported 1n
2016. The increase in SG&A expenses in 2017 relates primaridy to the sigmificant acquisitions made over the last two years.
Corporate expenses for 2017 were $52.7 million, compared to $48.2 millton for 2316, The increase in corporate expenses
relative to thase in 2016 relates predominantly to an increase in equity linked compensation costs.

Operating income (a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS Measuras” in Section 5A) for 2017
was $737.5 millian, an increase of 22.2% compared to $603 3 midlion for 2016, Excluding the $15.2 mullion and $33 9 millicn
non-cash accounting adjustments to fair value the acquired finished goods inventories in 2017 and 2018, respectively,
operating iIncome improved 18.1%. Foreign currency transtation negatively impacted consolidated opsrating income by 1.6%
for 2017 compared to 2016. The CCL and Checkpoint Segments each improved operating income while Avery and Container
Segments posted declines, compared to 2016, The newly acquired Innovia Segment generated operating income of
$21.6 mithon, excluding its $70 million share of the non-cash acquisiion accounting adjustment to fair value the acquired
finished goods inventory. Further details on the business segments follow later in this report
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EBITDA (a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section 5A} in 2017 was
$959.2 million, an improvement of 21.0% compared to $792 7 million recorded in 2016. Excluding the impact of currency
transiation, EBITDA increased by 22.6% over the prior year,

Net finance cost was $75.2 million for 2017, compared to $37.9 million for 2016, with the increase in interest costs due to an
increase in drawn debt needed to fund the innovia acquisition.

For the full year 2017, restructuring costs and other items represented an expense of $11.3 mitlion ($11.6 million after tax) as
follows.

+ Forthe CCL Segment, $6.5 milhon ($4.7 million after tax), the majority of which was for severance related expenditures for
the security busmess Included in the Innovia acquisition

- For the Checkpoint Segment, $14.8 millien ($11.8 mihion after tax), which was for severance and other reorganization costs
partially offset by the reversal of a $15.6 mullion {$9.6 milkkon after tax) pre-acquisition tegal reserve that was settled in favour
of the Company.

+ For the Innovia Segment, $5 6 rillion ($4.7 mitlion after tax), with $3.0 million for severance related costs and the balance
for transaction costs.

For the settlement of a Checkpoint pre-acquisition lawsuit accrual in the amount of $15.6 million ($9.6 milhon after tax)
settied in favour of the Company.

The negative earnings impact of these restructuring and other items 1n 2017 was $0.07 per Class B share

For the full year 2016, restructuring costs and other items represented an expanse of $34.6 milhon ($27 8 milkon after tax)
as follows

+ For the CCL Segment, $7.2 million {36 2 million after tax). the majority of which was $4.2 million for the reorganization of
the 2015 acquisition of Worldmark Ltd (“Woridmark”) but also included $3.0 mithon of acquisition-related costs for the
seven CCL Segment transactions closed in 2016.

.+ For the Checkpoint Segment, $28 & million ($21 8 million after tax), of which $207 millien was for severance and other
recrganization costs and the balance, $7.8 million, for acquisition-related expenditures.

« For the Avery Segment, $2.C mitlion {$1 2 million after tax) reversal of the reorganization reserve as the Mendian, Missisaippi,
facility, that was scheduled to be shut down was repurposed as a distribution centre

- For the Innovia Segment, initial acquisition: costs amounting to $0.9 million (30 9 million after tax)
The negative earnings impact of these restructuring and other items in 2016 was $0.15 per Class B share.

In 2017, the consolidated effective tax rate was 21.4%, compared to 29.2% in 2016, excluding earnings in equity accounted
investments. The combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory tax rate was 25.3% for 2017 (2016 - 25.3%). The effective
tax rate for 2017 was impacted by recording the amendments signed into law in the TCJA. The TCJA was a comprehensive and
complex tax reform making numerous changes 1o U.S. tax law but the two most significant items were, {1} a transition tax on
certain unrepatriated earnings of foreign subsidianies, and (2) a reduction in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from
35% to 21% commencing January 1, 2018

The net iImpact of the transition tax on certain unrepatrated earnings of foreign subsidianies was nil to the Company. However,
when factoring the corporate rate reduct:on into the remeasurement of deferred income taxes, the Company’s deferred tax
lrability was reduced by $40.0 million resulting In a corresponding reduction in tax expense. Of this reduction, $15.0 miflion
orimaniy refated to book and tax timing differences and other discrete items. However $25 0 million related to indefinite life
intangiblas from recent acquisitions that were recognized for accounting purpases but had no corresponding tax basis and
were therefore excluded from adjusted basic earnings per share.

Excluding the impact of TCJA the effective tax rate for 2017 would have been 28.1% compared to 29 2% for 2016, This pro-forma
effective tax rate refiects the impact of the Innovia acquisition increasing the portion of the Company’s taxable income being
earned in lower-taxed junsdictions, and other discrete tax reductions

The Company’s effective tax rate for the upcoming year is expected to decline by approximately 3%, due to the aferementioned
TCIA. However, over 97% of the Company's sales are from products sold to customers outside of Canada, and the income
from thase foreign operations 1s subject to varying rates of taxation The Company’s effective tax rate is also affected from
year to year as a result of the level of income in the various countries, recognition or reversal of tax losses. tax reassessments
and income and expense items not subject to tax.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in rmilliens of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

Net earnings for 2017 were $474 1 rrullion, an increase of 36.9% compared to $346.3 million recorded in 2016 due to the items
described above.

Basic earnings per Class B share were $2.70 for 2017 versus the $1.58 recorded for 2016. Diluted earnings per Class B share
were $2.66 for 2017 and $1.85 for 2016. The movement in foreign currency exchange rates in 2017 compared to 2016 had
an estimated negative impact on the translation of the Company’s basic earnings of $0.04 per Class B share, The diluted
weighted average number of shares was 178,257,334 for 2017, compared to 177,462,860 for 2016.

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had 11,837,250 Class A voting shares and 164,951,412 Class B non-vating shares 1ssued
and outstandig In addition, the Company had outstanding stock options to purchase 3,091,505 Class B non-voting shares
and had 376,515 deferred share units outstanding to 1ssue 376,515 Class B non-voting shares.

Adjusted basic earnings per Class B share (a non-IFRS measure; see "Key Performance Indicators and Nen-IFRS Measures” in
Section 5A) was $2.69 for 2017, up 18.0% from $2.28 in 2016.

The movement in foreign currency exchange rates in 2017 versus 2016 had an estimated negative translation impact of $0.04
on adjusted basic earnings per Class B share. This estimated foreign currency :mpact reflects the currency translation in all
foreign operations,

F) Seasonality and Fourth Quarter Financial Results

L natedited L nawdied Lnwedited Unaudited
2017 Qtr i Qtr2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Year
Sales
CClL 4 673.1 $ 7289 $ 687 2 3 7339 $ 2,823.1
Avery 160.8 2091 2120 171.6 752.9
Checkpomnt 1493 1vio 1626 1923 675.2
Innovia 29.8 gl.6 956 912 308.2
Container 48.5 523 49,4 6.1 196.3
Total sales $ 1osl.5 3 1,252 9 £ 1.206.8 $ 1,234.5 $ 4,755.7
Segment operating income (loss)
CCL 5 £110.3 % 113.4 $ 547 $ 126.4 $ 444.8
Avery 285 454 499 40.7 164.5
Checkpoint 15.3 19.3 2T 09 87.4
[nnovia {1.3) 4.4 114 01 14.6
Container 6.1 5.5 7.6 7.0 26.2
Operating mcome 1589 188.2 185.3 2051 737.5
Corporate expenses 134 14.2 12.5 126 527
Restructuring and other itemy 7. 5.2 29 (42} 11.3
Earnings in eqauty accounted imvestments {0 &) (0.8} (1.0) (1.3 (3.7)
1387 169.6 1709 198.0 677.2
Finance cost, net 1.6 179 18.9 238 75.2
Earmings before income taxes 1241 i517 152.0 174.2 602.0
Income taxes 362 118 431 48 127.9
Net earnings $ 8§7.9 b 109.9 $ 1069 S 169.4 $ 474.1
Per Class B share
Basic earnings $ 0.50 S .63 $ 0.60 $ 6.97 $ 2.70
[uluted earnings $ 049 3 063 ) .59 $ 4,93 $ 2.66
Adjusted basic carnings 3 057 ) 068 $ 0.61 b3 .83 $ 2.69
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Unaudited Unandited {naudsed 1 naudsied

2016 Qtr 1 Qtr2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Year
Sales

CCL % £32.3 3 6040 $ 6395 s 631 8 $ 2.497.6

Avery 179.6 2074 2202 1805 7877

Checlkpoint — Y926 1755 1909 459.0

Conlaer 649 362 541 53.2 230.4
Total sales $ §566.8 $ 960.2 3 1,089.3 $ 1,058 4 3 39747
Segment operatmg mcome {loss)

CCL § 103.9 s §93 3 941 § 90.7 $ 378.0

Avery 354 06 45.3 335 166.8

Checkpowmnt - {4.7) 3.6 273 282

Container 106 7.9 47 7.1 30.3
QOperating ncome 1499 1431 497 je0 6 603.3
Corporate expenses 10.8 i4.1 123 110 48.2
Restructuring and other {tems 30 189 6.0 6.7 346
Earnings in equity accounted inveshments (£.8) {1.1) (14) (12) (4.5}

136 9 112 1328 1441 5250

Finance cost, net 79 7.8 10.0 122 379
Farnings betore income taxes 1280 1034 1228 1319 487 1
Income faxes 393 312 367 336 140.8
Net earnings $ 897 3 722 b 8e.1 $ 98.3 3 363
Per Class B share
Basic earnings $ 0,51 $ 042 $ 0,49 g 056 % i.98
Duluted earmings $ 051 & 041 $ 0.48 3 035 $ 193
Adjusted basic earnings $ 0.53 5 056 3 (.60 5 05y $ 228

Fourth Quarter Results

Sales for the fourth guarter of 2017 improved 16.6% to $1.234.5 million, compared to $1.058.4 million recorded In the 2018
fourth quarter. Excluding currency translation, sales for the fourth quarter of 2017 increased by 18 8% compared to the prior-
year period. This increase was due to 3 9% organic growth and 14.9% impact from acquisitions. The CCL and Checkpoint
Segments posted sates increases of 17.7% and 4.0%, respectively, excluding the impact of currency transiation. Sohd organic
growth rates and the impact of acquisitions In these two Segments offset dechnes of 2 0% and 13 8% for the Avery and Container
Segments, respectively The decline in sales for the Container Segment can be attributed to the previously announced loss
of a large Homecare application in North America at the end of 2016. The new Innovia Segment added $91.2 mithon of sales
for the fourth quarter.

Operating iIncome n the fourth quarter of 2017 was $205.1 million, an increase of 27.7% from $160.6 million in the fourth
quarter of 2016. For the fourth guarter of 2017 compared to the same period in 2016, the CCL., Avery, and Checkpoint
Segments recorded improvements in operating income of 39 4%, 14.6% and 13 2%, respectively. The improvement in the
CCL Segment was driven by gains in all geographic regions, augmented by four acquisibions made since the beginning of
the fourth quarter of 2016. The Avery Segment also posted solid improvement due to improved product mix and acquisitions
resulting in an up-tick In return on sales to 23.8% {a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-tFRS
Measures” in Section 5A). Checkpoint benefited from strong operational execution with its post-acquisition restructuring
initiative nearing completion Operating iIncome for the Container Segment was atmost flat to the prior vear fourth quarter but
return on sales improved 1615 2% on efficiency gains resulting fram the closure of the Canadian operation The new Innovia
Segment generated operating income of $0.1 milllon due to nising resin costs and higher amortization expense during the
fourth guarter. Foreign currency translatbion resulted in a negative impact of 2.5% to consohdated operating incomae,

EBITDA for the fourth quatter of 2017 was $259.0 mitlion, an increase of 26.8% compared to the $204.3 miliion for the 2016
comparable period
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

Corporate expenses were $12.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2017, compared to $11.0 mihion recorded in the prior-year
period. The increase is attnbutable to an increase 1n equity linked compensation expenses.

Net finance cost was $23.8 million for the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to $12.2 mithon for the fourth quarter of 2016, This
Increase was attributable to an increase in interest costs resulting from increased drawn debt due to the innovia acquisition
and interest costs resulting from increased pension habilities.

For the fourth quarter of 2017, restructuring costs and other items represented an income inclusion of $4 2 million ($0.7 miition
income after tax) as follows.

- For the CCL Segment, $3.1 million ($2.2 million after tax), the majonty of which was for the saverance related expenditures
for the security business from the Innovia acquisition.

- For the Checkpoint Segment, $8.0 miltion {$6.6 million after tax) expense primanly for severance costs.
« For the Innovia acquisition, transaction costs of $0.3 mithon ($0.1 rmuthon after tax).

« For the settiement of a Checkpaint pre-acquisition lawstit accrual in the amount of $15.6 million {$9.6 mullion after tax) in
favour of the Company

The positive earnings impact of these restructuring and other items for the 2017 fourth quarter was nominal per Class B share

For the fourth quarter of 2016, restructuring costs and other items represented an expense of $6 7 million ($6.4 million
expense after tax) as follows:

« For the CCL Segment, $2.5 mithon ($2 1 million after tax), the majority of which was for the Worldmark acquisttion,
. For the Checkpoint Segment, $5.3 million ($4.6 million after tax), primanly for severance costs

« For the Avery Segment, $2.0 milon ($1.2 million after tax) reversal of the recrganization reserve as the Mendian, Mississippi
facibity that was scheduled to be shut down was repurpased as a distribution centre.

+ For Innovia, initial acquisition costs amounting to $0.9 mithon ($0.9 million after tax).
The negative earnings impact of these restructuring and other items for the 2016 fourth quarter was $0.03 per Class B share

Tax expense in the fourth quarter of 2017 was $4 8 millien compared to $33.6 mullion in the prior-year period. The decrease
in tax expense can be attnbuted to the previousiy mentioned $40 0 million impact from the TCJA. Excluding the impact of
the TCIA, the effective tax rate for the fourth gquarter of 2017 was 25 9% and for the corresponding quarter in 2016 was 25.7%
Although the 2016 fourth quarter benefited frem the recognition of previously unrecognized deferred tax assets that reduced
the effective tax rate, the 2017 fourth quarter earned a higher portion ¢f pretax income in lower tax Jurisdictions than for the
comparative period.

Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2017 were $169.4 mithon, compared to net earnings of $98.3 milion in last year's fourth
quarter. This increase refiects the items described above.

Basic earnings per Class B share were $0.97 in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to $0 56 in the fourth quarter of 2016
The movement in foreign currency exchange rates in the fourth quarter of 2017 compared to 2016 had a negative impact on
the transtation of the Company’s basic earnings of $0.01 per Class B share

Adjusted basic earnings per Class B share were $0.83 for the fourth quarter of 2017, an improvemant of 40.7% compared to
$0 59 in the corresponding quarter of 2016,

Summary of Seasonality and Quarterly Results

For the CCL, Innoavia and Container Segments, the first and second quarters are generally the strongest due to the number
of work days and various customer.related activities. Also, there are many products that have a spring-summer bias in North
Amernca and Europe such as agricultural chemicals and certain beverage preducts, which generate additional sales volumes
for the Company in the first half of the year The polymer banknote business within the CCL Segment, experiences intra-
guarter vanations in sales influenced by Central Banks’ re-order disparity For Avery, the third quarter has historically been
its strongest, as It benefits from increased demand related to back-to-school activities in North Amenica For the Checkpoint
Segment, the second half of the calendar year is heaithier as the business substantially follows the retall cycle of s customers,
which traditienally experiences mare consumer activity from September through to the end of the yvear and prepares for the
same 1n its supply chain from mid-year on. The final quarter of the year is negatively affected from a sales perspective in the
northern hemisphere by Thanksgiving and globally by the Christmas and New Year holiday season shut-downs,
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Sales and net earnings comparability between the guarters of 2017 and 2016 were primarily affected by regional economic
variances, the impact of dramatic foreign currency changes relative to the Canadian dollar, the timing of acquisitions, the
effect of restrustuning. the impact of central bank reorder patterns and tax adjustments and other stems

The CCL Segment has generally experienced strong demand in its existing and newly acquired operations in the past few
years. The Segment increased sales, excluding the impact of currency transiation, in all four guarters of 2017, primanily driven
by organic growth and acquisitions.

The Avery Segment’s quarterly rasults mirrored its expected seasonal pattern for 2017, posting robust resuits for the third
quarter of the year, reflecting the back-to-school intensity in North America Since the Avery acquisition in july of 2013,
management has implemented initiatives that have moderated the magnitude of the third-guarter back-to-school season
by reducing market share in low-margin ring binder sales. Return on sales for 2017 in the Avery Segment was 21 8%, an
improvement over the 21.2% posted for 2016. This seasonal pattern shouid continue in 2018,

Checkpoint’s results for the 2017 year were consistent with the most active months in the annual retall cycle.

The Container Segment's quarterly results for 2017 were true to its seaseonal pattern, with stronger volumes in the first nalf of
the year compared to the second half of the year, excluding the impact of the previously announced loss of a large Homecare
application In North America

2. BUSINESS SEGMENT REVIEW

A) General

Over the last decade, all divisions invested significant capital and management effort to develop world-class manufacturing
operations, with spending allocated to gecographic expansion, cost-reduction projects, the development of innovative
products and processes, the maintenance and expansion of existing capacity and the continuous improvement In heaith
and safety in the workplace, inciuding environmental management. The Company also makes strategic acquisttions for global
competitive advantage, servicing large customers, taking advantage of new geographic markets, finding adjacent and new
product cpportunities, adding new customer segments, bulding infrastructure and improving operating performance. Since
2009, average annual capital spending has been broadly in line with annual depreciation and amortization expense. The Avery
and Checkpoint Segments and the CCL Design business within the CCL Segment are less capital intensive as a percentage
of sales than the Company’s other businesses. Further discussion on capital spending 1s provided in the “Business Segment
Review” sections below.

Although each Segment is a leader in market share or has a significant position in the markets 1t serves in each of its
operating locales, it also operates generally in a mature and competitive environment. In recent years, consurmer products
and healthcare companies have experienced steady pressure to maintain or even reduce prices to their major retad and
distribution channels, which has driven significant consolidation in the Company’s customer basge. This has resulted in many
customers seeking supply-chain efficiencies and cost savings 1in order to maintain profit margins. Volatite commaodity costs
have also created challenges to manage pricing with customers. These dynamics have been an ongoeing challenge for the
Company and its competitors, requiring greater management and financial control and flexible cost structures. Unlike some
of its competitors, the Company has the financial strength to invest in the equipment and innovation necessary to constantly
strive to be the highest value-added producer in the markets that it serves.

The cost of many of the key raw material inputs for the Company, such as plasuc films and resins, paper, specialty chemicals
and aluminum, are largely dependent on the supply and demand economics within the petrochemical, energy and base
metals industries. The Checkpoint Segment purchases component parts including cireunt boards, memory chips and other
electronic modules from third parties. The significant cost fluctuations for these mputs can have an impact on the Company’s
profitability. The Company generally has the ability, due to its size and the use of long-term contracts with both suppliers
and customers, to mitigate volatiity in purchased costs and, where necessary, to pass these on to the market in higher
product prices. However, both the innovia and Container Segments can experience delays in price adpistments up or down
to customers due to the nature of therr respective relationships and contracts The success of the Company 1s dependent
on each business managing the cost-and-price equation with suppliers and custemers. The Container Segment successfully
mtroduced pricing mechanisms i its customer contracts that pass through a 80-day average cost of aluminum as priced
on the London Metals Exchange ("LME”} Innovia’s pricing mechanisms are much more complex with multiple indices for
polypropylene used hy customers and suppliers, and differing terms in contracts when trigger points are arnved at for price
changes. In addition, much of Innovia’'s manufacturing cost is calculated in euros and pounds with spproximately 20% of its
saies In the United States. Pricing strategy for Innovia will be an important financial performance lever for 2018 and beyond
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

A driver common to all Segments for maximizing operating profitability 1s the discipline of pricing contracts based on size
and complexity. including consideration for fluctuations in raw materiais and packaging costs, manufacturing run lengths and
available capacity. This approach facilitates effective asset utihzation and relatively lugher levels of profizability. Performance s
generally measured by product against estimates used to caloulate pncing, including targets for scrap and output efficiency
An analysis of total utitization versus capacity available per production iine or facility is also used to manage certain divisions
of the business. In most of the Company’s operations, the measurement of each sales order shipped 1s based on actual
selling prices and production costs to calculate the amount of actual profit margin earned and its return on sales relative to
the established benchmarks This process ensures thal pricing policies and production performance are aligned in attaming
profit margirt targets by order, by plant and by division.

Management belisves it has both the financial and non-financial resources, internal controls and reporting systems and
processes in place to execute 1ts strategic plan, to manage its key performance drivers and to deliver targeted financial results
over time. In addition, the Company’s internal audit function provides another discipline to ensure that its disclosure controls
and procedures and internal control over financial reporting will be assessed on a regular basis agamnst current corporate
standards of effectiveness and compliance.

The Company is not particularly dependent upon specialized manufacturing equipment. Most of the manufacturing equipment
employed by the divisions can be sourced from multiple suppliers. The Company, however, has the resources to invest in
farge-scale projects to buidd infrastructure in current and new markets because of its financial strength relative to that of many
of its competitors. Direct competitors in the CCL Segment are often smaller and may not have the financial resocurces to stay
current in maintaining state-of-the-art facilities Certain new manufacturing lines take many months for supphers to construct,
and any delays in delivery and commissioning can have an impact on customer expectations and the Company’s profitability.
The Innovia Segment, in addition to its umgue methaod for praducing BOPP for label and packaging applications, also provides
the Company with the know-how and matenal science capability in proprietary non-commodity-orientad activities. Finally, the
Company aiso uses strategic partnerships as a method of obtaining exclusive technology in order to support growth plans
and to expand its product offerings The Company’s major competitive advantage is based on s strong customer service,
process technology, the know-how of its people, market-leading brand awareness and loyalty, and the abiiity to develop
proprietary technologies and manufacturing techniques

The expertise of the Company’s employees 1s a key element in achieving the Company’'s business plans. This know-how 15
broadly distributed throughout the world; therefore, the Company 1s generally not at risk of lasing its competency through
the loss of any particular emplovee or group of employees, Employee skilis are constantly being developed through on-the-
job training and external technical education, and are enhanced by the Company's entrepreneunal culture of considening
creative alternative apphications and processes for its products

The nature of the research carried out by the CCL and Container Segments can be characterized as apphcation or process
development The Company spends meaningful resources on assisting customers to develop new and innovative products.
White customers regularly come to CCL with concepts and request assistance to develop products, the Company alsc takes
its own new ideas to the market. Proprietary information 1s protected through the use of confidentiality agreements and by
imiting access to CCUs manufactuning facilities The Company vaiues the importance of protecting i1ts customers” brands
and products from fraudulent use and consequently is selective in choosing appropriate customer and supplier relationships.

Avery has a strong commitment ta understanding its ultimate end users, actively seeking product feedback and using
consumer focus groups to drive product development initiatives. Furthermore, it leverages the CCL Segment’s applications
and technology to defiver product innovation that aligns with consumer printable medha trends.

Checkpoint has always been an innovator for its industry with a strong dedication to research and development activities.
it was the pioneer of RF electronic-article-surveiilance hardware and consumables Checkpoint has made further advances
with the active enhancement and deployment of RFID solutions, including inventory management software, to the retail and
apparel industry.

Innovia mamtains two world class research and development centres, each specifically dedicated to the markets i serves.
One for filrms in support of label and packaging apphcations, and the second for security products predominantly in support
of polymer banknotes. The new discoveries and product enhancements generated from these centraes will be deployed acress
the entirety of the Company for the benefit of its customers
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The Company continues to Invest time and capital to upgrade and expand its information technology systems This investment
15 critical to keeping pace with customer requirements and in gaining or maintaining a competitive edge. Software packages
are, ingeneral, off-the-shelf systems customized to meet the needs of individual business locations The CCL, Avery, Checkpoint
and Innovia Segments communicate with many customers and supplers electronically, particularly with regard to supply-cham-
management solutions and when transferring and confirming design formats and colours. A core attribute of Avery's printable
media products I1s the customized software to enable short-run digital printing in businesses and homes. Avery recognizes
that it 1s critical to relentlessly innovate its software solutions to maintamn 1ts market-leading position with consumers. Avery
launched WePrint™, expanding its direct-to-consumer software solutions, and acquired Nilles’, PCN's, Mabel's, GGW's, and
Badgepoint’s e-commerce platforms to leverage acquired digital print software into the pre-existing Avery suite.

Within the Avery Segment, most products are sold under the market-ieading “Avery” brand and, with equal prominence in
German-speaking countries, the "Zweckform” brand name. Within the Checkpoint Segment, products are predomnantty
sold under the Checkpoint brand and, for retail merchandising products in Europe and Asia Pacific, the Meto brand. The
Company recognizes that in order to maintain the pre-eminent positions for Avery, Zweckform, Checkpomnt and Meto, 1t must
continually invest in prometing these brands. Product quality, imnovation and performance are recognized attributes to the
success of these brands.

The Company has deployed many mitiatives to reduce the carbon footprint of its preducts and services to ensure the business
15 sustainable, These include coliaborative logistic partnerships with customers and suppliers to reduce the usage of wooden
pallets and corrugated boxes, and new products that help customers reduce their own carbon footprint such as CCL's Super
Stretch Sieeves that decorate PET beverage contaners without adhesive or energy and patented “wash off” labels for reusable
bottles, which lowers the impact of glass going to landfill The Company's greenfield sites are designed and constructed to
specific standards to reduce therr carben footprint and some sites have adopted the use of solar power to run their facilities

in addition to its sustainability mmitiatives, the Company recognizes it must be a socially responsible crganization and 1s
committed to fair labour practices, maintaining & safe workplace and giving back to its employees and the communities In
which it operates The confidential ethics hotline allows employees to safely voice concerns and the Employee Assistance
Program provides reassuring advice and support for anxieties outside the workplace.

Business Segment Results

2017 2016
Segment sales
CCL $ 2,823.1 $ 24976
Avery 752.9 T877
Checkpoms 675.2 439.0
Innovia 308.2 e
Contuner 196.3 2304
Total sales $ 4,755.7 % 39747
Operating income™
CCL $ 444 8 $ 3780
Avery 164.5 166 8
Checkpoint 87.4 2812
Innovia 14.6 —
Contamer 26.2 303
Segment operating income $ 737.5 % 6033

* This is a non-IFRS measure Refer 1o “Key Performance Indicators and Non-1FRS Measures” in Section 5A

Comments on Business Segments
The above summatry includes the results of acquisitions on reported sales and operating income from the date of acquisition.
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

B) CCL Segment

Overview

There are five customer sectors inside the CCL Segment The Company trades 1n three of them as CCL Label and one each as
CCL Dasign and CCL Secure The differentiated CCL sub branding, points to the nature of the application for the final product.
The secters have many common or overlapping customers, process technologies, information technology systems, raw
material suppliers and operational infrastructures. CCL Label supplies innovative specialized label and tube solutions to Home
& Personal Care and Food & Baeverage companies, plus regulated and complex multi-layer labels for major pharmaceutical,
consumer medicing, medical instrument and industnal or consumer chemical customers referred to as the Healthcare &
Specialty business. CCL Design, supphes long-life, high performance labels and other products to automotive, electronics
and durable goods compamnies. CCL Secure supplies palymer bank note substrate, pressure sensitive stamps, passports and
other security documents to government inshitutions

The Segment’s product ines include pressure sensitive labels, shnink sleeves, stretch sieeves, in-mould labels, precision
printed and die cut metal, glass and plastic components, expanded content labels, pharmaceutical instructional leaflets,
graphic security features and extruded or laminated plastic tubes it currently operates 123 production facilities located in
Canada, the United States (including Puerte Rico), Argentina, Austraiia, Austna, Brazil, Chile, China, Denmark, Egypt, France,
Germany, Hungary, India, Ireland, italy, lapan, Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, the Nethertands, Northern lreland, Oman, Pakistan,
Phiiippines, Poland, Russia, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Switzerland, Thalland, Turkey, United Arab Enmirates, the United Kingdom
and Vietnam. The five plants in Russia, six plants in the Middle East. and eone plant in the United States are connected to the
equity investments in CCL-Kontur, Pacman-CCL, and Korsin-CCL, respectively, and are included in the above locations.

This Segment’s industry 1s made up of a very large number of competitors that manufacture a vast array of decorative, product
infarmation, identfication and secunity iabel-type applications. There are some product categories that do not fall within the
Segment’s target market. The Company believes that CCL 15 the largest consolidated operator in most of its defined global
market sectors. Competition largely comes from single-plant businesses, often owned by private operators who compete in
local markets with the Segment. There are alsc a few multi-plant competitors in certain regions of the world and specialists
in a single market segment glabally. However, there 1s no major competitor that has the product breadth, global reach and
scale of the CCL Segment.

The Company has completed numerous label acquisitions, strategic joint ventures and greenfield start-ups geographically
and added new product offerings to position CCL Label as a global leader in the Home & Parsonal Care, Food & Beverage
and Healthcare & Specialty end markets Following the integration of Worldmark and the acquisttions of Woelco and Zephyr,
CCL Design now represents a fourth equally significant financial and geographic market for the CCL Segment focused on
the automotive and electronics markets. The high-secunty, specialized polymer banknote operations included in the Innovia
acguisition form an integral part of CCL Secure and a developing fifth leg of the stool.

CCL produces labels predominantly from polyclefin films and paper partly sourced from extruding, coating and laminating
companies, using raw materials primarily from the petrochemical and paper industries. CCL also coats and laminates pressure
sensitive materiais and 18 generally able to mitigate the cost volatility of third-party-sourced materials due to a combination
of purchasing leverage, agreements with suppliers and its ability to pass on these cost increases to customers. In the label
industry, price changes regularly occur as specifications are constantly changed by the marketers and, as a result, the selling
price of these labels 1s updated, refiecting current market costs and new shapes and designs.

CCLs global customers are requiring more of their supphers, expecting a full range of product offerings in more geographic
regians, further integration into their supply-cham at s global level and protection of their brands, particularty in markets where
counterfeiting is rife. These requirements put many of the Segment’s competitors at a disadvantage, as do the investment
hurdles in converting equipment and technologies to deliver products, services and innavations. Trusted and reliable suppliers
are iImportant considerations for global consumer product companies, major pharmaceutical companies and OEMs in the
durable goods business and, of course, Central Banks. This 1s even more impaortant in an uncertain economic environment
when many smalle: competitors encounter difficult:es and customers want to ensure their supphiers are financially viable.

CCL considers customers’ demand levels, particularly in North America and Western Europe, to be reasonably mature and, as
such, will continue to focus its expansion plans on innovative and higher growth product lines within those geographies with
a view toimproving overall profitability. in Asia, Latin America and other emerging markets, a higher level of economic growth
is still expected over the coming years, despite the slower conditions experienced in the past few years This should provide
opportunities for the Segment to improve market share and increase profitability in these regions. Furthermore, there s close
alignment of labeal demand te consumer staples other than CCL Design and CCL Secure, which are completely aligned to the
automotive and electronics industries and government institutions and Central Banks, respectively. Management believes
the Segment wili attain the sales volumes, geocgraphic distribution and reach mirroring those of 1ts customers over the next
few years through its focused strategy and by capitalizing on following customer trends.
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CCL Segment Financial Performance

2017 % Growth 2016
Sales $ 2,823.1 13.0% $ 2497.6
Qperating income $ 444.8 17.7% & 378.0
Return on sales 15.8% 15.1%

Sales in the CCL Segment for 2017 increasad 13.0% to $2,823 1 millien, compared 10 $2,497.6 million in 2016. A strong organic
rate of 6.2% coupled with 8.3% growth from nine acquisitions since the beginring of the 2016 vear offset a 1.5% negative
impact from foreign currency translation.

Sales n 2017 for North America increased fow-single digit compared 10 2018, excluding the impact of currency translation.
Healthcare & Specialty results for the year were solid, with a modest improvement in Healthcare performance compared toa
very strong prior year offset by a slow year for Ag-Chem and Specialty markets Home & Personal Care sales and profitability
improved substantially driven by market share gains in labels and tubes, with profitability gains partially impacied by start-up
costs for a new tube operation in Columbus, Chio Sales and profitability in the Food & Beverage sector improved significantly
on market share wins in the Beverage and Wine & Spint operations. CCL Design sales grew modestly as automotive markets
plateaued, however profitability )/mproved sigmificantly on mix and productivity gains in legacy operations. CCL Secure, the
security product vertical that includes the 2015 Banknote Corporation of America Inc. acquisition, posted improved sales and
profitability for the year. Overall profitability increased despite the negative impact of currency transiation, while return on
sales (“Return on Sales,” a non-IFRS financial measure; see "Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section SA)
was held in check for the year.

European sales were up high-single digit for 2017, excluding currency translation and the impact of acquisitions in the region,
compared to 2016 Home & Personal Care sales and profitabifity improved compared 1o the prior year driven by strong
market share gains and operational efficiencies in Eastern Europe Healthcare & Specialty sales and profitability, exciuding
acquisitions, were in line with the prior year, The 2016 Healthcare acquisitions in Ireland and Germany continue to perform
to management’s expectations. Results for Food & Beverage were robust with operating margins improving 1n alf lines of
business The Closuras business posted better sales and profitability compared to a strong prior year. CCL Design sales
and profitability sncreased on strong German austomotive demand. CCL Secure, representing the acquired innovia security
business, posted strong resuits for the first ten months subsequent to the acquisition. Overall, European operating Income
and return on sales increased substantially due to the impact of acquisitions and improvements in the legacy operations

Sales in Latin America, exciuding acquwsitions and currency translation, increased mid-single digit for 2017 compared to
2016. Sales and profitabulity improved i all ines of business in Mexico more than offsetting start-up costs for the new CCL
Design automotive facility. Sales and profitability were impacted by soft consumer markets in Brazil and foreign currency
translation in Mexico albeit return on sales remains above the CCL average. CCL Secure In Mexico, representing the acquired
Innovia security business, posted strong results for the ten months post-acquisition. Operating income increased significantly
in absolute terms and as a percent of sales, including start-up costs for CCL Design in Mexico and the new Home & Personal
Care piant in Argentina.

Asia Pacific sales, excluding acquisitions and currency translation, increased in the low teens for 2017 compared to 2016.
Sales and profitability in China increased considerably with strang improvements in all ines of business, most notably at CCL
Des:gn on robust electronics end markets ASEAN sales and profitability were mixed with improverments at CCL Design offset
by soft Home & Personal Care end markets. Overall CCL Design profitability in Asia was comparatively impacted by the weaker
1.5, dollar. Australian results for labels were up with continued progress in Wine & Spirtts and a reduction in operating losses
in Healthcare, CCL Secure, representing the acquired Innovia security business, posted solid results, equal to management’s
expectations for the first ten months post acquisition. Operating income increased significantly and as a percentage of sales
in the Asia Pacific region due to the impact of acquisitions and improvements In legacy operations.

Operating income for the CCL Segment improved by 177% to $444.8 million for 2077 compared to $378.0 million for 2016.
Included in 2017 operating income was an $8.2 million non-cash accounting adjustment to fair value the acquired fimished
goods of the Security business that was part of the Innovia acquisition now included in the CCL Segment. Foreign currency
translation had a negative effect of 1.3% on 2017 operating income compared to 2016, Operating income as a percentage of
sales was 15.8% in 2017 compared to the 15.1% return generated in the prior year

The CCL Segment invested $218.6 mithon in capital spending in 2017 compared to $194.8 millkon last year The major
expenditures were for equipment installations to support the Home & Personal Care and Healthcare businesses in North
America, capacity additions for Food & Beverage In Europe and capacity expansion for CCL Design in the United States and
Asia. Depreciation and amortization for the CCL Segment was $172.5 mulhion in 2017, compared to $152 6 million in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

C) Avery Segment

Avery 1s the world’s largest supplier of labels, specialty converted media and software solutions to enable short-run digital
printing In businesses and homes atongside complementary office products sold through distributors and mass market
retailers. The products are split into three primary lines (1) Printable Media, including address labets, shipping labels, marketing
and product identification labels, indexes and dividers, business cards, and name badges supported by custormized software
solutions, (2} Orgamzational Products Group ("OPG”), including binders, sheet protectors and writing instruments; (3) Direct
to Consumer digitally imaged media including labels, business cards, name badges, and famuly oriented identification labels
supported by unique web-enabled e-commerce URLs. The majonity of products in the Printable Media and Direct to Consumer
categories are used by businesses and individual consumers consistently throughout the year; however, in the OPG category,
North American consumers engage in the back-to-school surge during the third quarter.

Avery operates fourteen manufacturing and three distribution facilities. Sales for Avery are principally generated in Narth
Amenca, Europe and Australia with 2 market-teading position. There I1s a small developing presence In Latin America. Most
products are sold under the market-leading "Avery” brand and, with equal prominence In German-speaking countries, under
the “Zweckform” brand name that 1s better known by consumers in this part of Europe, as well as the direct-te-consumer
“pc/nametag,” “Mabel's Labels,” “goedgemerkt” and “badgepoint” brands.

Avery reaches its consumers, ncluding small businesses, through distnibution channels that include mass-market
merchandisers, retail superstores, wholesalers, e-tallers, contract stationers, catalog retaling and direct-to-consumer
e-commerce. Merger activity and store closures in these distnibution channels can lead to short-term volume dechres as
customer inventory positions are consolidated. Avery is the leading brand in its core markets, with the principal competition
being lower-priced private label products Avery has expenienced secular decline in its core mailing address label product
as e-mail and internet-based digital communication has grown rapidly. In response, Avery has developed innovative new
products targeted at applications such as shipping labels and product 1dentification. Avery has successfully launched #s
proprietary direct-to-consumer e-commerce label design software platform WePrint™ In 2014, the acquisitions of Label
Connections Ltd. and Nilles expanded Avery’s digital print capabilities to the commercial graphic arts sector and e-commerce
platform to custom designad roll fed labels in new markets around the world. With the 2015 acqusitions of PCN and Mabel’s
in North America and 2017 acquisitions of Badgepoint and GGW. the Company further expanded Avery's digital pnint offerings
to the meetings and events planning irdustry and personalized identification labels for children and families. Growth rates
in these new printable media e-commerce platforms and the newly acquired business is expected to outpace Avery's legacy
product lines and eventually aid in re-establishing a growth rate for the Segment. It 1s also the Company’s expectation that
Avery wili also continue to open up new revenue streams in short-run digital printing applications.

Avery Segment Financial Performance

2017 % Growth 2016
Sales $ 752.9 (4.4%) $ 7877
Operating income $ 164.5 (1.4%) $ 166.8
Return on sales 21.8% 28.2%

Sales in the Avery Segment for 2017 were $752.9 million, a dacrease of 4.4% compared to the $787.7 miilion posted in
2016. Fore:gn currency translation had an unfavourable influence of 1.7% and organic sales declined 4.6%, partially offset by
acquisitions adding 1.9% compared to 2016.

North American sales were down mid-single digits for 2017, excluding currency translation, compared to 2016. Sales were
negatively impacted by office superstore closures and weakness 1n the wholesale channel The OPG category continued to
experience share loss n low-margin, mass market binders. This was partially offset by sales growth in the direct to consumer
chanre! for badges, “Kids Labels” and “WePrint” fabels printed directly by Avery for consumers where profitability improved
appreciably. Return on sales improved year-over-year and for this region remains above the Segment average.

international sales are mostly generated from products in the Printable Media category but now mclude the recently acguired
results for GGW and Badgepaint in the direct to consumer category and together represent 23.9% of the Avery Segment's
sales for 2017. Sales, excluding acquisitions and currency translation, decreased low single-digits with gams in Europe offset
by declines in Asia Pacific and Latin Amernica Overall profuabity improved significantly due to strong results from the
acquired GGW and Badgepoint businesses as well as operational efficsencies in the European cperations

Operating income for 2017 was $164.5 milhion compared to $1686 8 million 1in 2016. Return on sales improved to 21 8% for 2017,
compared to 21.2% for 2016, reflecting the financial benefits achieved from post-acquisiton restructunng initiatives, mix and
the positive impact of acquisitions.
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The Avery Segment nvested $13 8 millien in capital spending for 2017, compared to $16.2 million for 2016 The expenditures
in 2017 were for capacity and efficiency additions in the North American manufacturing operations for both Prnntable Media
and OPG. Depreciation and amortization for the Avery Segment was $16.1 million for 2017 and 2016

D) Checkpoint Segment

Overview

The Checkpoint Segment 1s a leading global manufacturer and provider of hardware and software systems plus security labels
and tags providing inventory control and loss-prevention solutions to world-leading retaiters.

Checkpoint is a leading manufacturer of technology-driven loss-prevention, inventory-management and {abeling sclutions,
including RF and RFID solutions, to the retail and apparel industry. The Segment has three primary product lines- Merchandise
Avallabihty Solutions (“MAS”), Apparel Labeling Solutions ("ALS") and Retail Merchandising Solutions ("RMS”). The MAS
line focuses on electronic-article-survelllance {(“EAS”) systems; hardware, software, labels and tags for loss prevention and
inventory control systems including RFID solutions. ALS products are apparel labels and tags, some of which are RFID capable
RMS, a small European-centric product line, includes hand-held pricing tools and labels and promotional in-store displays. All
MAS and ALS products are sold under the Checkpoint brand, and RMS is sold under the Meto brand

Checkpoint 1s supported by 20 manufactuning facilities, 13 distnbution facilities and four product and software development
centres around the world. The Segment generates sales in 24 countres outside of its home market in North America across
Europe, Latin America and Asia. Checkpoint sells directly to retailers or apparel manufacturers and competes with other
globat retail fabehng companies

Despite Checkpoint’s market-leading posttion, strong brand recognition and product development pipeline, only modsst
growth Is expected given the changing ‘brick and mortar’ retatl landscape. Large contracts with retallers for hardware and
software can create significant quarter-to-quarter, and in some cases year-to-year, revenue volatility. However, Checkpoint’s
comprehensive sclution of hardware and software also creates an important high-margin recurring revenue stream for its
refated consumables. Moreover, CCL is also confident that Checkpoint 1s well positioned to capture a pesition in the evolving
RFID market as retallers seek omni-channel fulfilment systems.

Lastly, subsequent to the Company’s acquisition on May 13, 2016, Checkpoint implemented a comprehensive restructuring
plan to streamline operations and rnight-size the management structure. Since the date of acquisition restructuring expenses
have totalled $35.5 million in accordance with the previously announced pian yielding annualized savings of 340 million.

Checkpoint Segment Financial Performance

2017 % Growth 2016
Sales $ 675.2 47.1% $ £59.0
Operating come $ 87.4 2099% S 28.2
Return on sales 12.9% 6.1%

Sales for the Checkpoint Segment were $675.2 million for 2017, an increase of 471% compared to the $458.0 mithon posted
for the seven-and-a-half months of ownership In 2016.

The MAS product hines posted strang profits across the board; North America, Latn America, Europe and Asla generating
return on sales in excess of the Segment average ALS posted an operating profit for 2017 compared to an operating ioss in
2016 on efficiency gains resulting from restructuning sitiatives RMS results, although not matertal, were solidly profitable
for 2017. Operating income for 2017 was $87.4 million compared to $28.2 million n the prior year seven-and-a-half month
period that included a charge of $31.9 million for the non-cash acquisition accounting adjustment related to the elimination
of profit from acquired finished goods mventory Operating income for the Checkpoint Segment increased 45.4% to
$87.4 milbon compared to $60.1 milfon for 2016 after adjusting for the 2016 non-cash accounting adjustment o fair value
the acquired finished goods inventories of $31.8 mullion. Return on sales (“Raturn on Sales,” a non-IFRS financial measure; see
“Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section 5A} improved to 12.9% for 2017, compared to 6.1% for 2016.
Return on sales improved reflecting the financial benefits achieved from post-acquisition restructuring mnitiatives

The Checkpoint Segment invested $23.3 million in capital spending for 2017, compared to $5.9 million for 2016. The majonity of
expenditures in 2017 were in the Asia Pacific region to enhance capacity and efficiency with the MAS and ALS manufactuning
facilities Depreciation and amortization for the Checkpaint Segment was $29.0 millien for 2017, compared to $18.7 million
for 2016
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E) Innovia Segment

The Innovia Segment consists of the newly acquired Innovia film operations, plus two smalliegacy fiim manufacturing facilities
transferred from the CCL Segment. The acquired Innowvia film operations, which comprise the majority of the Segment,
provide a global footprint for the manufacture of speciaity high-performance, muiti-layer, surface engineered BOPP films with
a facility located in each of Austraiia, Belgium and the United Kingdom. These films are sold to customers in the pressure
sensitive label materials and consumer packaged goods industnes worldwide with a small percentage of the total volume
consumed internally by CCL Secure within the CCL Segment. The two smaller legacy facilities, one located in Germany and
one in the United States, produce almost their entire output for the CCL Segment’s Food & Beverage and Home & Personal
Care businesses, respectively

Polypropylene resin 1s the most significant input cost for this Segment. Polypropylene 1s derived from natural gas and is
manufactured globally by a limited number of producers. Polypropylene s traded in the market by financial investors and
speculators with its cost inked to the price of natural gas and the availability of refining capacity The Segment does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge 1ts exposure to volatility of polypropylene prices, therefore, the Segment
must oversee Its customer relationships dibgently managing seffing prices for the optimal fong term financiat benefit of the
Company.

Fim innovation remains a strategic focus for the Segment, investing significant resources in 1ts industry leading research
and development people and laboratory in the United Kingdom. This commitment has resulted in the development of unique
process technology, highly differentiated specialty BOPP films and innovative surface coating technology keeping fiim
innovation at the forefront for the Segment

Lastly, subsequent to the acquisition on February 28, 2017, a minor restructuring was intttated to ehminate duplicate corporate
costs and overhead in the two divisions. Since the date of acquisition, restructuring expenses have totaled approximately
$9.5 million in accordance with the previously announced plan.

Innovia Segment Financial Performance

2017 % Growth 2016
Sales $ 308.2 n/a $ n/a
Operating mcome 3 14.6 n/a 3 n/a
Return on sales 4.7% n/a

Sales for the Innovia Segment were $308.2 million for 2017, almost entirely from the newly acquired operations. Operating
incoma was $14.6 million, and would have been $216 million but for a charge of $7.0 mithon for the non-cash acquisition
accounting adjustment related to the elimination of profit from acquired finished goods inventory. Profitability for 2017 was
impacted by nsing polypropylene resin costs that could not be passed to the customer base concurrently. Return on sales
was 4 7% for 2017,

The Innovia Segment invested $10.9 mitlion in capital spending since February 28, 2017, largely for the European operations
Depreciation and amortization for the Innovia Segment was $27.4 million for the period February 28, 2017, to December 31, 2017,

F} Container Segment

Overview

The Container Segment is a leading manufacturer of aluminum specialty containers for the consumer products industry in
North America, including Mexico. The key product line 1s recyctable aluminum aerosol cans for the personal care, home care
and cosmetic industries, plus shaped aluminem bottles for promotional applications in the beverage market The Segment
functions in a compet:itive environment, which inciudes imports and the ability of customers, in some cases, to shift a product
to competing alternative technology.

In North America, there are two direct competitors in the United States and one in Mexico in the impact-extruded aluminum
container business. The Company believes that it 15 approximately the same size as its key United States competitor in
the aerosol market and has about 50% market share. Other competition comes from South American, Asian and European
imports; however, currency exchange rates and logistical issues, such as delivery lead umes and costs, sigmificantly impact
their competitiveness.
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With the cessation of operations at the Canadian operation in rmd-2017, the Container Segment currently operates from
four plants, two each in the United States and Mexico. Three plants are dedicated aluminum aerosol facilities and the fourth
facility was estabiished in Decernber 2014 when the Company contnbuted a 50% equity iInvestment in Rheinfelden Americas,
LLC ("Rheinfelden™), a joint venture with Rheinfelden Semis GmbH, a leading German producer of aluminum slugs This new
facihty in North Carclina will provide an alternate source of aluminum slugs in North America. The plant has posted start-up
losses throughout 2016 and 2017. A final tranche of capital investments for Rhemfelden s expected 1n mid-2018 enabling
the operation to realize 1ts optunal production capability, move mto profit in 2019 and ensure a sustainable second source of
aluminum slugs for the North American market.

Productinnovation remains a strategic focus far the Segment, investing significant resources inthe development of Innovatively
shaped and highly decoratad contammers for existing and new customer applications As the demand for these new, higher-
value products has grown, the Segment has adapted existing production equipment angd acquired new technology in order
te meet expected overall market regquirements and to maximize manufactunng efficiencies.

Aluminum represents a significant variable cost for this Segment. Alurminum is a commodity that 1s supphied by a imited
number of global producers and 15 traded in the market by financial investors and speculators. Aluminum prices and the
associated “premiums” charged over and above for its supply have been extremely volatile in the past few years and continue
to have the largest impact on manufacturing costs for the Container Segment, requiring disciplined focus on managing selling
prices to the Segment's customers

Aluminum trades as a commodity on the LME and the Container Segment uses pricing mechanisms 1n its customer contracts
that pass through the fluctuations in the cost of aluminum to its customers. In specific situations, the Contaimer Segrnent
will hedge some of its anticipated future aluminum purchases using futures contracts on the LME if they are tied to specific
fixed-price customer contracts. The Segment hedged 20.6% of its 2017 volume and has hedged 2.4% of s expected 2018
requirements, and all the hedges, including matured 2017 hedges, were matched to fixed-price customer contracts £xisting
hedges are priced in the US$1,900 to US$2,100 range per metric ton, The unrealized gain on the aluminum futures contracts
as at December 31, 2017, was nominal Pricing for aluminum 1n 2017 ranged from US$1,700 to US3$2,245 per metric ton,
compared to US$1,.450 to US$1.780 par metnic ton in 2016.

Management believes that the aluminum container business can continue to improve levels of profitabidity in the coming years
with increased demand and continued pricing discipine and by driving greater operational efficiencies in the reorganized
manufacturing footprint in the United States and Mexico, The biggest risk for the Segment’s business base relates to customers
shifting their products into containers of other matenals such as steel, glass or plastic, leading to a 10ss in market share.
However, certain products and delivery systems can only be provided in an aluminum container. The relative cost of steel
versus aluminum containers sometimes impacts the marketers’ choice of container and may cause volume gains or losses if
customers decide to change from one product form to another. Aluminum cost remains a key factor in determining the level
of growth in the market

Centainer Segment Financial Performance

2017 % Growth 2016
Sales $ 196.3 (14.8%) 3% 2304
Operating income $ 26.2 (13.5%) § 30.3
Return on sales 13.3% 132%

Sales for the Container Segment declined as anticipated to $196.3 miliion, compared to $230 4 million in 2016. The decline
can be entirely attributed to the previously announced loss of a large Homecare apphication in North America that motivated
the closure of the Canadian operation Mexican sales and profitability were up on volume gains Foreign currency translation
had a negative 1.8% impact on sales. Productivity improvements augmented results across all the facilities, The weaker U.S.
dollar and rising aluminem cost was a drag on profitability. Operating income was $26 2 million and return on sales improved
t0 13.3% for 2017, compared to return on sales of 13.2% for 2016.

When announcing, in late 2013, the closure of the Canadian facility and redistribution of the business to the remaiming plants,
management had expected annualized operating improvements totaling $10.0 million These savings have now been realized.

The Container Segment invested $18 7 million of capital in 2017, compared to $17.8 milkon last year. The majonty of the 2017
expenditures were facility expansion and equipment addiions at the Mexican operations. Depreciation and amortization in
2017 and 2016 were $13 3 million and $15 3 million, respectively.
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G) Joint Ventures
For the years ended Deverober 3 2017 2316 +/-

Sales {at 10(%)

Label joint ventures $ 125.2 3 1246 0.3%
Rbeinfelden® 20.3 10.2 99 0%
$ 145.5 % 1348 7.9%

Earnings (losses) in equity accounted mvestments (at 100%)
Label joint veniures $ 11.7 3 119 {1 7%}
Rhemtelden (4.4) (3.2) {37.5%)
$ 7.3 b 87 (16.1%)

3

Primarily sales to Containet Segment

Results from the joint ventures in CCL-Kontur, Russia; Pacman-CCL, Middie £ast; Korsini-SAF and Rheinfelden Americas,
United States, are not proportionately consolidated into either the CCL ar Container Segments butinstead are accounted for
as equity Investments. The Company's share of the joint ventures net income 1s disclosed in "Earnings in Equity Accounted
Investments” in the consolidated income statement.

Sales at CCL-Kontur declined modestly as gains in the ruble to the euro resulted in lower local currency market prices however
profits more than doubled on strong product mix and the new shrink sleeve manufacturing faciiity posting profitability
compared to prior year losses. Pacman-CCL posted significant increases 1n sales and profitabiiity contributing meaningfully to
overall earmings for 2017 despite significant challenges with its investment in India. Korsini-CCL, the in-mould joint venture, and
Rheinfeiden Americas, the aluminum slug joint venture, incurred expected start-up losses for the year. Although profitability
was expected at the Rheinfeiden siug operation in 2018, this has been delayed to 2019 due to a small fire in the facility in early
2018 that has temporanly closed operations and postponed installation of the final tranche of capital Investment. Earnings in
equity accounted investments amounted to $3.7 million for 2017, compared to $4.5 mithon for 2016

3. FINANCING AND RISK MANAGEMENT

A) Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Company’s leverage ratio is as follows:

For the years ended December 31 2017 2016
Current debt $ 230.6 $ 42
Long-term debt 2,100.8 1,597.1
Total debt 2,3314 1,601 3
Cash and cash equivalents (557.5) (385.1)
Net debt $ 1,773.9 $ 1,016 2
EBITDA 8 959.2 $ 7927
Net debt to EBITDA 1.85 128

' Total debt net debt and net debt to EBITDA are non-IFRS measures, see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS Measures” in Section bA

In September 2016, the Company closed its initial 1444 private bond offering of US$500 O miihion aggregate principal amount
of 3.25% notes due October 2026, The notes are unsecured senior obligations.

in February 2017, the Company signed an additional US$450.0 million cradit facility with a syndicate of banks to bolster
financing for the Innovia acquisition. This new unsecured term loan facidity, maturing in February 2012 with principal
repayments of US$12 O miliion per quarter commencing Jjune 30, 2017, incurs interest at the apphcable domestic rate plus
an interest rate margin hnked to the Company’s net debt to EBITDA consistent with the existing syndicated revoiving facility.

26 201/ anpu Report CCLo



The Company's debt structure at December 3%, 2017 was primarily compnsed of the aforementioned bonds of
U5$500.0 mithon {C$620.3 million), two private debt placements completed in 1998 and 2008 for a total of US$129.0 million
(C$162.0 million), outstanding debt totalling $1,015.2 million under the unsecured syndicated revolving credit faciiity and
the term lean facility of US$414.0 million (C$520.0 miliion). Qutstanding contingent ietters of credit totalled $3 5 miliion;
accordingly there was US$397.7 million of unused availability on the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2017. The
Company's debt structure at December 31, 2018, was comprised of bonds of US$500.0 millon (C$662.1 million), two private
debt placements completed in 1998 and 2008 for a total of US$122.0 million (C$173.0 million) and outstanding debt under
the syndicated revolving credit facibty of $756 6 millien.

Net debt was $1,773.9 million at December 31, 2017, $757.7 million higher than the net debt of $1,016 2 million at December 31,
2018 The increase in net debt was primanily attributabie to the additional debt drawn to acguire innovia, partally offset by
the increase in cash and cash equivalents and debt repayments during the year.

Net debt to EBITDA increased to 185 times as at December 31, 2017, compared to 1.28 times at the end of 2016, due to
the increase in net debt relative to the increase in EBITDA However, the measure remains very strong after closing four
acquisitions for proceeds of approximately $1.2 billion in 2017.

The Company’s overall average finance rate was 2 9% as at December 31, 2017, compared to 3 0% as at December 31, 2018. The
decrease in the average finance rate was caused by alarger proportion of iower-cost variable rate debt at December 31, 2017.

Interest coverage {a non-IFRS measure; see “Key Performance Indicators and Non-tFRS Measures” in Section 5A) was 911imes
and 14 6 times in 2017 and 2016, respectively, indicative of higher net finance costs associated with the increase in total debt
resuiting from the $1.2 billion in acquisition payments in 2017

The Company's approach to managing kquidity risk is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liguidity to meet labilities
when they are due The Company believes its iquidity will be satisfactory for the foreseeable future due to its significant
cash balances, its expected positive operating cash flow and the avaifabiity of its unused revolving credit line. The Company
anticipates funding all of its future commitments from the above sources but may raise further funds by entering into new
debt financing arrangements or issuing further equity to satisfy its future additional obligations or investment opportunities.

B) cCashFlow
Summary of Cash Flows

2017 2016
Cash provided by operating activities $ 711.2 k3 564 0
Cash provided by financung activities 733.0 4396
Cash used for investing activities (1,464.3) (796.8}
Etfect of exchange rates on cash (7.5) (27.4)
Increase (decrease) m cash und cash equivalents $ (27.6) $ 1794
Cash and cash equivalents ~ end of year $ 557.5 % 585.1

In 2017, cash provided by operating activities was $711.2 million, compared to $564.0 million in 2016. Free cash flow from
operations reached $438.3 million for 2017, compared to $338.6 million in the prior year. The free cash fiow from operations
was prnimarily attnibutable to an increase in cash flow from operations, partially offset by an increase in capital additions for
the year.

The Company maintains a rigorous focus on its investment in non-cash working capital. Days of working capital emplayed
(a non-IFRS measure, see "Key Performance Indicators and Non-iFRS Measures” in Section 5A) was 17 days at December 31,
2017, compared to 15 days at December 31, 2016. The increase in days working capital employed can be attributed to the
impact of acquired businesses in 2017 that did not manage their working capital as efficiently as the legacy businesses of
the Company.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2017 was $733.0 million, consisting of net debt borrowings of $802.1 rullion, primariy
used to finance the Innovia acquisition, and proceeds from the issuance of shares of $12.1 million due to the exercise of stock
options partally offset by dividend payments of $81 2 mithon In 2016, financing activities provided $439.6 million, primarily
for the acquisition of Checkpoint.

Cash used for mnvesting actvities n 2017 of $1,464.3 mithon was primanly for the acquisitions that totaled $1191.4 mithon
and net capital expenditures of $272.9 million (see balow) After the above noted tems and the $7.5 million effect of foreign
currency rates, cash and cash equivalents declined by $278 million in 2017 to $557.5 mifhon
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Capital spending in 2017 amounted to $2857 millien and proceeds from capital disposiions were $12 8 million, resulting in
net capital expenditures of $272.9 million, compared to $225.4 million in 2016, Net capital spending was slightly greater than
annual depreciation and amortization expense The Company is continuing to seek investment opportunities to expand its
business geographically, add capacity inits facilities and improve its competitiveness. As in previous years, capital spending
will be monttored closely and adjusted based on the level of cash flow generated. Depreciation and amortization in 2017
amounted to $259.2 million, compared to $203.7 million in 2016.

C) Interest Rate, Foreign Exchange Management and Other Hedges

The Company penodically uses derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate, foreign exchange and aluminum cost
risks. The Company does not utilize dervative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

As the Company operates internationally, less than 3% of its 2017 sales to end-use customers are denominated in Canadian
dollars, the Company has exposure to market risks from changes in foereign exchange rates. The Company partizlly manages
these exposures by contracting primarily in Canadian dollars, euros, UK pounds and U.S. doflars Additionally, each subsidiary’s
sales and expenses are primarily denominated in1its locat currency, further minimizing the foreign exchange impact on the
operating results The Company does not use financial instruments to hedge tts U.S. dollar foreign exchange risk.

The Company also has exposure to market risks related to interest rate fluctuations on its debt, To mitigate this risk, the
Company maintains a combination of fixed and floating rate debt.

The Company periodically uses interest rate swap agreements {"IRSAs”) to allocate notional debt between fixed and floating
rates. The Company balieves that a balance of fixed and floating rate debt can reduce overall interest expense and is in line
with its investment n short-term assets such as working capital, and long-term assets such ag property, plant and equipment.
The Company uses cross-currency interest rate swap agreements (“CCIRSA”) as a means to convert U.S. dollar debt into euro
debt to hedge a porticn of its euro-based investment and cash flows

As at December 31, 2017, the Company utilized CCIRSAs to effectively convert notionzal US$264.7 milion 3.25% fixed rate debt
into 1 23% fixed rate euro debt, hedging its euro-based assets and cash flows. The effect of the CCIRSAs has beento decrease
finance cost by $5 5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017

The Company 1s potentiatly exposed to oredit nsk ansing from derivative financial instruments if a counterparty fails to meet
its obligations. The Company's counterparties are large international financial institutions and, to date, no such counterparty
has failed to meet i1s financial obligations to the Company. As at December 31, 2017, the Company's exposure to credit risk
ansing from derivative financial instruments was $1.0 million.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had U5%$1,314.0 million, €155 8 miltion and £60.3 million drawn under the 144A private
bonds, private debt placements, term credit facility and revoiving credit facility, which are hedging a portion of its U.S dollar-
based, euro-based and pound sterling-based investments and cash flows.

D) Equity and Dividends

Summary of Changes in Equity

Lor the sears ended December 31 2017 2016
Net earnings $ 474.1 § 346.3
Dividends (80.8) {70.0)
Settlement ot exeraised stock options 18.0 6.8
Shares released from trust, net of purchase of shares for trust — {223
Contributed surplus on expensing of stock options and stock-based compensation plans 13.8 137
Dictined benetit plan actuarial gaimns (losses), net of tax 9.6 {(9.0)
Net impact of acquusitiont of non-contrelling interest — 0.4
Increase 1z accuunulated other comprehensive income {joss) {52.0} {1126)
Increase in equuty $ 382.7 $ 1533
Equity $ 2,157.9 $ 1,773 2
Shares issued at December 31 - Class A (000s) 11,837 11,837
— Class B (0095) 164,951 16111
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In 2017, the Company declared dividends of $80.8 million, compared to $70.0 million declared in the prior year As previously
discussed, the dividend payout ratio in 2017 was 17% (2016 - 18%) of adjusted earnings. After careful review of the current year
results, budgeted cash flow and income for 2018, the Board has declared a13.0% increase in the annual dividend: an increase
of $0.015 per Class B share per quarter, from $0.115 to $0.13 per Class B share per quarter ($0.52 per Class B share annualized)

tf cash flow perodically exceeds attractive acquisition opportumties available, the Company may also repurchase its shares
provided that the repurchase 1s accretive to earnings per share, is at a valuation equal to or lower than valuations for acquisition
cpportunities, and will not materially increase financial leverage beyond targeted levels. The Company did not repurchase
any of its shares for cancellation in 2017,

E) Commitments and Other Contractual Obligations
The Company’s obligations relating to debt, ieases and other liabilities at the end of 2017 were as follows:

December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016 Payments Due by Period
Carrung Carrying Contractual 0-6 6-12 1-2 2-5 More than
Amount Amount Cash Flows Months Months Years Years 5 Years
Non-dervative financial habilities
Secured bank loans ) LET ) 1.3 § 13 § 02 $ 02 $ 05 § 04 8§ —
Unsecured bank loans 14 6.5 6.5 2.8 2.9 0.6 0.2 —
Unsecured notes 173.0 162.0 162.0 — 162.0 — — —
Finance lease Liabilities 5.6 6.2 6.2 1.1 1.1 1.7 1.6 0.7
Unsecured Rule 1444 bonds 6621 620.3 620.3 - — — — 620.3
Unsecured syndicated bank
revolving credit faculity 736 6 1,015.1 1,015.1 — — — 1,015.1 —
Unsecured syndicated bank
term credit facility — 520.0 520.0 30.2 30.1 459.7 — —
Finance costs = * 2734 25.8 33.7 49.6 87.7 76.6
Trade and other pavables 8445 1,018.4 1,018.4 1,018.4 — — — —_
Accrued post-employment
benefit habibities - * 223.3*% 4.4 4.4 26.3 58.7 129.5
Operating teases — — 138.4 18.5 18.5 21.5 40.8 39.1
L otal contractual
cash obligations $ 24457 $3,3498 $3,9849 $1,1014 $ 2529 $ 5599 $1,2045 35 8662

*  Accrued long-term employee penefit and post-employment benefit liabidity of $10.1 mihen and accrued interest of $9.3 million on unsecured notes,
unsecured Rule 1444 bonds and unsecured syndicated credit famities are reported in trade and other payabies in 2017 {2016 - $786 muthon, $10 8 million
and nil, respectively).

Pension Obligations

The Company sponsors a number of defined benefit plans in countries that give rise to accrued post-employment benefit
obligations. The accrued benefit obligation for these plans at the end of 2017 was $696.6 million (2016 - $342.0 million)
and the fair value of the plan assets was $376.9 million {2016 - $66.5 muithon), for a net deficit of $3197 million (2016 -
$275.5 milion) Contributions to defined benefit plans during 2017 were $18.8 miilion (2016 - $7.9 mullion). The Company
expects to contnibute $42.8 million to the pension plans in 2018, inclusive of defined contribution plans. These estimated
funding requirements will be adjusted annually, based on various market factors such as terest rates, expected returns and
staffing assumptions, ncluding compensation and mortality The Company’s contributions are funded through cash flows
generated from operations. Management anticipates that future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund expected
future contributions. Details of the Company's pension plans and related obligations are set out in note 19, "Employee Benefits,”
of the consclidated financizai statements.

QOther Obligations and Commitments

The Company has provided various loan guarantees for its joint ventures and associates totaling $48 9 million (2016 -
$62.1 million). The Company has posted surety bonds through accredited insurance companies globally totaling $75.5 million
There are no cther matenal “off-balance sheet” fingncing obligations except for typical iong-term operating lease agreements.
The nature of these commitments 1s described in note 25 of the consolidated financial statements There are no defined
benefit plans funded with the Company's stock.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

F} Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that all relevant information s gathered and
reported to senior management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer {"CEQ") and the Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer ("CFQ"), on a timely basis so that appropriate decisions can be made regardig public disclosure,
The Company’s Disclosure Commuttee reviews ali external reports and documents before publication to enhance disclosure
controls and procedures

As at December 31, 2017, based on the conttinued evaluation of the disclosure controls and procedures, the CEO and the
CFC have concluded that the Company’s disciosure controls and procedures, as defined in National Instrument 52-108,
Certificate of Disclosure in Issuers Annual and Interim Filings ("N§ 52-1097), are effective to ensure that information required to
be disclosed in reports and documents that the Company files or submits under Canadian securities legisiation 1s recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified.

Internal control over financial reporting 1s designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabifity of financial
reporting and the preparation of financizl statements for external purposes in accordance with {FRS, Management 1s
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. NI 52-109 requires CEOs and
CFOs to certify that they are responsible for estabhishing and maintaining internal controt over financial reporting for the
issuer, that internal control has been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS, that the internal control over financial reporting is
effective, and that the sssuer has disclosed any changes in 1ts internal control during ts most recent interim: penod that has
matenally affected or 13 reasonably hkely to matenally affect its internat control over financial reporting.

In accordance with the provisions of Nt 52-109, management, including the Chief Executive Cfficer, and the Chief Financial
Officer, have Iimited the scope of their design of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting to exclude controls, policies and procedures of innovia. The Company acquired Innovia and its subsidiaries
on February 28, 2017

The Innovia acquisition contributed approximately 10.0% of sales per the Company's consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2017, .

The scope iimitation 1s primanly based on the time required to assess Innovias disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting in a manner consistent with the Company’s other operations. The assessment on
the design effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures and internat control over financial reporting is on track for
completion by the end of the first quarter of 2018 and the assessment of the operating effectiveness will be completed by
the fourth quarter of 2018.

Except for the preceding changes, based on the evaluation of the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s
internat control over financial repeorting, the CEQ and the CFO concluded that internal control over financial reporting was
effective as at December 31, 2017

There were no material changes 1n internal control over financial reporting in the financial year ended December 31, 2017

4. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company Is subject to the usual commaercial risks and uncertamties from operating as a Canadian public company and
a3 a suppler of goods and services to the non-durable consumer packaging and consumer durables industries on a globat
basts. A number of these potential risks and uncertaimties that could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial
condition and results of operations of the Company are as follows:

Potentia! Risks Relating to Significant Operations in Foreign Countries

The Company operates plants in North America, Europe, Latin America, Asia, Australia and the Middle East. Szles to customers
located outside of Canada in 2017 were 97% of the Company's total sales, a level similar to that in 2016 Non-Canadian
operating results are translated into Canadian dollars at the average exchange rate for the period covered. The Company has
significant operating bases in both the United States and Europe In 2017 39.5% and 33.6% of total sales were to customers
in the United States and Europe, respectively The Company’s operating results and cash flows could be negatively impacted
by slower or declining growth rates in these key markets. The sales from business units in Latin America, Asia, South Africa
and Australia in 2017 were 23 6% of the Company's total sales. In addition, the Company has equity accounted investments
In Russia, the United States and the Middie East There are risks associated with operating a decentralized crganization in
167 manufactuning facilities m countnies around the warld with a varety of different cultures and values Operatons outside
of Canada, the United States and Europe are perceived generally to have greater political and economic risks and nclude
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the Company’s operations in Latin Amenca, parts of Asia, Russia and the Middle East. These risks include, but are not mited
to, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, inflation, changes 1n foraign law and regulations, government nationalization
of certamn industries, currency controls, potential adverse tax consequences and locally accepted business practices and
standards that may not be simitar to accepted business practices and standards i North America and Europe. Although the
Company hag controls and procedures mtended to mitigate these risks, these risks cannot be entirely eliminated and may
have a matenal adverse effect on the consclidated financial results of the Company.

Competitive Environment

The Company faces competition from other supphers in all the markets in which 1t operates. There can be no assurance that
the Company will be able to compete successfully against its current or future competitors or that such competition will not
have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company. This competitive
environment may preclude the Company frem passing on higher material, labour and energy costs to its customers. Any
significant increase in in-house manufacturing by customers of the Company could adversely affect the business, financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. In addition, the Company's consolidated financial results may be
negatively impacted by competitors developing new products or processes that are of supenier quality to those of the
Company of that fit the Company’s customars’ needs better, or have lower costs; or by consolidation within the Company's
competitors or by further pricing pressure being placed on the industry by the large retall chains.

Foreign Exchange Exposure and Hedging Activities

Sales of the Company's products to customers outside Canada account for approximately 97% of the revenue of the Company.
Because the prices for such products are quoted in foreign currencies, any increase In the value of the Canadian doliar relative
to such currencies, in particular the U.S. doliar and the eure, reduces the amount of Canadian doliar revenues and operating
income raported by the Company in its consolidated financial statements. The Company alse buys inputs for its products
in world markeats in several currencies. Exchange rate fluctuations are beyond the Company’s control and there can be no
assurance that such fluctuations will not have a mater:al adverse effect on the reparted results of the Company The use of
dernvatives to provide hedges of certain exposures, such as interest rate swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and
aluminum futures contracts, could impact negatively on the Company’s operations

Retention of Key Personnel and Experienced Workforce

Management believes that an important competitive advantage of the Company has been, and will continue to be, the know-
how and expertise possessed by its personnef at ail jevels of the Company. While the machinery and equipment used by the
Company are generally available to competitors of the Company, the experience and training of the Company’s workforce
aliows the Company to obtain a level of efficiency and a level of flexibility that management believes to be high relative to
levels in the industries in which 1t competes. To date, the Company has been successful in recruting, traimning and retaining
its personnel over the long term, and while management believes that the know-how of the Company is widely distributed
throughout the Company. the {oss of the services of certain of Its experienced personnel could have a material adverse effect
on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

The operations of the Company are dependent on the abilmes, expenence and efforts of its senior management team. To date,
the Company has been successful in recrusting and retaining competent senior management. Loss of certain members of the
executive team of the Company could have a disruptive effect on the implementation of the Company's business strategy and
the efficient runming of day-to-day operations. This could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition
and resuits of operations of the Company.

Acquired Businesses

As part of its growth strategy, the Company continues to pursue acquisition opportunities where such transactions are
economically and strategically justified. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to identify
attractive acquisiion opportunities in the future or have the required resources to complete desrred acquisitions, or that
it will succeed in effectively managing the integration of acquired businesses The faidure to implement the acquisition
strategy, to successfully integrate acquired businesses or joint ventures inta the Company’s structure, or to control operating
performance and achieve synergies may have a matenal adverse effact on the bustness, financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

in addition, there may be hahilities that the Company has failed or was unable to discover in its due diligence prior to the
consummation of the acquisition. In particutar, to the extent that prior owners of acquired businesses falled to comply with
or otherwse violated applicable laws, including environmental laws, the Company, as a successor owner, may be financially
responsible for these violations. A discovery of any matenal habilities could have a matenal adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYS!S
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

Integration and Restructuring of Checkpoint

The Company acquired the global operations of Checkpoint on May 13, 2018, and immecdiately commenced detailed analysis
of the restructuring that would be required at Checkpoint. Checkpoint had 4,300 employees with operations in 29 countries
including 20 manufacturing piants and 46 go-to market units. The size, gecgraphic scope and complexity of Checkpoint’s
operations exceeded the typical acquisition of the Company and therefore the integration and restructuring nttiative has
been more complex and time consuming The initial assessment resulted 1n severance-related restructuring charges of
$35 5 million through to the end of 2017 The restructuring and integration plan is largely complete, however if these remaining
irstiatives are too significant there could be a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Long-Term Growth Strategy

The Company has expenenced sigrificant and steady growth since the global economic downturn of 2009. The Company’s
organic growth imitiatives caupled with its international acquisitions over the fast number of years can place a strain on a
number of aspects of its operating plaiform including. human infrastructure, operational capacity and information systems.
The Company’s abiity to continuatly adapt and augment all aspects of its operational platform is critical to realizing its
long-term growth strategy. Another key aspect to CCL's growth strategy includes increased development of the Company’s
presence in emerging markets that could create exposure to unstable pohtical conditions, economic volatdity and social
chalienges If the Company cannot adjust to its anticipated growth, results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

Lower than Anticipated Demand

Although the Checkpoint Segment enjoys the advantage of significantly lower customer concentration than the rest of the
Company, the Segment is heavily dependent on the retall marketpiace. Changes in the economic envirenment including the
liquidity and financial condstion of its customers, the impact of online customer spending or reductions in retader spending
and new store operungs could adversely affect the Segmeant’s sales. A reduction in the comimutment for chan-wide installations
due to decreased consumer spending that results in reduced demand for loss prevention by retail customers or fatlure by the
Segment to develop new technology that entices the customer to maintain its commitment to Checkpoint's loss prevention
products and services may also have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Exposure to Income Tax Reassessments

The Company operates in many countries throughout the world. Each country has its own income tax regulations and
many of these countries have additional income and other taxes apphed at state, provincial and local levels. The Company's
nternational investments are complex and subject to interpretation in each jurssdiction from a legal and tax perspective.
The Company’s tax filings are subject to audit by local authonties, and the Company’s positions 1n these tax filings may be
challenged The Company may not be successful In defending these pasitions and could be involved in lengthy and costly
littgation during this process and could be subject to additional income taxes, interest and penalties This outcome could
have a matenal adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Risks in Integrating and Restructuring tnnovia

The Company acquired the global operations of Innovia on February 28, 2017, and immediately commenced an integration
and restructuring initiative. innovia had 1,200 employees with six manufacturing facilities in four countries supplying BOPP
films and polymer banknotes globally. The size, geographic scope and complexity of innowia’s operations exceed the
typical acquisition of the Company and therefore the integration and restructuring imitiative may be more complex and time
consurming. A fallure to integrate and restructure the acquired business in a imely and effective manner, could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Realization of Deferred Tax Assets

The Company needs to generate sufficient taxable mncome in future penods in certain foreign and domestic tax junsdictions
to reahze the tax benefit if thare is 3 significant change in the time period within which the underlying temporary difference
or losa carry-forwards become taxable or deductible, the Company may have to revise its unrecognized deferred tax assets
This could result In an increase in the effective tax rate and could have a matenal adverse effect on future resuits. Changes
in statutory tax rate may change the deferred tax asset or hability, with either a positive or negative impact on the effective
tax rate. The computation and assessment of the ability to realize the deferred tax asset balance is complex and requires
significant judgment. New legislation or a change in underlying assumptions may have a matenal adverse effect on the
business, financial condition and results of the Company.
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Fiuctuations in Operating Results

While the Company’s operating results over the past several years have indicated a general upward trend 1n sales and net
earnings, operating results within particular product forms, within particular facilities of the Company and within particular
geographic markets have undergone fluctuations in the past and, i management's view, are likely to do so in the future.
Operating results may fluctuate in the future as a result of many factors in addition to the global economic conditions, and
these factors inciude the volume of orders recewved relative to the manufacturing capacity of the Company, the level of price
competition (from competing suppliers both i domestic and in other lower-cost jurisdictions}), variations in the level and
timing of ordars, the cost of raw matenals and energy, the ability to develop innovative soiutions and the mix of revenue
derived in each of the Company’s businesses. Operating results may also be impacted by the inability to achieve planned
volumes through normal growth and successful renegotiation of current contracts with customers and by the inability to
deliver expected benefits from cost reduction programs derived from the restructuring of certain business units. Any of
these factors or a combination of thase factors could have a matenial adverse effect on the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Insurance Coverage

Management believes that insurance coverage of the Company’s facilities addresses all matenal insurable risks, provides
coverage that is simiar to that which would be maintained by a prudent owner/operator of simiar facilities and is subject
to deductibles, imits and exclusions that are customary or reasanabie given the cost of procuring insurance and current
operating conditions. However, there can be no assurance that such insurance wil continue to be offered on an economically
feasible basis or at current premium fevels, that the Company will be able to pass through any increased premium costs or that
alt events that could give rise to a loss or lability are insurable, or that the amounts of insurance will at all times be sufficient
to cover each and every loss or claim that may cccur involving the assets or operations of the Company

Brexit

In a non-binding referendum on the United Kingdom’s membership in the European Union (“E.U7) in June 2016, 2 majority of
those who voted approved the United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Umion Any withdrawal by the United Kingdom
from the European Umon {"Brexit"} would occur after, or possibly concurrently with, a process of negotiation regarding the
future terms of the United Kingdom's relationship with the E.U., which could result in the U.K. losing access to certain aspects
of the single E.U. market and the global trade deals negotiated by the E.U. on behalf of its members. The Brexit vote and
the perceptions as to the iImpact of the withdrawal of the U.K. may adversely affect business activity, poltical stability and
ecanomic conditions in the UK., the Eurozone, the E.U. and elsewheare. The econemic outicok could be further adversely
affected by (1) the nisk that one or more other E U countnias could come under :ncreasing pressure to leave the £.U, (1) the
rsk of a greater demand for independence by Scottish natienalists, or {n) the nisk that the eurc as the single currency of the
Eurozone cauld cease to exist or {Iv} the risk that movements in the U K. pound exchange rates related to Brexit could damage
competitiveness or profitability as a sigrificant portion of the Company’s UK. sales are priced in 1.5. dollars and euros. Any
of these developments, or the perception that any of these developments are likely to occur, could have a material adverse
effect on econemic growth or business activity 1n the UK, the Eurozone or the E.U. and could result in the relocation of
businesses, cause business interruptions, lead to economic recession ar depression, and impact the stability of the financial
markets, availability of credit, political systems or financial institutions and the financial and monetary system. Given that
the Company conducts a significant partion of its business in the E.U. and the U.K_, any of these developments could have a
maternial adverse effect on the business, financial position, bquidity and resuits of operaticns of the Company.

Impacts from Changes to NAFTA

The governments of the United States, Canada and Mexico are currently renegotiating the terms of the existing North
American Free Trade Agreement ("NAFTA”). These negotiations have the potential to significantly change the existing trade
rules as currently exist between those countries Changes that imst access to LS. markets, or that preferentially favour U.5,
industries or that otherwise negatively impact the competitiveness of the Company’s praducts could have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s busimess, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, i changes to NAFTA or other
trade laws were institutad that [imited the Company’s access to the materiais or products necessary for such manufacturing
operations, the Company’s ability to meet its customers’ specifications and delivery requirements would be reduced Any
such reduction in the Company's ability to meet its customers’ specifications and delivery requirements couid have a matenal
adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Also, significant changes to NAFTA or
the termination of NAFTA could create significant uncertainty and could have a maternial adverse effect on economic growth
and business activity in those countnies and impact the stability of the financial markets and any of these developments could
have a material adverse effect an the Company’s business, financial position, hquidsty and resulis of cperations.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (Tabular amounts in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share data)

Dependence on Customers

The Company has a modest dependence on certain customers The Company’s two largest customers combined accounted
for approximately 8.4% of the cansolidated revenue for the fiscal year 2017. The five iargest customers of the Company
represented approximately 16.5% of the total revenue for 2017 and the 25 largest customers represented approximately 38.6%
of the total revenue. Severa! thousand customers make up the remainder of total revenue. Although the Company has strong
partnership relationships with 1ts customers, there can be no assurance that the Company will maintain its relationship with
any particular customer or continue to prowide services to any particular customer at current levels. A loss of any significant
customer, or a decrease In the sales to any such customer, could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial
condition and results of operations of the Company. Consolidation within the consumer products marketer base and office
retail superstores could have a negative impact on the Company’s business, depending on the nature and scope of any such
consolidation

Environmental, Health and Safety Requirements and Other Considerations

The Company is subject to numerous federal, provincial, state and municipal statutes, reguiations, by-laws, guidelines and
pohcies, as well as permits and other approvals related to the protection of the environment and workers’ health and safety.
The Company maintains active health and safety and environmentat programs for the purpose of preventing injuries to
employees and poliution incidents at its manufacturing sites. The Company also carries out a program of environmental
compliance audits, including an independent third-party pollution Lability assessment for acquisitions, to assess the adequacy
of compliance at the operating level and to establish provisions, as reaquired, for environmential site remediation plans The
Company has environmental insurance for most of its operating sites, with certain exclusions for historical matters.

Despite these programs and insurance coverage, further proceedings or inguirtes from regutators on employee health and
safety requirements, particularly in Canada, the United States and the European Economic Community (coliectively, the
“EHS Requirements”), could have a matenal adverse effect on the business, financral condition and results of operations of
the Company. In addition, changes to existing EHS Requirements, the adoption of new EMS Requirementis in the future, or
changes to the enforcement of EHS Requirements, as well as the discovery of additional or unknown conditions at faciiities
owned, operated or used by the Company, could require expenditures that might materially affect the business, financal
condition and results of operations of the Company to the extent not covered by indemnity, insurance or covenant not to
sue. Furthermore, while the Company has generally benefited from increased regulations on its customers’ products, the
demand for the services or products of the Company may be adversely affected by the amendment or repeal of laws ar by
changes to the enforcement policies of the regulatory agencies concerning such laws.

Operating and Product Hazards

The Company's revenues are dependent on the continued operation of its faciities and its customers. The operation of
manufacturing plants involves many risks, including the {atlure or substandard performance of equipment, natural disasters,
suspension of operations and new governmental statutes, regulations, guidelines and policies The total loss of certain of
our manufacturing plants could have a signsficant financial impact on the affected business segment, particularly where the
plant represents a single or significant source of supply. The operations of the Company and its customers are aiso subject
to various hazards incidental to the production, use, handling, processing, storage and transportation of certain hazardous
matenials. These hazards can cause personal injury, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment and
environmental damage. Furthermore, the Company may become subject to claims with respect to workplace exposure,
workers’ compensation and other matters The Company's pharmaceutical and specialty food product operations are subject
to stringent federal, state, provincial and local health, food and drug reguiations and controls, and may be impacted by
consumer product lability claims and the possible unavailabitity and/or expense of hability insurance. The Company prints
information on its {abels and containers that, if incorrect, could give nse to product lrability claims, A determination by
apphcable regulatory authorities that any of the Company’s facilities are not in compliance with any such regulations or
controls in any material respect may have a material adverse effect on the Company. A successful product liabihity claim
{or a seres of claims) against the Company in excass of s Insurance coverage could have a matenal adverse effect on the
business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company. There can be no assurance as to the actual amount of
these liabilities or the timing thereof, The occurrence of material operational problems, including, but not limited to, the above
events, could have a matenal adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company
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The Timing and Volume of New Banknote Orders

The CCL Secure banknote substrate operation is dependent on government procurement decisions and the volume and
timing of new or replacement banknote orders is often uncertain. These decisions can be influenced by many political factors
that could delay or reduce the votume of banknote orders. The impact of new large volume banknote orders may result in the
Company having to invest in material capital projects to support government procurement decisions. As a result, volatility
may be created in the cash flows and in the financial resuits of the CCL Secure operations and could have a material adverse
effect on the financial condttion of the Company.

Decline in Address Mailing Labels

Since the advent of e-malt, traditional mad volumes have declined and more significantly over the past decade. Address fabels
used for traditional mail has historically been a core product for the Avery business. There 1s a direct correlation of address
label sales volumas to the quantity of mailin circulation in each of the markets in which Avery operates. Accordingly, a further
dramatic dechne in traditional mad volume, without the introduction of offsetting new consumer printable med:a applications
in Avery, could have a matenal adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Product Security

CCL Secure's banknote substrate business is involved in high security applications and must maintain highly secured facilities
and product shipments CCL Secure maintains vigorous security and matenial control procedures. All employees, guests and
third party contractors with access to facilities and products are prudently screened and monitored. However, the loss of a
product, counterfeiting of a high security feature or the breach of a secured facility as a result of neghgence, coliusion or
theft 1s possible. Loss of product whilstin transit, particularly during transshipment, through the farlure of freight management
companies of the loss of the shipment vehicle by accident or act of God is possible Consequently, the financial damage and
potential reputational impairment on CCL Secure may have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Financial Reporting

The Company prepares 1ts financial reports in accordance with accounting policies and methods prescribed by IFRS In the
preparation of financial reports, management may need to rely upon assumptions, make estimates or use their best judgment
In determiming the financial condition of the Company. Significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the
notes to the Company's annual consohdated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017. tn order to have a
reasonable level of assurance that financial transactions are properly authornized, assets are safeguarded against unauthorized
or improper use and transactions are properly recorded and reported, the Company has imptemented and continues to
analyze 11s internal contral systems for financial reporting. Although the Company believes that its financial reporting and
financial statements are prepared with reasonable safeguards to ensure rehizhility, the Company cannot provide absolute
assurance in that regard.

Compliance with Anti-Bribery and Export Laws

Due to the Company’s global operations, the Company is subject to many laws governing international relations, including
those that prohibit improper payments to government officials and commercial custamers, and which may restrict where the
Company can do business, what informatien or products the Company can supply to certain countries and what information
the Company can provide to foraign governments, including but not imited to the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public
Officials Act ("CFPOA™), the U S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act and the U 8 Export Administration
Act. The Company’s policies mandate compliance with these anti-bribery laws. The Company operates in many parts of the
world that have experienced governmental corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances, strict comphance with
anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. Given the high level of complexity of these faws, there 1s a risk
that some provisions may be madvertently or intentionally breached, for example through fraudulent or negligent behavior
of Individual employees, the Company’s fallure to comply with certain formal documentation requirements or otherwise.
Additionaily, the Company may be held liabie for actions tzken by local dealers and partners. If the Comgpany 1s found to be
liable for CFPOA, FCPA or other violations (either due to the Company’s own acts or through inadvertence, or due to the acts
or inadvertence of others), the Company could suffer from cwvil and crimimal penalties or other sanctions, which could have
a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, and resuits of operations.
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New Product Pevelopments

Markets are continually evolving based on the ingenuity of the Company and its competitors, consumer preferences and
new product identification and information technologies. To the extent that any such new developments result in 2 decrease
in the use of any of the Company’s products, a matersal adverse effect on the financial condition and results of operations
could occur.

Checkpoint's ability to create new products and to sustain existing products is affected by whether the Company can
develop and fund tachnological innovations, such as those related to the next generation of product solutions, evelving
RFiD technologies, and other innovative security devices, software and systems initiatives. The fallure to develop and launch
successful new products could have a matenal adverse effect on Checkpeint's business, financial condition and resuits of
operahions

Although the Innovia Segment has a unique manufacturing process for its BOPP and CCL Secure is the leading manufacturer
of polymer bank note substrate, it is dependent on its ability to constantly evolve the technological capabilities of its products
to meet the demands of its customer base. New scientific advancements in polymer film manufacturing could curtall the
use of Innovia’s BOPP, while the advancement of e-commerce and cashless societies may cutmode the need for polymer
banknotes. Failure to invest in intellectual properties and perpetually innovate may result in lower demand for fitlms and
banknote substrate and could have a materal adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Labour Relations

While labour relations between the Company and its employees have keen stable in the recent past and there have been
no material disruptions in operations as a result of labour disputes, the maintenance of a productive and efficient labour
environment cannot be assured. Accordingly, a strike, lockout or detenoration of labour relationships coutd have a material
adverse effect on the businass, financial condition and results of eperations of the Company

Legal Proceedings

Any alleged failure by the Company to comply with applicable laws and regulations in the countries of ocperation may lead
to the imposition of fines and penalties or the denial, revocation or delay in the renewal of permits and licenses issued by
governmental authorities in addition, governmental authorities, as well as third parties, may claim that the Company is liable
for environmental damages A significant judgment against the Caompany, the loss of a significant permit or other approval
or the imposition of a sigruficant fine or penalty could have a matenal adverse effect an the business, financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Moreover, the Company may from time to time be notified of claims that it may be infringing patents, copyrights or other
intellectual property nights owned by other third parties. Any litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of
resources, and could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the
Company. [n the future, third parties may assert infringement claims against the Company or its customers. In the event of
an mfringement claim, the Company may be reguired to spend a significant amount of maney to develop a nen-infringing
alternative or to obtain icenses The Company may not be succassful in developing such an alternative or obtaining a heense
on reasonable terms, if at all In addition, any such litigation could be lengthy and costly and could have a material adverse
effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company

The Company may also be subject to ¢claims arising from its failure to manufacture a product 1o the specifications of its
customers or from personal injury arising from a consumer’s use of a product or component manufactured by the Company
While the Company will seek indemnity from its customers for clatms made against the Company by consumers, and while
the Company mamntains what management believes to be apprognate levels of insurance to respend to such claims, there
can be no assurance that the Company will be fully indemnified by its customers or that insurance coverage will continue
to be avaliable or, if available, wilt be adequate to cover all costs arising from such claims In addition, the Company could
become subject to claims redating to its prior or acquired businesses, including environmental and tax matters, or claims by
third parties, such as distributors or agents There can be no assurance that Insurance coverage will be adequate to cover
all costs arising from such claims.

Defined Benefit Post-Employment Plans

The Company I1s the sponsor of a number of defined benefit plans in ten countrias that give rise to accrued post-employment
benefit obligations. Although the Company believes that its current financial resources combined with 1its expected future
cash flows from operations and returns on post-employment plan assets will be sufficient to satisfy the obligations under
these plans in future years, the cash outflow and higher expenses associated with these plans may be higher than expected
and may have a matenal adverse impact on the financial condition of the Company.
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Breach of Legal and Regulatory Requirements

CCL Secure’s banknote substrate operation has the highest accreditation within the security printing industry. This
accreditation provides governments and Central Banks with assurance in respect of safeguarding high ethical standards and
business practices, Violation of CCL Secure’s highly strict requirements and constant detailed oversight in relation to bribery,
corruption and anti-competitive activities remains a risk in an industry expecting the highest ethical standards. Conseguently,
the financial damage and potential reputational impairment on CCL Secure which could anse if the standards and practices
are compromised or perceived to have been compromised, may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Material Disruption of Information Technology Systems

The Company is increasingly dependent on information technalogy (7IT”) systems to manufacture its products, process
transactions, respond to customer questions, manage inventory, purchase, sell and ship goods on 2 timely basis and maintam
cost-efficient operations as well as maintain its e-commerce websites, Any material disruption or slowdown of the systems,
including a disruption or slowdown caused by the Company's failure to successfully upgrade its systems, system failures,
viruses or other causes could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations
of the Company. If changes in technology cause the Company’'s information systems to become obsolete, or if information
systems are madequate to handle growth, the Company could incur losses and costs due to interruption of its operations

The Company maintains information within its [T networks and on the cloud to aperate its business, as well as confidentia!
personal empicyee and customer information. The secure maintenance of this nformation s entical to the Company’s
operations and reputation. The Company invests in hardware and software to prevent the risk of intrusion, tampering and theft.
Any such unauthorized breach of the IT infrastructure could compromise the data maintained, causing a significant disruption
it operations or meaningful harm to the Company's reputation, resuling in 2 matenal adverse effect on financial results

Impairment in the Carrying Value of Goodwill and Indefinite-Life Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2017, the Company had over $2.0 billion of goodwill and indefinite-lifg intangible assets on its statement
of financial position, the value of which i1s reviewed for impairment at least annually. The assessment of the value of goodwill
and imtangible assets depends on a number of key factors requiring estimates and assumptions about earnings growth,
operating margins, discount rates, economic projections, anticipated future cash flows and market capitalization. There can
be no assurance that future reviews of goodw:ll and intangible assets will not result in an impairment charge. Although it does
not affect cash flow, an iImpairment charge does have the effect of reducing the Company’s earnings, total assets and equity

Raw Materials and Component Parts

Although the Company 1s a large customer to certain key suppliers. it 15 also an inconsequential buyer of some materials.
The abibity to grow earnings will be affected by inflationary and other increases in the cost of electronic sub-assemblies and
raw materials, aluminum ingot, slugs and foils, resins, extruded films, pressure sensitive laminates, paper, binder nings and
plastic components. Infiationary and other increases in the costs of raw materials, labour and energy have occurred in the past
and are expected to recur, and the Company’s performance depends in part on its abihty to pass these cost increases on to
customers in the price of its products and to effect improvements in productivity. The Company may not be able to fully offset
the effects of raw material costs and other sourced components through price increases, productivity tmprovements or cost-
reduction programs If the Company cannot obtain sufficient quantiies of these items at competitive prices, of appropriate
quality and on a timely basis, It may not be able to produce sufficient quantities of product to satisfy market demand, product
shipments may be delaved, or its material or manufacturing costs may increase Innovia is sensitive to price movements in
polypropylene resin used in its BOPP films for (abel, packaging and secunty applications. Polypropylene is the most significant
input cost for the innovia Segment and is traded in the market, with prices Iinked to the market price of natural gas and
refining capacity. Price movements must be managed and where necessary, passad along to the Segment’s customers.
Faidure to pass along higher costs in a timely and effective manner to its customers could have a material adverse effect
on the Innovia Segment’s business and profitability. Checkpeint’s supply chain relies significantly on components sourced
from factories in Asia therefore supply disruption and tanff changes could adversely affect sales and profitability, Avery’s
U S. supply chain relies almost compietely on its plant in Tyuana, Mexico, supply disruption, changes to border controls ar
NAFTA could adversely affect sales and profitability, Qvarall, any of these preblems could result i the loss of customers and
revenue, provide an opportunity for competing products ta gain market acceptance and have a material adverse effect an
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Credit Ratings

The credit ratings currently assigned to the Company by Moody's Investors Service and S&P Global, or that may in the future
be assigned by other rating agencies, are subject to amendment in accordance with each agency's rating methodology and
subjective modifiers driving the credit rating opinion. There 1s no assurance that any rating assigned to the Company will
remain i effect for any given penad of time or that any rating will not be revised or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency in
the future. A downgrade in the credit rating assigned by one or more rating agencies could increase the Company’s cost of
borrowing or impact the Company's ability 1o renegotiate debt, and may have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s
financial condition and profitabdity.

Share Price Volatility

Changes in the Company’s stock price may affect access to, or cost of, financing from capital markets and may affect stock-
based compensation arrangements. The Company’s stock price has appreciated significantly over the last five years and 1s
influenced by the financial resuits of the Company. changes in the overall stock market, demand for equity securities, relative
peer group performance, market expectation of future financial performance and competitive dynamics among many other
things. There 1s no assurance that the Company's share price wili not be volatile in the future.

Increase in Interest Rates

At December 31, 2017, approximately 86% of the Company’s outstanding debt was subject to variable interest rates. Increases
in short-term interest rates would directly impact interest costs. Significant increases in short-term interest rates will Increase
borrowing costs and could have a matenal adverse impact on the financia! results of the Company.

Protection of Intellectual Property

Ceartain of the Company’s products involve complex technology and chemistry and the Company relies on maintaining
protection of this intellectual property and proprietary information to maintain a competitive advantage The infringement,
expiration or other loss of these patents and other proprietary information would reduce the barriers to entry into the
Company's existing lines of business and may resultin loss of market share and a decrease in the Company’s competitiveness,
which could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. There also can
be no assurance that the patents previously ebtained or to be obtained by the Company in the future will prowide adequate
protection of such intellectual property or adeguately maintain any competitive advantage.

Dividends

The declaration and payment of dividends 1s subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors taking into account current
and anticipated cash flow, capital requirements, the general financial condition of the Company and global economy as
well as the various risk factors set out above. The Board of Directors intends to pay a consistent dividend with consistent
mcreases over time, however, the Board of Directors may in certain circumstances determine that it 1s in the best interests
of the Company to reduce or suspend the dividend, In that situation the trading price of the Company’s Class A and Class B
shares may be materially affected.

5. ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NON-IFRS MEASURES

A) Key Performance Indicators and Non-IFRS Measures

CCi. measures the success of the business using a number of key performance indicators, many of which are in accordance
with iFRS as described throughout this report. The following perfarmance indicators are not measurements in accordance with
iIFRS and should not be considered as an aiternative to or replacement of net earnings or any other measure of performance
under IFRS. These non-IFRS measures do not have any standardized meaning and may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other issuers. In fact, these additional measures are used to provide added nsight into the Company’s resuits
and are concepts often seen in external analysts’ research reports, financlal covenants in banking agreements and note
agreements, purchase and sales contracts on acquisttions and divestitures of the business, and in discussions and reports to
and from the Company’s shareholders and the investment community. These non-IFRS measures will be found throughout this
report and are referenced alphabetically in the definition section below.

Adjusted Basic Earnings per Class B Share - An important non-IFRS measure to assist in understanding the ongoing earnings
performance of the Company, excluding items of a one-time or non-recurring nature. It 1s not considered a substitute for basic
net earnings per Class B share, but it does provide additional insight into the ongoing financial results of the Company. This
non-tFRS measure is defined as basic net earnings per Class B share excluding gains on dispositions, goodwill impairment loss,
restructuring and other iterns and tax adjustments.
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Earnings per Class B Share

Fourth Quarter Year to Date

2017 2016 2017 2016

Basic earnings ) 0.97 $ 0.56 $ 2.70 % 198

Net {gam) loss from restructuring and other tents —* 0.03 0.07 015
Non-cash acquisition accounting adjustment

Lo finished goods mventon — — 0.06 015

TCIA remeasurement of deferred tax on
indefinsic hife intangibles {0.14) — (0.14) —
Adjusted basic earnings $ 0.83 $ 0.59 $ 2.69 $ 2,28

* Tne net after-tax impact of restructuring and other wems was nominal

Days of Working Capital Employed - A measure indicating the relative iquidity and asset intensity of the Company’s working
capital. It 15 calculated by multiplying the net working capital by the number of days in the quarter and then dividing by the
guarterly sales Net working capital includes trade and other receivables, mventories, prepaid expenses, trade and other
payables, and income taxes recoverable and payable. The following table reconciles the net working capital used in the days
of working capital employed measure to IFRS measures reported in the consolidated statements of financial position as at
the periods ended as indicated.

Days of Working Capital Employed

Al Devember 31 2017 20i6
Trade and other receivables $ 821.3 $ 6723
inventories 4251 3515
Prepaid expenses 336 258
income taxes recoverable 13.1 6.2
Trade and other payables (1,018.4) (844.5)
income taxes payable (50.7) (58.3)
Net working capital $ 224.0 3 173.

Days in quarter 92 92
Fourth quarter sales $ 1,234.5 $ 1,058.4
Pravs of working capital employed i7 15

Dividend Payout - The ratio of earmings paid cut to the shareholders It provides an indication of how well earnings support
the dividend payments Dividend payout s defined as dividends declared divided by earnings, exclucing goodwill tmpairment
loss, restructuring and other tems, and tax adjustments, expressed as a percentage.

Duvidend Payout Ratio
Year-to Date
2017 2016
Dividends declared per equity $ 80.8 $ 70,0
Adjusted earmngs $ 471.7 $ 399.2
Dividend pavout ralio 17% 18%
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Earnings per Share Growth Rate ~ A measure indicating the percentage change in adjusted basic earnings per Class B share
(see definition above).

EBITDA - A critical financial measure used extensively in the packaging industry and other industries to assist in understanding
and measuring operating results. It 15 also considered as a proxy for cash flow and a facilitator for business valuations. This
non-IFRS measure is defined as earnings before net finance cost, taxes, depreciation and amortization, goodwill imparrment
loss, earnings 1 equity accounted investments, non-cash acquisition accounting adjustments, restructuring and other itemns.
The Company believes that EBITDA 15 an important measure as it allows the assessment of the Company’s ongoing business
without the impact of net finance costs, depreciation and amaortization and income tax expenses, as weli as non-operating
factors and one-time items. As a proxy for cash flow, it is intended to indicate the Company’s ability to incur or service debt
and to mnvest in property, plant and equipment, and it aillows comparison of the Company’s business to that of its peers and
competitors who may have different capital or organizational structures. EBITDA is a measure tracked by financial analysts
and investors to evaluate financial performance and is a key metric in business valuations. EBITDA is considered an important
measure by ienders to the Company and is included in the financial covenants for the Company’s bank lines of credit.

The following table reconciles EBITDA measures to IFRS measures reported in the consclidated income statements for the
periods ended as indicated.

EBITDA
Fowrth Quaiter Y ear-io-Flate
2017 2016 2017 2016
Net earnmgs $ 169.4 3 983 3 474.1 $ 346.3
Corporate expense 12.6 114G 52.7 482
Earmings in equuty accounted mvestrments (1.3) (1.2) (3.7) (+.5)
Finance cost, net 23.8 12.2 75.2 379
Restructuring and other items - net toss (gain) (4.2) 67 11.3 36
income taxes 4.8 33.6 127.9 140 8
$ 205.1 $ 160.6 3 737.5 $ 603.3
Less Corporate expense (12.6) (110} (52.7) {48.2}
Add Depreciation and amortization 66.5 347 259.2 2037
Add' Non-cash accounting adjustment
to finished goods inventory — — 15.2 339
EBITDA {a non-IFRS measure) $ 259.0 3 243 $ 959.2 3 792.7

free Cash Flow from Operations - A measure indicating the relative amount of cash generated by the Company during the
year and available to fund dividends, debt repayments and acquisihons It s calculated as cash flow from operations less
capital expenditures, net of proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment.

The following table reconciles the measure of free cash flow from operations to IFRS measures reported in the consolidated
statements of cash flows for the periods ended as indicated

Free Cash Flow from Operations

2017 2016
Cash provided by operating activities $ 711.2 % 5640
Less. Additions to properly, plant and equipment (285.7) (234.7)
Add Proceeds on chsposal of property, plant and equipment 12.8 9.3
Free cash flow from operations $ 438.3 b 3386
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Interest Coverage - A measure indicating the relative amount of operating income earned by the Company compared to the
amount of net finance cost incurred by the Company. Itis calculated as operating income {see definition below), including
discontinued 1tems, less corporate expense, divided by net finance cost on a twelve-month rolling basis

The following table reconciles the intarest coverage measufe te IFRS measures reported in the conschdated income
staternents for the periods ended as indhcated.

Interest Coverage

2017 2016

Operating mcome (a non-1FRS measere, see defimtion below) $ 737.5 $ 6033
Less: Corporate expense (52.7) (48.2)
L] 684.8 $ 5551

Net finance cost $ 75.2 3 379
Interest coverage 9.1 116

Leverage Ratio {or “net debt to EBITDA™) - A measure that indicates the financial leverage of the Company. It indicates the
Company'’s ability to service its existing debt.

Net Debt - A measure indicating the financial indebtedness of the Company, assuming that all cash on hand 1s used to repay
a portion of the outstanding debt. It is defined as current debt including cash advances, plus long-term debt, less cash and
cash equivalents,

Operating Income - A measure indicating the profitability of the Company’s business units defined as income before corporate
expenses, net finance costs, goodwill impairment loss, earnings in equity accounted investments, restructuring and other
items, and tax.

See the definition of EBITDA above for a reconciliation of operating income measures to IFRS measures reported in the
consohdated income statements for the periods ended as indicated.

Restructuring and Other Items and Tax Adjustments — A measure of significant non-recurring items that are included 1n net
earnings. The impact of restructuring and other items and tax adjustments on a per share basis is measured by dividing the
after-tax iIncome of the restructuring and other items and tax adjustments by the average number of shares cutstanding in
the relevant period. Management will continue to disclose the impact of these tems on the Company’s results because the
timing and extant of such items do not reflect or relate to the Company’s ongoing operating performance. Management
evaluates the operating income of its Segments before the effect of these items

Return on Equity before goodwill impairment loss, restructuring and other items and tax adjustments (“ROE”) - A measure
that provides insight into the effective use of shareholder capital in generating ongoing net earnings ROE 1s calculated by
dwiding annual net earnings before goodwiil impairment loss, restructuring and other items, non-cash acquisition accounting
adjustments, and tax adjustments by the average of the beginning and the end-of-year equity.

The following table reconciles net earnings used in calculating the ROE measure to IFRS measures reported in the consolidated
statements of financial position and 1n the consolidated income statements for the periods ended as indicated.

Return on Eguity

Year to Dare

2017 2016
Net eariungs $ 474.1 $ 346.3
Restructuring and other items, (net of tax) 11.6 278
Non -cash acquisition accounting adjustment to finished goods mventory. (net of tax) 11.0 251
TCJA remeasurement of deferred lax on acguisition xtangibles (25.0) —
Adjusted net earmings $ 471.7 b 3992
Average equity $ 1,966.6 % 16985
Return on equty 24.0% 23.5%
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Return on Total Capital before goodwill impairment loss, restructuring and other items and tax adjustments (“ROTC") - A
measure of the returns the Company s achieving on capital employed. ROTC is calculated by dividing annual net income
before goodwill imparment loss, restructuning and other items, non-cash acguisition accounting adjustments, and tax
adjustments by the average of the beginning- and the end-of-year equity and net debt.

The following table reconciles net earnings used in calculating the ROTC measure to IFRS measures reported in the
consolidated statements of financial position and in the consclidated income statements for the perods ended as indicated.

Return on Total Capital

Year-to-Ihte

2017 2016

Nel earnings $ 474.1 $ 346.3

Restructuning and other items {net ot tax) 11.7 278

Non-cash acquisiion accounting adjustment to finished goods inventory (net of tax) 10.9 25.1

TCIA remeasurement of deferted tax on indefinite hiv mtangibles (25.0) —

Adjusted net earnings $ 471.7 $ 3992

Average tolal capital $ 3,361.6 & 2,506.6
Return on total capital 14.0% 15.9%

Return on Sales - A measure indicating relative profitability of sales to customers. It 15 defined as operating income (see
definition above} divided by sales, expressed as a percentage.

The following table reconcites the return on sales measure to {FRS measures reported in the consolidated staterments of
earnings in the sagmented information per note 4 of the Company's annual financial statements for the periods ended
as indicated

Return on Sales

three Months Firded twehie Montns [nded
Diecemboer 31 Trevenber 31
2017 2016 2017 2016
Sales
CCL $ 733.9 3 631 8 $ 2,823.1 $ 24976
Avery 171.0 180.5 752.7 7877
Checkpeint 192.3 190.9 675.2 439.0
innovia 91.2 — 308.2 —
Container 46.1 55.2 196.3 2304
Total sales $ 1,234.5 $ 1,058.4 $ 4,755.7 $ 39747
Operating imcome
CCL 3 126.4 $ 90.7 $ 444.8 % 3780
Avery 40.7 35.5 164.5 166 8
Checkpuoint 309 273 87.4 28.2
tnnovia 0.1 - 14.6 —
Container 7.0 7. 26.2 30.3
Total operating income $ 205.1 $ 166.6 $ 737.5 4 603.3
Return on sales
CCL 17.2% 14.4% 15.8% 15.1%
Avery 23.8% 16 7o 21.8% 21.20
Chechpont 16.1% 14.3% 12.9% 6.1%
[nnovia 0.1% — 4,7% —
Containa 15.2% 1299 13.3% 132%
Total return on sales 16.6% 15.2% 15.5% 15.2%
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Total Debt - A measure indicating the financial indebtedness of the Company. It 1s defined as current debt, including bank
advances, plus long-term debt

B) Accounting Policies and New Standards

Accounting Policies

The above analysis and discussion of the Company’s financial condition and results of operation are based on its consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is set out in note 3 of the consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued New Accounting Standards, Not Yet Effective

In July 2014, the compiete IFRS 9, Financial Instruments ("IFRS 9), was issued by the IASB. IFRS 9 introduces new reguirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets. Under IFRS 8, financiat assets are classified and measured based
on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. The standard introduces
additional changes relating to financial liabilities. It also amends the impairment model by introducing a new ‘expected
credit loss’ model for calculating impairment. IFRS @ also includes a new general hedge accounting standard that aligns
hedge accounting more closely with risk management. This new standard dces not fundamentally change the types of
hedging relationships or the requirement to measure and recognize ineffectiveness; however, it will provide for more hedging
strategies that are used for risk management to qualify for hedge accounting and introduce more Jjudgment to assess the
effectiveness of a hedqing relationship. This standard s effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018,
The Company has completed i1ts evaluation and concluded the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements was
immaterial on opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2018.

In May 2014, 1FRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers {*IFRS 157), was issued and provides guidance on the timing
and amount of revenue that should be recognized and also requires more informative and relevant disclosures. The standard
provides a single. principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers This standard 1s effective
for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2018. The Company has completed 1ts evaluation and concluded the impact of
IFRS 15 on its consotidated financial statements was immatenal on opering retained earmings as at January 1, 2018

In January 2016, IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”), was issued by the IASB, This standard introduces a single-lessee accounting model
and requtires a lessee to recognize assets and liabihties for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset
and a lease hability representing its obligation to make lease payments. This standard substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements of 1AS 17, while reguiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors. Other areas of the lease
accounting model have been impacted, including the definition of a lease. The new standard s effective for annual periods
beginning on or after fanuary 1, 2019, The Company intends to adopt IFRS 16 1n 1ts financial statements for the annual period
beginnmg on January 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach the Company will recognize
transitional adjustments in retained earnings on the date of initial application (January 1, 2018), without restating prior periods.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements and has begun collecting
and cataloguing all existing leases in order to perform an initial assessment and develop a preliminary plan with respect to
analyzing the impact of the new standard on existing leases As such, it is not yet possible to make a reliable estimate of the
impact of the new standard on the Company’s consolidated financial statements

In June 2016, amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment {"IFRS 27), were issued by the 1ASB. The amendments provide
requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting condstions on the measurement of cash-settled
share-based payments, share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligation, and
a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from
cash-settled to equity-settied The amendments are effective for annual pencds beginning on or after January 1, 2018 The
Company intends to adopt the amendments to IFRS 2 in its financial statements for the annuai period beginning on January 1,
2018. The Company does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on the financial statements.

In June 2017, IFRIC Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments {“IFRIC 237), was 1ssued by the [ASB. The
interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for current and deferred tax liabilities and assets in circumstances in
which there is uncertaimty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation requires an entity to contemplate whether uncertain
tax treatments should be considered separately, or together as a group, based on which approach provides better predictions
of the resolution to determine if it 1s probable that the tax authonties will accept the uncertain tax treatment, and if it is not
probable that the uncertain tax treatment will be accepted, measure the tax uncertainty based on the most hkely amount
or expected value, depending on whichever method better predicts the resclution of the uncertainty The Interpretation 1s
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company intends to adopt IFRIC 23 n its financial
statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the Interpretation has
not heen determined
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C) Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make esimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of sales and expenses during the year and the reported amounts of assets and habidities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. in particular, estimates are used when determining
the amounts recorded for depreciation and amartization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, outstanding
self-insurance claims, pension and other post-employment benefits, income and other taxes, provisions, certain fair value
measures including those related to the valuation of business combmnations, share-based payments and financial instruments
and also in the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Life Intangibles

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of the Company’s interest in the businesses acquired over the fair value
of the underlying net identifiable tangible and intangible assets ansing on acquisitions. Goodwill and indefinite-life intangibles
are not amortized but are required to be tested for impairment at least annually or if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

During the fourth quarter, the Company completed 1ts impairment test as at September 30, 2017, Imparment testing for
the cash-generating units ("CGU”), CCL, Avery, Checkpoint, Innovia and Container Segments was done by a comparison of
the uRit’s carrying amount to 1ts estimated value in use, determinad by discounting future cash flows from the continuing
use of the unit. Key assumptions used in the determination of the value n use include growth rates of 2.0% to 50% and
pre-tax discount rates ranging from 11 0% to 19.0%. Discount rates reflect current market assumptions and risks related to
the Segments and are based upon the weighted average cost of capital for the Segment. The Company's historical growth
rates are used as a basis in determining the growth rate applied for impairment testing Significant management judgment s
required in preparing the forecasts of future operating resuits that are used in the discounted cash flow method of valuation. In
2017 and 2016, 1t was determined that the carrying amount of geodwill and indefinite-life intangibles was not impaired. Since
the process of determining fair vaiues requires management jJudgment regarding projected results and market multiples, a
change in these assumptions could impact the fair value of the reporting units, resulting in an impairment charge

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. Performance of this evaluation invoives management estimateas of the associated business
plans, economic projections and anticipated cash flows. Specifically, management considers forecasted operating cash
flows, which are subject to change due to economic conditions, technological changes or changes in operating performance.
An impairment loss would be recognized if the carrying amount of the asset held for use exceeded the discounted cash flow
or fair value. Changes in these estimates in the future may result in an impairment charge.

Employee Benefits

The Company accrues its obligation under employee benefit plans and related costs net of plan assets. Pension costs are
determined periodically by independent actuaries. The actuanal determination of the accrued benefit obligations for the plens
uses the projected unit credit method and incorporates management’s best estimate of future salary escalation, retirement
age, inflation and other actuaria factors. The cost is then charged as services are rendered. Since these assumptions, which
are disclosed in note 18 of the consolidated financial statements, involve forward-looking estimates and are long term n
nature, they are subject to uncertainty Actual results may differ, and the differences may be matenal.

D} Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into a number of agreements with its subsidiaries that govern the management and commercial
and cost-sharing arrangements with and among the subsidiaries. These inter-company structures are established on terms
typicai of arm’s length agreements. A summary of the Company's related party transactions s set out in note 26 of the
consohdated financial statements.
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€. OUTLOOK

2017 was the Company's fourth consecutive record financial yvear; revenue increased 19.6%, achieving an estimated annualized
run-rate of $5.0 billon, and adiusted basic earnings per share improvement of 18.0% to $2.69. The Company closed on the
$1.15 bifion Innovia saquisition, the largest in its histery. The films portion of the acquisition created the new Innovia
segment giving substance to the Company’s vertical integration initiative in polymer sciences The security printing portion
of the acquisition added polymer banknote substrate construction, belstering the CCL Secure offering

Giobally 2017 was marked by a year of natural disasters, geopolitical tensions, profound political divisions and sweeping U.S.
tax reform. Econormies in North America and Europe began to firm up whilst Asian emeraing markets, particuiarly China,
returned schid growth rates with volatility reemerging 1in Latin Amernica. The 2018 global growth forecasts have recently been
revised upward; with .5 protectionist trade reforms, commodity price escalation and continued geopoktical uncertainty
remaining in the foreground. Emerging markets are expected to show continuing strength outpacing developed markets.
Continued focus will be given to monitoring volatile foreign currency markets; notwithstanding the current appreciation of
the Canadian doliar to the U.S. dollar should act as a headwind to translated results while the lower U.S. doilar poses increased
foreign transaction risks to parts of the Company's business.

The Company in the coming year will continue to execute its global growth strategy for its CClL Segment pursuing expansion
plans in new and existing markets with its core customers where the opportunity meets the Company’'s long-term profitabiity
objectives CCL Secure will continue to develop market leading secunty technology to pursue long term widespread adoption
of polymer banknotes amongst central bankers. The Company s confident thes strategy will continue to generate strong
cash flows that will support additional investment opportunities and allow CCL to further expand 1ts gecgraphic and market
segment reach.

At Avery 1n 2017, two more tuck-1n acquisitions, GGW and Badgepoint, were folded into the Segment as it pursued its growth
strategy. For 2018, legacy Avery printable media businasses will explore new product cpportunities to capture consumer
digital print momenturn Moreover, the six acguisitions over the past four years, all with a direct-to-consumer digital print
offering, as well as the introduction of Avery's own new e-commerce platform, provide a product group with higher organic
growth rates and cross-selling opportunities. Avery will continue to find complementary acquisitions that add new territories,
expand channels to market and complement the product offerings in the core digital print domain

The Checkpoint Segment had a successful 2017 detivering a return on sales of 13%, nearly in-line with the Company's legacy
business only mineteen months post acquisition. Checkpoint has nearly completed its restructuring initiative, recording
costs of $35.5 million since the date of acquisition vielding an expected $40 million in annuatized savings for 2018. Further
initiatives will be more qualitative, focusing on fine tuning manufacturing facilities, optimizing the supply chain, new product
imtiatives and building the customer base.

The financial results for the innovia Segment were somewhat disappointing for the Company as volatile resin prices eroded
profitin 2017 For 2018 strategic focus will be centered on managing customner relationships through periods of cost inflation
and further developing the customer base to take advantage of the unique properties of the Innovia-produced film. It 15
management’s belief that longer term the Innovia Segment will provide robust expertise in polymer sciences delivering
proprietary materials across the Company.

In 2017, the Container Segment finally shuttered its Canadian facility leaving a strong stable operating footprint with a
management team focused on optimization, innovation and market share gains. Although profitability was expected at the
Rheinfelden slug cperation in 2018, this has been delayed to 2019 due to a small fire 1n the facility in early 2018 that has
temporarily closed operations and postponed installation of the finat tranche of capital investment.

The Company conciuded the year with cash-on-hand of $557.5 million and unused availability on the revolving credit facility
was US$3977 milllon The Company's aforementioned liquidity position is robust, leverage is low with a net debt leverage ratio
of 1.85 times EBITDA at the end of the year. As always, the Company remains focused on vigilantly managing working capital
and prioriizing capital to higher-growth organic opportunites or unique acquisitions expected to enhance shareholder value.
The Company expects capital expenditures for 2018 to be approximately $325 mullion in order to support the organic growth
and new greenfield opportunities globally Orders so far into the first weeks of 2018 remain solid.
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KPMG LLP Telephone (905) 265-5900
¢ A [ 100 New Park Place Fax (416} 777-8818

Suite 1400 www kpmg.ca

Vaughan ON L4K0J3

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of CCL Industries Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consoclidated financial statements of CCL Industries Inc. ("the Company”),
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and December 31,
20186, the consolidated income statements and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Intemnational Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstaterent, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit tc obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to aobtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in
making those risk assessments, we consider internal contro! relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's intemal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financia! statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

Kins 42
/

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

February 21, 2018
Toronto, Canada

46 o1/ arnual Report €CL o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(In milliang of Canadian doltars)

Asat December 31 Note 2017 2016
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 557.5 $ 585.1
T'rade and other receivables 7 821.3 672.2
Inventories 8 4251 351.5
Prepaid expenses 33.6 258
[ncome tases recoverable 13.1 26.2
Derivative instruments 23 1.0 0.1
Total current assets 1,851.6 1,660.9
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 1,514.7 1,216.9
Goodwill 1512 1,580.7 1,131.8
Intangible assets 11,12 1,082.7 549.6
Deferred tax assets 14 28.8 21.2
Equity accounted 1nvestments 9 34.0 64.1
Other assets 31.5 343
Total non-current assets 4,292.4 3,017.9
Total assets 6,144.0 $ 4,678.8
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 1,018.4 $ 8445
Current portion ot long-term debt 17 230.6 4.2
[ncome taxes payable 50.7 58.3
Total current liabilities 1,299.7 907.0
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt 17 2,100.8 1,597.1
Deferred tax Labilities 14 183.5 67.8
Employee benefits 19 333.6 279.3
Provisions and other lang-term liabilities 17.8 524
Derivative instruments 23 50.7 —
Total non-current liabilities 2,686.4 1,996.6
Total Habilities 3,986.1 $ 2,903.6
Equity
Share caputal 15 279.4 261.4
Contributed surpius 78.0 64.2
Retained earnings 1,853.4 1450 5
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 28 {(52.9) (0.9
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,157.9 1.775.2
Commitments and contingencies 25
Acgusitions 5
Subsequert events 30
Total liabilities and equity 6,144.0 $ 4678.8

See accompanying explanatory notes to the consohdated financial statements

On behalf of the Board:

Donald G. Lang Geoffrey T. Martin

Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
{in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

Yeats ended December 31 Note 2017 2016
Sales $ 4,755.7 $ 3,974.7
Cost of sales 3,319.4 2.806.8
Gross protit 1,436.3 1,i67.9
Selling, general and administrative expenses 751.5 612.8
Restructuring and other items 29 11.3 346
Earnings in equity accounted investments (3.7) {4.3)
677.2 525.0

Fimance cost 18 87.4 41.8
Finance income 18 (12.2) {(3.9)
Net finance cost 75.2 379
Earnings before income tax 602.0 487.1
[ncome tax expense 21 127.9 140.8
Net earnings $ 474.1 $ 3463
Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company $ 474.1 5 346.8

Non-controlhing interest — (0.5}
Net earnings $ 474.1 8 346.3
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per Class B share 2,16 $ 2.70 5 1.98
Diluted earnings per Class B share 2,1 $ 2.66 $ 1.95

See accompanying explanatory notes to the consclidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions of Canadian dollars)

Years ended Decernber 31 2017 2016

Net earnings $ 474.1 $ 346.3
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to income:

Foreign currency translation adjustinent for foreign operations, net of tax recovery of

$6.4 for the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 ~ Lax recovery of $0.1) (84.9) {146.6}
Net gains on hedges of netinvestment in forexgn operations, net of tax expense of
$4.0 tor the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 - {ax expense of $3.5) 27.6 33.0
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax expense of $0.8
for the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 - tax expense of $0.3) 3.8 0.7
Net change wn fair value of cash flow hedges transferred to the incomne statement, net of tax
recovery of $0.3 for the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 - tax recovery of $0.1) 1.5 0.3
Actuanal gains (losses) on defined benefit post-employment plans, net of tax expense
of $1.8 for the year ended December 31, 2017 (2016 - tax recovery of $2.0) 9.6 ] (9.0)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax (42.4) (121.6)
Total comprehensive income $ 431.7 $ 2247
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company $ 431.7 $ 2252
Non-controlling interest — {0.5)
Total comprehensive income $ 431.7 $ 224.7

See accompanying explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTYS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

{In millions of Canadian dollars)

Accumulated Total
Shares Qther Equity
Class A Class B 1teld {otal Comprehensive  Atmbutable Non
Shares Shates n Trust Shire Contisbuted Retained Lacome o wonolling Total
(note 1 3) {note 15} (note 15} Caputal Surphis Earmings (Lows)  Shareholders Intarest Equity
Balances, January 1,2016 8 45 § 2798 S 74) % 2769 % 5n6 & 1,827 $§ 1117 § 16219 % — 5 18219
Acquisition of shares in

4 subsidiary from

the non-controlling

interest {note 5{f}) — — — —_ 0l — . 31 as 06
Net earnings - — — — — 3468 — 346.8 (65) 346.3
Davidends declared

Class A — — —_ — — (4.6} — {4.6) — (4.6)

Class B — — — . - (65.4} — (65.4) - (65 4)
Defined benefit plan

actuarial losses, net of tax e e . — —_ 90} — (9.0} e 90)
Stock-based

compensation plan - — —_ — 9.8 - - 9.8 e 98
Shares redeemed from trust — — 67 67 (6.7} - - - — —
Shares purchased and

held 1n trust — — {29 0) (25 0) 92 — — {28 &) — (25 8)
Steck oplion expense — —_ — — 39 — - 59 — 59
Stock options exercised — 648 — 58 (12) — — 36 —_ 56
Income tax vtfect related

10 stock optiens - — — — 55 — - 33 — 53
Other comprehensrve loass - - — - — -— (112 6) (112.6} e (112 6)
Balances,

December 31, 2016 $ 45 5 2866 & (297) 8 2614 8 6i2 5 14305 § (9 &8 L7732 § — § 17752
Net earnings b — 8 — % — 8 — % — § 4741 g — & 1741 % — 3 4741
[iwvidends declared

Class A - — — — — (53} - (53 - (53]

Class 8 — — — — —_ {75 5} — {755} — {753)
Defined benceht plan

actuarial gains, net of tax — — — — . 96 _ 9.6 — 96
Stock-based

compensation plan — 34 s 34 7.9 — — 1.3 — 1E3
Shares redeemed from trust — — 03 03 — — — 03 — 03
Shares purchased and

held 1n trust — — {03) {33} 0.3 — — — —— —
Stock option expense - —_ — — 81 — — 81 — &1
Stock options exercised - 46 — 146 {25) . — 121 — i2.1
Other comprehensive loss — —_— — —_ — . (52.0) (32 0) — (52.49)
Balances,

December 31, 2017 $ 45 5 3046 5 (297)8 2794 § 78.0 $ 1,8534 $ (529) § 21579 § — § 2,1579

See accompanyng explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{in millions of Canadian dollars}

Years ended December 31
Cash provided by {used for)

Operating activities
Net earnings
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Earnings 1 equity accounted investments, net of dividends received
Net finance costs
Current income tax expense
Deferred tax expense (recovery)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

Change in inventories

Change w trade and other receivables

Change in prepa:d expenses

Change in trade and other payables

Change in income faxes receivable and pavable
Change in emplovee benefits

Change in other assets and liabilities

Net interest paid
Income taxes pard

Cash provided by operating act-ivities

Financing activities
Proceeds on issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of shares
Purchase of shares held in trust
Dividends paid
Cash provided by financing activities
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Business acquisitions and other long-term investments (note 5)

Cash used for investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear
Translation adjustments on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2017

$ 474.1

259.2
1.2)
75.2

155.2

(27.3)
19.7
(0.9)

954.0
8.1
(36.1)
(7.5)
3.6
8.4
10.7
8.1

933.1
(67.3)
(154.6)

711.2

1,186.6
(384.5)
12.1

(81.2)
733.0

(285.7)
12.8

(1,191.4)

{1,464.3)

(20.1)
585.1
(7.5)

$ 557.5

$

2016

835.2
(302.2
56

(28.8)

(70.2)
439.6

(234.7)
9.3
(571.4)

(796.8)

2068
105.7
(27.4)
585.1

Sea accompanying explanatory notes to the consohdated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

1. REPORTING ENTITY

CCL tndustries Inc. (the “Company”) 15 a public company, listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, and Is incorporated and
domiciled In Canada. These consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, comprise the resuits of the Company and ts subsidiaries and the Company’s interest in joint ventures and
associates. The Company has manufacturing faciliies around the world and s primarnily mvolved in the manufacture of
labels, containers, consumer printable madia products, technology-driven label solutions, polymer bank note substrates
and specialty films.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS") and its interpretations adopted by the Internationat Accounting Standards Board ("IASBE"}.

These consahdated financial statements were authorized for 1ssue by the Company’s Board of Directors on February 22, 2018.

{b) Basis of measurement

These consohdated financial statemeants have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items in
the statements of financial position:

- denvative instruments are measured at fair value:
« financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. and

- assets related to the defined benefit plans are measured at fair value and habihities related 1o the defined benefit plans are
calculated by qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

{c) Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financia! staterents are presented in Canadian dollars, which 1s the Company’s functional currency.
All financial information, except per share information, is presented in millions of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

{d) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the apphcation of accounting policies and the reported amounts of sales and expenses during the year and the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and llabitities at the date of the financial statements.
Actual results could differ from those estimates

Estimates and assumptions are used manly 1in determining the measurement of recognized transactions and balances.

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management makes various judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that can significantly affect the amounts 1t recognizes in the financial statements.

Judgments, estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Company has applied judgment In its assessment of the classification of financial instruments, the recogmition and
derecognition of tax losses and provisions, the determination of cash-generating units ("CGUs”), the identification of the
indicators of imparment for property and equipment and intangible asseis, the level of componentization of property and
equipment and the allocation of purchase price adjustments on business coembinations.

Estimates are used when determimng the amounis recorded for depreciation and amortization of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets, outstanding self-insurance claims, pension and other post-empioyment benefits, income
and other taxes, provisions, certain farr value measures including those related to the valuation of business combinations,
share-based payments and financial instruments and also in the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets.

(e) Stock split

On june 5, 2017 the Company effected a 5 1stock sphit on its shares of commoen stock (Class A and Class B} Unless otherwise
noted, impacted amounts and share information included in the financial statements and notes thereto have been retroactively
adjusted for the stock spht as if such stock split occurred on the first day of the first period presented. Certain amounts in
the notes to the fiancial statements may be shghtly different than previously reported due to rounding of fractional shares
as a result of the stock split,
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all comparative information presented in these
consolidated financial statements,

(a) Basis of consolidation

(iy Business combinations

The Company measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognized amount of
any non-controling interest in the acquiree, less the net recognized amount (generally farr value) of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. When the excess 1s negative, a bargain purchase
gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss. The Company elects to measure, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, non-
controiling interest erther at i1s fair value or at 1ts proportionate share of the recognized amount of the identifiable net assets
at the acquisition date. Transaction costs, ather than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the
Company incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

(ii} Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company I1s exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from 1ts involvement with the entity and has the abhility to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included 1n the consclidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. The accounting pohcies of subsidianes have been changed, when necessary,
te ahgn them with the policies adopted by the Company.

(iit} Associates and joint arrangements
The Company’s interests In equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures

Asscciates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence, but not control or joint centrol, over the financial
and operating policies. Significant influence 1s presumed to exist when the Company holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting power of ancther entity.

The Company classifies its interast In joint arrangements as either joint operations (if the Company has rights to the assets,
and has obligations for the liabilities, relating to an arrangement) or joint ventures {if the Company has the rights only to the
net assets of an arrangement) When making this assessment, the Company considers the structure of the arrangements, the
legal form of any separate vehicles, the contractual terms of the arrangements and other facts and circumstances.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at
cost. The Company's investments 1nclude goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated imparrment losses.
The consolidated financial statements include the Company's share of the income and expenses and equity movements of
equity accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Company, from the date
that significant influence commences until the date that it ceases. When the Company’s share of losses exceeds its interest
In an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest {including any long-terminvestments) is reduced to nil
and the recogniticon of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Company has an obligation or has made
payments on behalf of the investee.

(iv} Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Inter-company balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from inter-company transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains ansing from transactions with equity
accounted investees are eliminated agamst the investment to the extent of the Company’s interest in the investee Unrealized
iosses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDAYTED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information}

(b) Foreign currency

{i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Company’s entities using
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
reporting date are translated to the functional currency using the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period,
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the penod, and the amortized cost In the foreign currency translated
at the exchange rate at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and habilities denerminated i foreign currencies that
are measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was deterrmined Foreign currency differences arising on transiation are recognized in the income statement, except for
differences ansing on the translation of a financial hability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation,
or qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognized directly in other comprehensive income (see note 3{b)(i1}) Foreign
currency-denominated non-monetary items, measured at historical cost, have been translated at the rate of exchange at the
transaction date.

(ii) Foreign operations

The financial statements of each of the Company’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are
translated into Canadian dollars using exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated into Canadian dollars using the average exchange rates for the penocd.

Foreign currency differences are recognized directly in other comprehensive income and presented within the fareign
currency translation adjustment

When a foreign operation is disposed of, the amount in other comprehensive income related te the foreign operation s fully
transferred to the income statement A disposal occurs when the entire interest in the foreign operation is disposed of, or, in
the case of a partial disposal, the partial disposal results in the loss of control of a subsidiary or the loss of significant influence
For any partial disposai of the Company’s interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the Company re-attributes
the proportionate share of the relevant amounts in other comprehensive income to non-centrolling interests, For any other
partial disposal of a foreign operation, the Company reclassifies to the income statement only the proportionate share of the
relevant amount in other comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses ansing from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the
settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in
a foreign operation and are recognized directly In other comprehensive iIncome and presented within the foreign currency
translation adjustment.

{iit} Hedge of netinvestment in a foreign operation

The Company apphes hedge accounting to the foreign currency exposure arising between the functional currency of the
foreign operation and the parent entity’s functional currency, regardless of whether the net investment 1s held directly or
through an intermediate parent.

Foreign currency differences ansing on the translanon of a financial iability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a
foreign operation are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, to the extent that the hedge s effective. To the
extent that the hedge 1s ineffective, such differences are recognized in the iIncome statement When the hedged part of a net
investment is disposed of or partially disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity 1s transferred to the income
statement as an adjustment to the income statement on disposal in accordance with the policy described in note 3(b)(1).

(c) Financial instruments

(i} Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments compnse cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables and long-term debt

Non-denvative financial instruments are recognized 1mitially at fair value, plus any directly attnibutable transaction costs, for
instruments not at farr value through profit or foss, Subseguent to initial recognitien, non-dervative financial instruments are
measured as described below
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The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other recewvables, and trade and other payables approximate
thew fair values due 1o the short-term maturities of these financial instruments

Financial assets and habilitias are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Company has a legal nght te offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset
and settle the hability simultaneously.

Loans and receivables

lLoans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinablie payments that are not quoted in an active market, Such
assets are recognized intially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables are measured at amoruzed cost using the effective \nterest method, less any imparrment losses.

Loans and recevabies comprise trade and other recevables. The carrying value of trade and other receivables is net of an
allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance is based upon the aging of the receivables, the Company’s knowledge of the
financial condition of its customers, historical experience and the current business environment.

Cash and cash eguivalents comprise cash on hand and short-term investments with original matunity dates of 90 days or less.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

An instrument 1s classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for tracing or is designated as such upon initial
recognition Financial instruments are designated at fauwr value through profit or loss if the Company manages such
investments and makes purchase and sale dectsions based on their fair value in accordance with the Company’s documented
risk management or investment strategy. Upon imtial recognition, the attributable transaction costs are recognized in the
income statement when incurred. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at far value, and
changes theren are recognized in the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Avallable-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale, are not classified
in any of the previous categories and are included in other assets.

These items are initsally recognized at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently carried at farr value with changes
recognized in other comprehensive income, When an investment Is derecognized, the accumulated gain or loss recognized
in other comprehensive income 1s transferred to the income statement.

Non-derivative financial habilities

The Company nitiaily recognizes debt securnties issued and subordinated liablities on the date that they are oniginated. All
other financial habilities (including habilities designated at fair vatue through profit or foss) are recognized initialty on the trade
date at which the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company derecognizes a
financial kability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire

Financiel liabilities are recogmized imtially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subseguent to imtial
recognition, these financial liabiities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method Fair value, which
is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date For finance leases, the market rate of interest 1s determined
by reference to similar lease agreements

(ii) Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

The Company uses dervative financial instruments to manage its foreign currency and interest-rate-risk exposure and price-
risk exposure related to the purchase of raw materials. Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and
accounted for separately. If the economic charactenstics and risks of the host contract and the embedded dervative are
not closely related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the defimibion of a
dervative, and the combined mstrument is not measured at fair value through the income statement.

On initial designation of the hedge, the Company formally documents the relationship betwean the hedging instrument(s}and
hedged item(s), Including the risk management objectives and strategy m undertaking the hedge transaction, together with
the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship The Company makes an assessment,
both at the inception of the hedging refationship and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instruments are expected
to be "highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged iterns during the
period for which the hedge 1s designated, and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80% to 125%.
For a cash flow hadge of a forecast transaction, the transaction shouid be highly probable to occur and should present an
exposure to vanations in cash flows that could ulumately affect reported net income
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

Derwvatives are recognized mitally at farr value; attributable transaction costs are recegnized in profit or loss as incurred
Subsequent te initizl recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described
below.

The fair value of forward exchange contracts 15 based on their listed market price, if avallable if a listed market price is not
avallable. then fair value s estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current
forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a nisk-free interest rate {based on government bonds}

The fair value of interest rate swaps 1s based on broker quotes Those guotes are tested for reasonableness by discounting
estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar
Instrument at the measurement date

Fair values refiect the credit nsk of the instrumant and include adjustments to take account of the credit nisk of the group
entity and counterparty when appropriate.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative 1s designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability in cash flows attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the
effective portion of changes in the fair value of the denvative 15 recognized in other comprehensive income and presented
In the hedaing reserve in equity. The amount recognized 1n other comprehensive income s removed and included in profit
or loss In the same perod that the hadged cash flows affect profit or loss under the same line 1tem in the statement of
comprehensive Income as the hedged item Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the dervative 1s recognized
immediately 1n the income statement.

If the hedging nstrument no longer meets the critena for hedge accounung, expires, or 1s sold, terminated, exercised, or
the designation s revoked, then hedge accounting 1s discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously
recogmized In other comprehensive income and presented in unreabzed gans or lesses on cash flow hedges In equity remaims
there unti the forecast transaction affects profit or foss. When the hedged item 1s a non-financial asset, the amount recognized
in other comprehensive income is transferred to the carrying amount of the asset when the asset s recognized |f the forecast
transaction 1s no langer expected to occur, then the balance in other comprehensive income is recognized immediately in
profit or loss. In other cases, the amoaunt recognized in other comprehensive income 1s transferred to the income statement
in the same penod that the hedged 1tem affects profit or loss.

Fafr value hedges

Fair value hedges are hedges of the farr value of recognized assets, habilites or unrecognized firm commutments. Changes
in the farr value of denvatives that are designated as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement together with
any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Separable embedded derivatives
Changes in the fairr value of separable embedded derivatives are recognized immed:ately in the income statement.

(d) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Cost Includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acqguisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes the cost of materals and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a werking
condition for therr intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located. Purchased software that s integral to the functionality of the related equipment i1s capitalized as part of that
equipment

The fair value of property, plant and eguipment recognized as a result of 2 business combination 1s based on the amount for
which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length
transaction.

Borrowing costs related to the acquisition, construction or production of gqualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost
of the assets.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipmaent have different useful lrves, they are accounted for as separate items
{major components) of property. plant and equipment.
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Gains and iosses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
fram disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and are recognized within selling, general and
administrative expenses in the income statement.

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment 1s recognized in the carrying amount of the item if itis
probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will fiow to the Company and its cost can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 15 derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant
and equipment are recognized in profit or foss as incurred

(ii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.
Depreciation 1s recognized In profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated usefu! ives of each part of an item of
property, piant and eguipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future econemic

benefits embodied in the asset, Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless
it is reasonably certain that the Company will ebtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows

- buldings Up to 40 years
< rmachinery and equipment Up to 15 years
- fixtures and fittings Up to 10 years
= minor components Up to 5 years

Depreciation methods, usefu! lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
(e) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwili arises on the acquisition of subsidianes and 1s tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable For measurement of goodwill at initial recognition,
see note 3(a)i).

Subsequent measurement

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. in respect of equity accounted investments, the carrying
amount of goodwill is included in the earrying amount of the investment.

(i) Otherintangible assets

intangible assets consist of patents, trademarks, brands, software and the value of acquired customer relationships.
Impairment losses for intangible assets where the carrying value 1s not recoverabie are measured based on fair value. Fair
value 15 calculated by using discounted cash flows,

The fair values of customer relationships acquired in a business combination are determined using the muiti-period excess
earnings method, whereby the subject asset is valued after deducting a fair return on all other assets that are part of creating
the related cash flows.

The fair values of brands acquired in a business combination are determined using the muiti-pencd excess earnings method
ar the relief of royalty method, whereby the value of the brand is equai to the royalty savings from having ownership as
opposed to hcensing the brand

Amortization is recognized In the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated usefui lives of intangible assets,
ather than indefinite-life intangible assets, such as brands and goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The
estimated useful kves for the current and comparative years are as follows,

+  patents, tradernarks and other Up 1015 vears
+  customer relationships Up to 20 vears
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Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

(f) Leases

Leases for which the Company assumes substantaily all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset s accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset.

Mmimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance cost and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance cost 15 allocated to each periad during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Assets under operating leases are not recognized in the Company’s statement of financial positian.

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the income statement on a strarght-line basis over the term of the
lease Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

(g) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net reahzable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in, first-
out principle and includes expenditures incurred n acquinng the inventories, production or conversion costs and other
costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in
progress, cost includes an appropnate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion
and selling

The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and sate, and a reasonable profit margin based on the
effort requirad to complete and sell the inventornes

Estimates regarding obsclete and slow-moving inventory are also computed.

{h} Impairment

{i} Financial assets, including receivables

A financal asset not carried at fair value through the iIncome statement is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether thare 1s any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset 1s considered to be imparred If objective evidence
indicates that one o1 more events have occurred after the initial recogrition of the asset that have a negative effect on the
estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably

The Company considers evidence of impairment for loans and recelvables and held-to-matunty investment securibes at
both a specific asset and a collective level. All individually significant toans and receivables and held-to-maturity investment
securities are assessed for specific impairment. All individually significant loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
investment secunties found nat to be spectfically impaired are then coilectively assessed for any impairment that has been
incurred but not yet identified.

in assessing coliective impairment, the Company uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recovenies and
the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are
such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than those suggested by historicat trends.

An mmpairment Joss In respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between its
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate
and reflected in an allowance sccount agamst accounts receivable. Losses are recognized in the income statement. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss 1s reversed through
profit or loss.

Animpairment loss in respect of an avallable-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value and 1z recognized
by transferring the cumulative oss that has been recognized in other comprehenstve income, and presented in unrealized
gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets 1n equity, to profit or loss. The cumulative loss thatis removed from other
comprehensive income and recognized in profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal
repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment {oss previously recognized in profit or loss.

An imparrment loss 1s reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost and for avarlable-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities,
the reversalis recognized in the income statement. For avallable-for-sale financial assets that are equity securities, the reversal
is recognized directly in other comprehensive iIncome
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(ii) Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there 1s any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the imparment would be
recognized in the income staternent.

Impairments are recorded when the recoverable amount of assets s fess than their carrying amount. The recoverable amount
ts the higher of an asset’s or a cash-generating unit’s fair vaiue less cost to sell and its value in use in assessing value In
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, For the purpose of impairment testing,
assets that cannot be tested Individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. For the purpaoses
of goodwill impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 1s allocated to the CGU, or the group of CGUs,
that s expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. This allocation is subject to an operating segment celbng
test and reflects the lowest level at which that goodwill 1s menitored for internal reporting purposes. An tmpairment loss is
recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Imparrment losses are
racognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses, other than those relating to goodwili, are evaluated for potential reversals
when events or changes in circumstances warrant such consideration.

The carrying values of finite-life intangibie assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes In circumstances
indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable, Additionally, the carrying values of goodwill and indefinite life
intangibles are tested annually for imparment

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized 1n prior
years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the losses have decreased or nolonger exist Animpairment
loss 1s reversed if there has been a change 1n the estimates used to determune the recoverable amount. An impairment loss
15 reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an equity accounted investment i1s not recognized separately and therefore
18 not tested for impairment separately. instead, the entire amount of the equity accounted investment is tested for impairment
as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the equity accounted imvestment may be impaired.

{i) Employee benefits

(i} Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts, Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense m the income statement in the penod that the
service is rendered by the employee.

(i} Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s net cbligation
in respect of defined benefit post-employment plans 1s calculated separately for each plan by estmating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for their serwice in the current and prior periods, that benefit :s discounted to
determine its present vatue using a discount rate comparabie to high-quality corporate bonds. Any unrecognized past service
costs and the fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The calculation 1s performed annually by a qualfied actuary using the
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognized asset 1s limited to the
total of any unrecognized past service costs and the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan. An economic benefit1s available to the Company if it
1s realizable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of the plan habilities.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees 1s
recognized in the iIncome statement on a straight-ine basis over the average pericd until the benefits become vested To the
exient that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized immediately in the income statement.

The Campany recognizes all actuarial gains and losses ansing from defined benefit plans directly in other comprehensive
income immediately and reports them in retained earnings.
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The Company determines the net interest expense on the net defined benefit hability for the petiod by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit
hability, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit habifity during the period as a result of the contributions
and benefit batances. Net interest expense and other expenses refated to the defined benefit plans are recognized in profit
or losas Previcusly, interest income on plan assets was based on ther long-term expected return.

(iii} Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Campany 1s demonstrably committed, without reahstic possibility
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normai retirement date or provide
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy Termination benefits for voluntary
redundancies are recognized as an expense if the Company has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, 1t 15 probable that
the offer will be accepted and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than
12 months after the reporting period, then they are discounted to thew present value.

{iv}) Short-term benefits

Short-term employee banefit obliigations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are recognized as the related service
15 provided.

{v) Share-based payment transactions

For equity-settled share-based plans, the grant date fair value of options granted to employees Is recognized as an employee
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the persod that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the
options. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options for which the related
service and non-market vesting cond:tions are expected to be met. The fair value of employee stock options is measured
using the Black-Scholes model. Measurement inputs include the share price on the measurement date, the exercise price of
the instrument, the expected volatility, the weighted average expected life of the instrument, the expected dividends, and
the risk-free interest rate. Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into
account in determining fair value.

For equity-sattled share-based deferred share umit {"DSU") plans, the grant date fair value of deferred share units is recognized
as an employee expense with a corresponding Increase In equity. The grant date fair value 1s not subsequently remeasured
The value of DSUs received in heu of dividends 1s alsc recognized as a personnel expense in the income statement.

For cash-settled share-based DSU plans, the fair value of the amount payable for deferred share umits is recognized as an
expense with a corresponding increase in habilities when they are issued. The fair value of a DSU is measured using the
average of the high and low trading prices of the Ciass B shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of issue and is remeasured, using a similar five-day average, at the financial statement date and at the settlement date. Any
changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized as a personnel expense in the income statement The value of DSUs
received in lieu of dividends is also recognized as a parsonnel cost in the income statement.

(i) Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has & present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settie the obhigation. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the hability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as a finance cost.

(k) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration recewved or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume
rebates. Revenue is recognized and related costs transferred to cost of sales when the significant nisks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration 1s probable, the associated costs and possible
return of geods can be estimated reliably, there 1s no continuing management involvement with the goads, and the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably Generally, this would be at the time goods are shipped, product s delivered or services
rendered. At that time, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the price to the customer s fixed and ultimate
collection s reasonably assured. A provision for sales returns and allowances is recegnized when the underlying products
are sold. The provision 15 based on an evaluation of praducts currently under quality assurance review as well as historical
sales returns experience,

For agreements that contain multiple deliverables, each element is freated as a separate urut for revenue recogrition purposes,
For these agreements, total consideration is allocated to each unit based on its relative fair vaiue. Revenue is then recognized
for each unit when the relevant recognition criteria are met.
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{0 Financeincome and costs

Finance income comprises Interest income on invested funds mncluding avadable-for-sale financial assets, gams on the
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of financial assets at farr value through profit or loss,
and gains on hedging instruments that are recogmized in the Income statement. interest income is recognized as it accrues
in the income statement, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment losses recognized on financial assets, and losses on hedging
instruments that are recognized in the income statement. All borrowing costs are recognized 1in the income statement using
the effective interest method, except for those amounts capialized as part of the cost of qualifying property, plant and
equipment.

(m) Taxation

income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense 1s recognized in the income statement except
to the extent that it relatas to items recognized either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases, the
tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

{i) Currenttax

Current tax expense 1s based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or not deductible. Current
tax is calculated using tax rates and {aws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period and
inciudes any adjustments to taxes payable in respect of previous years Management periodically evatuates positions taken in
tax returns with respect 1o situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. Provisions are established
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(i) Deferredtax

Deferred tax is recognized, using the hability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
labilitiss and their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. Deferred tax s calculated using tax rates and laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period and which are expected to apply when
the related deferred tax asset 15 realized or the deferred tax habidity 1s settied.

(iii) Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liahilities are generally recognized for ali taxable temporary differences. Defarred tax lhabilities are recognized
for taxable temporary differences ansing on investments 1n subsidianes and associates, except where the reversal of the
temporary difference can be controiled by the Company and 1t 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse In
the foreseeable future.

(iv) Deferred tax assets

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be avallable against which they can be utihized, Deferred tax assets are reviewed
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it 1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

Deferred tax 1s not recognized for taxable temparary differences ansing on the imitial recognition of goodwill or in respect of
temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of assets and hiabilities acquired other than in a business combination
and that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit or {oss.

(n) Share capital

All shares are recorded as equity. When share capital 1s repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
diractly attributable costs, net of any tax effect, 1s recognized as a deduction from eqguity. Repurchased shares are classified as
treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from total equity. When repurchased shares are sold or reissued subsequently,
the amount received 15 recoghized as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction 15 transferred
to retained earnings.

{o) Earnings pershare

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its Class B shares Bastc £PS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the period Diluted EPS 1s determined by adjusting the profit or loss atiributable to shareholders and the weighted
average number of shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive shares, which primarnly comprise share options
granted to employees.
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{p) Segmentreporting

A segment 1s a distinguishable component of the Company that is engaged either in providing related products (business
segment) or in providing products within a particular economic environment {geographical segment} and that is subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other segments Segment information s presented in respect of the
Company’s business and geographical segments. The Company’s primary format for segment reporting is based on business
segments, The business segments are determined based on the Company's management and internal reporting structure,

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly other investments and related revenue, loans and borrowings
and related expenses. corporate assets {primarily the Company's headquarters) and head office expenses. Segment capital
expenditure 1s the total cost incurred during the penod to acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, other
than goodwili

(q) New accounting standards effective in 2017

In January 2016, the IASB 1ssued amendments to clarify the requirements for recognizing deferred tax assets on unrealized
losses. The amendments clanfy the accounting for deferred tax where an asset 1s measured at fair value and that fair value
1s below the asset’s tax base. They also clanfy certain other aspects of accounting for deferred tax assets. The amendments
pecame effective for the Company on January 1. 2017 and did not have any impact on its financial statements.

In January 2016, the 1ASB 1ssued an amendment to (AS 7, Statement of Cash Flows, introducing additional disclosure
requirements for kabilities ansing from financing activities. The amendments became effective for the Company on January 1,
2017 and the add:itional disclosure has been included in the supplemental cash flow information {note 17) accordingly

(r) New standards and interpretations not yet effective

In July 2014, the complete IFRS 9, Frnancial Instruments (“IFRS §7), was issued by the IASB IFRS 8 introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financia! assets. Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified and measured based
on the business model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. The standard introduces
additional changes relating to financial habilities It also amends the impairment model by introducing a new “expected
credit loss” modet! for calculating impairment. IFRS 9 also includes a new general hedge accounting standard that aligns
hedge accounting more closely with risk management. This new standard does not fundamentally change the types of
hedging relationships or the requirement to measure and recognize ineffectiveness: however, it will provide for more hedging
strategies that are used for nsk management to qualify for hedge accounting and introduce more judgment to assess the
effectiveness of a hedging relationship This standard ss effective for annual periods beginming on or after January 1, 2018,
The Company has completed its evaluation and concluded the impact of IFRS 9 on its consolidated financial statements was
immaterial on opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2018.

In May 2014, IFRS 15, Revenue fram Contracts with Customers {“IFRS 157), was 1ssued and provides guidance on the timing
and amount of revenue that should be recognized and also requires more informative and relevant disclosures. The standard
provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be apphed to all contracts with customers. This standard s effective for
annual periods beginning on January 1, 2018 The Company has completed its evaluation and concluded the impact of IFRS
15 on its conschdated financial statements was immateral on opening retained earnings as at January 1, 2018,

In January 2018, IFRS 16, Leases (IFRS 16”), was issued by the JASB. This standard introduces a single-lessee accounting model
and requires a lessee to recognize assets and habilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying
asset is of low value. A lessee 1s required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset
and a lease hability representing its obligation to make lease payments. This standard substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements of 1AS 17, while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors Other areas of the lease
accounting mocdel have been impacted, including the defimtion of a lease The new standard s effective for annual penods
heginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach the Company wiil recognize
transitionat adjustments in retained earnings on the date of initial application {January 1, 2018), without restating prior periods.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements and has begun collecting
and cataloguing alt existing leases in order to perform an initial assessment and develop a preliminary plan with respect to
analyzing the impact of the new standard on existing leases. As such, it 1s not yat possibie to make a reliable estimate of the
impact of the new standard on the Company’s consolidated financial statements
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In June 2016, the amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment ("IFRS 27}, was 1ssued by the IASB. The amendments provide
requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting condstions on the measurement of cash-setiled
share-based payments, share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withhelding tax obligation, and
a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from
cash-settled to eguity-settled. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, The
Company mtends to adopt the amendments to IFRS 2 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1,
2018 The Company does not expect the amendments to have a matenal impact on the financiai statements

In june 2017, IFRIC Interpretation 23, Uncertamty over Income Tax Treatments {"IFRIC 237}, was issued by the IASB. The
Interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for current and deferred tax babilities and assets in crcumstances in
which there 1s uncertainty over income tax treatments The interpretation requires an entity to contemplate whether uncertain
tax treatments should be considered separately, or together as a group, based on which approach provides better predictions
of the resciution, 1o determine if 1t 1s probable that the tax authorities will accept the uncertain tax treatment, and if it is not
probabie that the uncertain tax treatment will be accepted, measure the tax uncertainty based on the most likely amount
or expected value, depending on whichever method better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. The interpretation is
effective for annuatl periods beginning on or aftar January 1, 2019. The Company intends to adopt the IFRIC 23 in its financial
statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2018 The extent of the impact of adoption of the interpretation has
not been determined.

4. SEGMENT REPORTING

Business segments

As a result of the acquisition of tnnovia, a new reportable segment was created for Innovia’s film operation and Innovias
security operation 1s included within the newly named CCL (formerly CCL Label) Segment. The Company has five reportable
segments, as described below, which are the Company’s main business units. The business units offer a variety of products
and services, and are managed separately as they require different technology and marketing strategres For each of the
busmess units, the Company's CEO, the chief operating decision maker, reviews internal management reports reguiarly.

The Company's reportable segments are:

« CCL-Includes the production of pressure sensitive and extruded film matenals for a wide range of decorative, mnstructional and
functional applications for large global customers in the consumer packaging, healthcare, automotive and consumer durables
markets Extruded and laminated plastic tubes, folded instructional leaflets, precision printed and die cut metal components
with LED displays and other complementary products and services are sold in paralle! to specific end-user markets.

- Avery - Includes the manufacturing and selling of various consumer products, including labels, binders, dividers, sheet
protectors and writing instruments in North America, Latin America, Asia Pacific and Europe

+ Checkpoint - Includes the manufacturing and selling of technology-driven, loss-prevention, inventory management and
labeliing solutions, including radio-frequency (“RF”) and radio-frequency identification-based (“RFID"), to the retall and
apparel industry

- Innovia - Includes the manufacturing of specialty high-performance, multi-layer, surface-engineered specialty films for
label, packaging and security applications

- Contaner - Includes the manufactunng of specialty containers for the consumer products industry in North America,
including Mexico. The key product line is recyctable aluminum aeroscl cans and botties for the persenal care, home care
and cosmetic industries, plus shaped aluminum baotties for the beverage market.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information}

CCL

Avery
Checkpoint
Innovia
Container

Corporate expenses

Restructuring and other items

Earnings in equity accounted 1y estments
Finance cost

Finance income

Income tax expense

Net earnings

2017
CC $ 3,1729 &
Avery 5934
Checkpoint 941.0
Innowvia 751.5
Container 140.1
Equiny acvounted
investinents 54.0
Corporate 491.1
Total $ 6,1440 S

Sales

2017 2016

5 2,823.1 5 24976

752.9 7877

675.2 4390

308.2 —

196.3 2304

3 4,755.7 3 3,974.7

Telal bty Total Liabilities

2016 2017 20116 2017
24519 8§ 7754 % 6395 § 1725 ¢

30666 197.1 2013 16.1

9358 417.4 4418 29.0

-- 160.5 — 274

156.1 46.2 423 133

641 —_ — —

3043 2,389.5 1.578.7 0.9
46788 $ 3,986.1 $ 29036 § 259.2 5

]

2017

444.8
164.5
87.4
14.6
26.2

737.5

(52.7)
{11.3)
3.7
(87.4)
12.2
{127.9)

474.1

Qperiing Invome

£

3

20616

378.0
166.8
28.2

303
603.3

(48.23
{318)
4.5
{(41.8)
3.9
(140.8}

3463

Deprecaton

ard Amartization

203

2016

1526 $
161
i3 7

15.3

$

~3

Capital Fypendituies

2017

218.6
13.8
23.3
10.9
18.7

0.4
285.7

2016

L

1948
16.2
59

._.
>
oz

$ 2347

Geographical segments

The CCL, Avery, Checkpoint, innovia and Container Segments are managed on a worldw:ide basis but operate in the following

geographical areas

+ Canada;

« United States and Puerto Rico;

+ Mexico, Brazil, Chile and Argentina;
+ Europe; and

« Asia, Austraha, Africa and New Zealand.

Property Plantand

Sades Eguipament and Goodwilt

2017 2016 2017 2016

Canada $ 159.6 8 1946 $ 449 $ 91.8

United States and Puerto Rico 1,876.7 1.829.2 830.4 856 9

Mexaco, Brazil, Chile and Argentina 293.5 2618 300.6 191.5

Lurope 1,597.9 1.§22.0 1,308.2 8737

Asta, Australia, Africa and New Zealand 828.0 5671 611.3 3348

Consolidaied $ 4,755.7 $ 39747 $ 3,095.4 % 2,348 7
The geographical segment iz determined by the location from which the sale 1s made
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5. ACQUISITIONS

{a) Acquisition of Innovia Group of Companies

in February 2017, the Company complated the share acquisitton of Innowvia Group of Companies (“Innovia”) for approximately
$115 billion. Innovia 1s a leading global manufacturer of biaxially oriented polyprapylene films supplying highly differentiated
specialty products to the packaging, labels, and securities markets. The Innovia acquisition expands the Company's security
products, customers, markets and technology. Innovia’s film operation is included within the newly created Innovia segment.
Innovia’s security cheration 1s included within the CCL (formerly CCL Label) segment.

Total cash consideralion, net of cash acquired of $28 4 $ [,£53.2
Trade and other recervables $ 106.2
Inventories 785
Property, plant and equipment 2279
Other assets 11.7
Intangible assets 4664
Goodwili 5456
Trade and other pavables (151.2)
Denvative instramerts (53)
Employee benefits (+3.8)
Deterred tax habilities {82.8)
Net assets avquuered $ 1.153.2

Goodwill 1s comprised of the excess fair value of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets required. Factors
that make up the amount of goodwill recognized include expected synergles and employee knowledge of operations The
total amount of goodwill and intangibles for Innowia 1s $1,012.0 million and is not deductible for tax purposes.

{b) Other acquisitions

In April 2017, the Company acquired Goed Gemerkt 8.V, and Goed Gewerkt BV. (collectively referred ta as "Goed Gemerkt”),
two privately owned companies with common shareholders in Utrecht, Netherlands, for approximately $23.0 million, net of
cash acquired Goed Gemerkt has expanded Avery's depth in the personalized "kids labels” sector.

in April 2017, the Company acquired badgepoint GmbH, badgetech GmbH and Name Tag Systems Inc. (collectively referred to
as “Badgepoint”}, three privately owned comparnies with common sharehalders based in Hamburg, Germany, for approximately
$5.6 million, net of cash acquired. Badgepoint has expanded Avery’'s portfohio In web-to-print technologies internationally.

in October 2017, the Company announced it had acquired the remaining 37.5% minority interest 1in its Acrus CCL venture
("Acrus”} for approximately $6.3 mullion in cash.

In 2017, the Company and its joint-venture partner invested an additional $3.3 million in Rheinfelden Americas, LLC, a supplier
of aluminum slugs for aercsol cans.

(c} Revenue and profit from acquirees

The following table summarizes the combined sales and earmings that the newly acquired Innovia, Goed Gemerkt, Badgepoini
and Acrus have contnibuted to the Company for the current reporting period.

Twelve Months Ended

December 31, 2017

Sales $ 495.4
Net carnungs $ 25.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMERNTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian doliars, except per share information)

{d) Pro forma information

The unaudited pro forma consohidated financial information below has been prepared following the accounting policies of
the Company as If the acquisitions took place on January 1, 2017.

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information has been presented for (liustrative purposes only and 1s not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations and financial position that would have been achieved had the pro forma
events taken place on the dates indicated, or the future consolidated results of operations or financial position of the
conschdated company. Future results may vary significantly from the pro forma results presented

The histarical consohdated financial information has been adjusted in preparing the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial
information to give effect to events that are: {1) directly attributable to the acquisitions; (1) factually supportable; and (iu} with
respect to revenues and earmings, expected to have a continuing impact on the results of CCL Industries inc. As such, the
impact from acquisition releted expenses 13 not Included in the accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated financial
information. The unaudited pro forma consohdated financial information does not reflect any cost savings {or associated costs
to achieve such savings) from operating efficiencies, synergies or other restructunng that could result from the acquisitions

The following table summarizes the sales and earnings of the Company combined with Innovia, Goed Gemerkt, Badgepoint
and Acrus as though the acquisitions took place on January 1, 2017,

Twelve Months Ended

December 31, 2017

Sales $ 4,873.7
Net earmings $ 498.9

{e) Acquisition of Checkpoint Systems, Inc.

in May 2016, the Company completed the share acquisition of Checkpoint Systems, Inc. {("CSI”} for $531.9 million CSlis a
teading manufacturer of techrology-driven, loss prevention, inventory management and labelling solutions, including radio-
frequency ("RF”) and radio-frequency identification-based ("RFID”), to the retal and apparelindustry. The CSl acquisition was
a strategic opportunity leveraging the Company’s deep capabilities in labels,

Cash consideration, net of cash acquired s 440.5
Assumed debt 914
Total consideration $ 531.9
Trade and other receivables $ 146.1
Inventories P37.7
Property, plant and equipment 1054
Other assets 8.2
Goodwill i94.1
Intangible assets 3213
Trade and other payables (199.0)
Income taxes payable (22 1)
Employee benefils (127.4)
Deferred tax hiabilsties (8.1)
Provisions and other long-tern: liabilities (24.3)
Net assets acquired 3 ERHE

During the year, the Company completed its assessment of the fair market value of the assets and liabilities acquired. As a
result of the assessment, property, plant and equinment increased by $3.9 million, other assets increased by $3 9 mitlion,
brands increased by $103.9 million, customer relationships increased by $18 1 milion, income taxes payable increased by
312 million, and deferred tax liabilities increased by $39.0 million related to the aforementioned adjustments, with the
resulting net impact to goodwill since December 31, 2016

Goodwlll 1s comprised of the excess fair value of the consideration paid over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Factors
that make up the amount of goodwill recognized include expected synergies from combining operations and expertise in
smart-label products. Goodwill Is nat deductible for tax purposes
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(f) Summary of 2016 acquisitions
In January 2016, the Company acquired Woelco AG (“Woelco™), a privately owned company in Stuttgart, Germany, with

.

subsidiaries in China and the United States, for approximately $21.7 million, net of cash acquired. Woelco has expanded CCLs
depth in the industrial and automotive durable goods market.

in lanuary 2016, the Company acquired Label Art Lid, and Label Art Digital Ltd. {collectively referred to as "LAL"), two privately
owned companies with common sharehaolders based in Dubhn, Ireland, for approximately $13.6 milhan, net of cash acquired.
LAL expanded CCL’s business in Ireland and the UK.

In February 2016, the Company acguired Zephyr Company Limited of Singapore, and its Malaysian subsidianes in Penang and
Jehor (collectively referred to as “Zephy:™), from multiple private shareholders for approximately $40.9 million, net of cash
acquired. Zephyr expanded CCL's presence within the electronics industry to southeast Asia

in March 2016, the Company acquired the shares of Powerpress Rotulos & Etiquetas Adesivas LTDA ("Powerpress”), a privately
owned company In Sac Paolo, Brazil, for approximately $11.4 million, net of cash acquired. Powerpress enhances CCLs
product offering in South America.

in July 2018, the Company acquired the shares of Eukerdruck GmbH & Co. KG and Pharma Druck CDOM GmbH (collectively
referred to as “Euker”), two privately own companies with common sharehoiders owning plants in Marburg and Dresden,
Germany, for approximately $30.0 million, net of cash acquired and assumed debt. Euker has expanded CCL's presence with
pharmaceutical companies in German-speaking countries

In August 2016, the Company acquired the shares of Labelone Ltd. (“Labell”), & privately held company based in Belfast,
Northern Ireland, for approximately $17 5 mullion, net of cash acquired and assumed debt. Labell will maximize opportunities
0 an important country for the Healthcare business in Europe.

In January 2016, the Company invested $6.0 million in cash to increase its interest from 50% to 75% 0 its tube manufactunng
joint ventura in Bangkok, Thailand, with Taiser Kako Co Ltd of Japan ("Taiser”), resulung in Taiser becorming a subsichary of
the Company as a result of the change in control. in August 2016, the Company acquired the remaining 25% interest for
proceeds of $19 mdhon.

The following table summarizes the allocation of the consideration to the fair value of the assets acquired and labilities
assumed for the Woelco, LAL, Zephyr, Powerpress, Euker, Labell and Taiser acquisitions:

Cash consideration % iZe.l
Assumed debt 10.9
Total consideration $ 1370
Trade and other receivables $ 235
Inveniories 146
Other current assets 08
Property, plant and equipment 456
Other long-term assets 04
Goodwill and intangibles 929
Trade and other payables {28.0)
Long-term debt (1.0)
Deferred tax habilities (5.3)
Provisions and other long-term hahilities (6.5)
Net assets acquired 3 137.G
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

December 31,

December 31,

2017 2016
Bank balasnices $ 513.0 3 3462
Restricted cash 7.3 32
Short-term invesiments 37.2 33.7
Cash and cash equivalents $ 557.5 $ 585.1
7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31, December 3§,
2017 2016
Trade receivables 3 754.8 $ 630.5
Olher receivables 66.5 41.7
Trade and other recenvables $ 821.3 5 6722
8. INVENTORIES
December 31, Deceinber 31,
2017 2016
Raw materal $ 161.2 s 1296
Work mn progress 50.5 31.3
Frmshed goods 213.4 190.3
Total inventories $ 425.1 3 55

The totai amount of inventories recognized as an expense in 2017 was $3,319 4 million {2016 - $2.806.9 million}, inciuding

depreciation of $209.7 million (2016 - $178 6 million).

9. EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

Summary financial information for equity accounted investments, mcluding joint ventures and associates, not adjusted for

the percentage ownership held by the Company 1s as follows.

Associates Joint Ventures Total
At December 31, 2017
Net earnings $ 4.0 $ 3.3 $ 7.3
Other comprehensive loss (1.2) (4.2) {5.4)
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 2.8 3 {0.9) 1.9
Carrying amounl of investments in associates and jeint ventures $ 25.4 $ 28.6 54.0
Assanates Jount Ventuies total
At December 31, 2016
Net earnings § 16 § 7.2 $ 88
Othier comprehensive income {loss) 4.3 (83) {4.0)
Total comprehensive income {loss) g 39 $ {1.1) % 18
Carrymg amount of investments in associates and joint ventures § 240 $ 40.0 5 641
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Maciuners Fintones,

Land and and Hittngs

Rusidimgy Equipment and Other iata
Cost
Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 486.7 $ 1,687 3 5 267 3 2.200.7
Acquisitions through business combinations 720 75.6 25 1301
Other additions 50.7 180.1 39 2347
Disposals (8.3) (352) {0.4) {43.9)
Etect of movements in exchange rates {24.1 {102.3) {1.3:) (127 7)
Balance at December 31, 2016 5 577.0 % 1,805.5 $ 314 b 24139
Acquisitions threugh busimess combinations 64.4 1777 1.5 2436
Other additions 428 2381 4.8 2857
Disposals {19 (77.7) {0L) (79.7)
Lffect of movements in exchange rates 1.0 (56.1) {08) (359}
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 683.3 $ 2,087.5 $ 36.8 $ 2.807.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 1409 S 957 8 3 165 $ 11152
Depreciation for the year 225 152.4 37 178.6
Disposals (3.2) (32.3) (0.3) (36.0)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 5D (34 1) (1.6) (60.8)
Balance at December 31, 2016 8 1551 $ 1.023.6 $ 18.3 $ 1,197 0
Depreciation for the year 27.2 1783 4.0 209.7
Disposals {1.3) (66.1) (0.2) {67.8)
Effect of movements tn exchange rates (1.5) (43 4) (an (46.0)
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 179.3 $ 1,092.6 $ 21.0 $ 1,292.9
Carrying amounts
At December 31, 2010 8 421.9 $ 7819 g 131 g 1.216.9
At December 31, 2017 $ 504.0 $ 994.9 $ 15.8 $ 1,514.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {in milhons of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Pualents,

Custonier Trademuarks

Relanomships amd Other Brands Total Goodwili
Cost
Balance at January i, 2016 h] 178.6 $ 216 $ 1777 $ P 3 876.8
Acquisitions through business combinations 192.3 12,5 93.3 2981 2914
Adduions — 10 e 1.0 —
LiTect of movements i exchange rates (9.6) (1.3) (24 {13.5) (36.4)
Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 3613 ) 336 $ 268.6 $ 663.5 3 1,131.8
Acquisitions through busiess combinations 280.0 157.5 1694 606 9 4756
Lifect of movements i exchange rates (41) (9.1) (13.0) {262) (267}
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 637.2 $ 1820 $ 425.0 3 1,244.2 $ 1,580.7
Amortization and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 739 5 i8.7 $ — $ 926 :] —
Amortization for the year 23 28 e 251 —
LiTect of movements in exchange rates (2.5) {13 — {3.8) —
Balance at December 31, 2016 S Y37 g mn2 8 - g 113.9 $ —
Amortizauon for the vear 103 9.2 — 4495 -—
EHeet of movements in exchange rates 0.4 23) — (L9 —
Balance at December 31, 2017 $ 134.4 $ 27.1 3 — 3 161.5 $ —
Carrying amounts
Al December 31, 2016 $ 2676 $ 134 $ 268 6 % 549.6 $ 1,i31.8
At December 31, 2017 $ 502.8 $ 1549 $ 425.0 $ 1,082.7 $ 1,580.7

12, GOODWILL AND INDEFINITE-LIFE INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets

For the purpose of imparment testing, goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets are allocated to the Company’s operating
segments, which represent the lowest level within the Company at which the goodwill 1s monitored for internal management

puUrposes.

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each unit are as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

2017 2010
Goodwill

CCL 1,052.4 § 7437
Avery 118.7 103.0
Checkpoint 192.8 271.3
Innoyvia 204.0 —
Container 12.8 12.8
1,580.7 5 11318

Indefinite-fife intangible assets — brands
Avery 188.4 $ 1840
Checkpuoint 181.6 846
innovia 55.0 —
425.0 & 268 6
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Impairment testing for goodwidl and indefinite-life intangible assets was done by a comparison of the asset’s carrying
amount to itz estimated value in use, determined by discounting the CGUs future cash flows, Key assumptions used in the
determination of the value in use include a growth rate of 2%-5%, and a pre-tax discount rate of 11%-19% Discount rates
reflect current market assumptions and risks related to the CGUs and are based upon the weighted average cost of capital.
The Company’s historical growth rates are used as a basis in determining the growth rate applied for impairment testing.

The Company completed its impairment testing as at September 30, 2017,

The estimated value 1n use of CCL, Avery, Checkpoint, Innovia and Container assets exceedad thelr carrying values. As a
result, no goodwill and indshinite-hife intangible assets impalrment was recorded.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
Trade payables $ 551.7 $ 4529
Other pavables 466.7 3916
Trade and other payables $ 1,018.4 R 8§44 5
14. DEFERRED TAX
(a) Unrecognized deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items
December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
Deductible temporary ditferences $ 16.4 8 216
Lax losses 77.6 63.1
Income tax credits 7.1 732
$ 101.1 $ 1579

The unrecognized deferred tax assets on tax losses of $20.1 million will expire between 2018 and 2027, $6.8 million will exgire
beyond 2027 and $50 7 million may be carried forward indefinitely. The deduct:ble temporary differences do not expire under
current tax legisiation income tax credits of $7.1 million will expire between 2018 and 2027 and relates mainly to foreign tax
credits in the United States. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable
that future taxable income will be available agamst which the Company can utilize the benefits therefrom.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCGCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

(b) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attnbutable to the following:

Aswits

T1abh anes

Net Aosets) Liabilities

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Property, plant
and equipment $ 6.4 $ 33 $ 524 $ 717 $ 46.0 $ 67.4
tatangible assels — 144 253.2 165.2 253.2 130.8
Derivatives 1.4 0.5 0.4 7.2 (1.0) 6.7
hiventory reserves 11.5 139 0.3 0.3 (11.2} (15.6)
Employee benefit plans 56.0 379 — — (56.0) {(57.9}
Share-based payments 135 187 — — (13.5) (18 7}
Capitahized research
and development 14.6 295 — — (14.6) (29.5)
Provisions and other ttems 31.2 29.5 5.7 139 (25.5) (15.6}
Tax loss carry-forwards 22.7 3ta — — (22.7) (316}
Foreign tax credit — g4 — — — (5.4}
Balance before ollset 157.3 2127 312.0 259.3 154.7 166
Offset of tax {128.5) {191 5} (128.5) (191 3) — .
Balancc after ollsel $ 28.8 $ 21.2 $ 183.5 $ 678 $ 154.7 3 16.6
Tecoynezed
Balance a3 Rewognized m Qther Balance at
Deceiniver 14, 2016 m Incoime Transiatwon Cuomprehenave December 31, 2017
Liabilis £ \seaty Satenienl Acquisitions a1d Uthers Incomelt quin Liability (Asset)
Property, plant
and equipment $ 67 .4 $ (20.5} $ 11 % {2.0) $ — $ 46.0
Intangible assets 150 § (60.1) 164 4 {1.9) — 253.2
Derivatives 6.7 {5.4) (1.3} — (1.0) {(1.0)
Inventory reserves (15.6) 47 (0.6) 03 — (11.2)
Employee benefit plans (57 9} 14.5 {15.6) 1.2 PR (56.0)
Share-based payments (18.7) (0.6} — 0.3 5.5 (13.5)
Capitalized research
and development (29.5) 13.0 04 1.5 — (14.6)
Provisions and other items (15.6) 6.2 {15.6) (0.5) — {25.5)
‘Tax loss carrv-forwards (3t.8) 26.3 (18.3) 1. — {22.7)
Foreign tax creds (9.4} (54) 14.2 0.6 -— —
$ 46.6 $ (27 3) A3 1285 $ 0.6 $ 63 $ 154.7
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Recogntred

Bualanee at Revognired wn Other Balsace at
DPecenmtws 31, 2015 in lacome ransiation Lomprehensie December 31, 20
[,IAI‘);“[‘}‘ § Aametd Starement Acqgusitions and (Mhers income Fgumty T.abriity LANCE)
Praperty, plant
and equipiient S 71.6 3 {2.6) % 0.6 % (2.2) & — $ 6,4
Intangible assets 77.3 87 68 1 (33) — 150 8
Dernvatives . 39 (0.2} — 3.0 7
[nventory reserves (84) (2.0) (5.5} 0.3 s (15 6)
Employee benefit plans {49.9) (49) (3.0} 19 (2.0} {57.9)
Share-based paymenls (210 3.2 (1.6} 04 G3 (187}
Capitalized research
and development — 40 (32.3) (1.2) s (29.5)
Provisions and other items {15 8) - (1.5) 1.7 — (13.6}
Tax loss carry-forwards (6.2) 15 {29.2} (0.7} — (316}
Foreign tax credit — — {9.1) (0.3} — {9.4)
$ 47.6 $ 4.8 5 (1373 5 {34} $ 3 % 40.6

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidianies and joint ventures for which
deferred 1ax habilities were not recogrized as a1t December 31, 2017 15 $1,344.8 mullion (2016 - $1.026.7 millon).

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures for which
deferred tax assets were not recognized as at December 31, 2017, 18 $14 4 mullion (2016 - $15.3 million).

15. SHARE CAPITAL

Class A e B
shares msued Gm auliom) Shares Amaint Shares Amount fotal
Balance, January 1, 2016 1t 8 5 45 163.6 S 279.8 $ 284.3
Slock options exercised — — 05 6.8 68
Balance, December 31, 2016 11.8 b 1.5 i64.1 S 236.6 $ 291.1
Stock options exercised —_— — 0.8 146 146
Director share units exercised —_— — 0.1 34 3.4
Balance, December 31, 2017 11.8 $ 4.5 165.0 $ 304.6 $ 309.1

At December 31, 2017, the authorized share capital comprised an unhmited number of Class A voting shares and an unlimited
number of Class B non-voting shares The Class A and Class B shares have no par value. Allissued shares are fully paid. Both
Class A and Class B shares are classified as equity.

(i) ClassA

The holders of Class A shares receive dividends set at $0.01 per share per annum less than Class B shares, are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company and their shares are convertible at any time into Class B shares.

(ii} ClassB
Class B shares rank equally in all matenal respects with Class A shares, except as follows:
{a) The holders of Class B shares are entitied to receive material and attend, but not to vote at, regular shareholder meetings.

{b) Holders of Class B shares are entitied to voting priviieges when consideration for the Class A shares, under a takeover bid
when voting controf has been acquired, exceeds 115% of the market price of the Class B shares.

(c) Holders of Class B shares are entitied to receive, or have set aside for payment, dividends declared by the Board of
Directors from time to tme, set at $0.01 per share per annum greater than Class A shares
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NOTES TO THE COMNSOLIDATED FINANGCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {In rmullions of Canadian dollars, except per share information}

Dividends
The annual dividends per share were as follows:

2017 2016
Class A share $ 0.45 g 039
Class B share $ 0.46 ] 0.40

Shares held in trust

During 2016, the Company granted awards totalling 124,500 Class B shares of the Company. Shares to be used to satisfy
this obligation were purchased in the open market and are restricted in nature. These share awards are dependent on the
Company's performance and continuing employment The grant date fair value of these stock awards is being amortized over
the vesting period and recognized as compensation expense.

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended Dacember 31, 2017, was based on profit attributable to
Class A shares of $31.8 mithon (2016 - $23.3 million} and Class B shares of $442.3 mullion (2016 - $322.4 miflion) and a
weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding of 11.8 million (2016 - 11 8 million) and Class B shares cutstanding of
164 0 million {2016 - 163.3 million)

Weighted average number of shares (in millions)

2017 216

Class A Class B Class A Class B

Shares Shares Shares Shares

Issued and outstanding shares at January | 11.8 163.3 11.8 1631
Iflect of stock options exeraised — 0.6 — 02
Effect of reciprocal shares purchased — — — (04
Fleet of reciprocal shates vested — — — 0.4
Lffect of deferred share units exeraised — 0.1 e —
Weighted average number of shares at December 31 11.8 164.0 118 163.3

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2017, was based on profit attributable to
Class A shares of $31.4 milhon (2016 - $23.0 millien) and Class B shares of $442.7 midhon (2016 - $323.7 million) and 2
weighted average number of Class A shares outstanding of 1.8 million (2016 - 11.8 mullion} and Class B shares cutstanding
of 166.4 million (2016 - 165.6 million).

Weighted average number of shares - diluted (in millions)
December 31, December 31,

2017 2016
Weghted average number of shares (basic) 175.8 175.1
Elfect of delerred share units on ssue 0.4 04
Effect of reciprocal shareholdings 0.7 0.5
Effect of share options an 1ssue 1.3 1
Wetghted average number of shares {diluted) 178.2 1774

The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the diutive effect of share options was based
on quoted market prices for the year that the options wers outstanding
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17. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
Current liabilities

Current portion of ansecured notes (1) $ 162.0 $ —_
Current portion of unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities (1) 60.3 —
Current portion of finance tease habilics 2.2 32
Current portion of other loans (1v) 6.1 1.0
$ 230.6 $ 42
Short-term operating credit fines available (v) $ 20.1 8 30.9
Short-term operating credst lines used $ 6.8 $ 32

Non-current liabilities
Unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities () $ 1,474.8 g 756.6
Unsecured Rule 1444 bonds (31} 620.3 662.1
Unsecured notes (1) -— 173.0
Finance lease liabilitios 4.0 31
Other loans (1v) 1.7 23

$ 2,100.8 R 1.597.1

(i} Unsecured notes

As st December 31, 2017 the Company had two private debt placements completed in 1988 and 2008 for a totat of
US3129.0 million US$510 milkon ($64.1 million; 2016: $68 5 mitlion) with an interest rate of 709% matures on July 8, 2018,
and US$78.0 mullion {398 1 million; 2016- $104 7 mullion) with an interest rate of 6.62% matures on September 26, 2018. On
matunty of the Company's 2006 private debt placement on March 7, 2016, the Company repaid US$110.0 million, which had
an interest rate of 5 57%.

{ii)} Unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had an unsecured US5$1.2 billion revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks. The
facility bears interest at the applicable benchmark interest rate plus an interest rate margn linked to the Company’s net debt
to EBITDA and matures December 23, 2020 As at December 31, 2017, US$271.0 mitlion {$34C 7 million: LIBOR plus 1.45%),
£155.8 million ($235.0 million; EURIBOR plus 1.45%), £60.3 million ($102.4 million; GBP LIBOR plus 1.45%), $337.0 million (BA
plus 1.45%) and $3.5 mithon of contingent letters of credits were drawn on this syndicated bank cred:t facility.

As at December 31, 2016, US$409 6 miillion ($550.0 millhon; LIBOR plus 1.2%), €64.0 miilion ($90.7 million; EURIBOR plus
1.2%), £70.0 million {$115.9 million; GBP LIBOR plus 1.2%) and $4.3 midlion of contingent letters of credits were drawn on the
syndicated bank credit facility.

in February 2017, the Company utilized a new US$450.0 million unsecured non-revelving amortizing term loan facility with a
syndicate of banks to aid in the financing of the Innovia acquisition (note 5). This facility, matunng in February 2019, with
quarterly principal repayments of US$12.0 million that started in june 30, 2017, bears Interest at the applicable domestic rate
pius an interest rate margin linked to the Company’'s net debt to EBITDA consistent with the existing syndicated revolving
facility. As at December 31, 2017, U5$414.0 million {$520.0 milion; LIBOR plus T 45%) remained outstanding.

The unused portion of the revelving syndicated bank credit facility was US$397.7 mullion at December 31, 2017 (December 31,
2016 ~ US$6311 million).

{iii) Unsecured Rule 144A bonds

In September 2016, the Company 1ssued US$500.0 million of 3.25% notes that come due on QOctober 1, 2026. These are
unsecured notes offered under a Rule 144A prnivate placement in the Umited States to gualified institutional buyers These
notes bear interest payable semi-annually. The net proceeds were used to partially repay amounts borrowed under the
unsecured syndicated bank credit facility.

Subsequent to the acquisiion of Innovia, the Company utiized a cross-currency interast rate swap agreement to effectively
convart national US$264 7 million of this 3.25% fixed rate debt into €250.0 milhon 1.23% fixed rate debt in order to hedge its
euro-based assets and cash flows {note 23({b))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTYS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In milliens of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

{iv} Otherloans
Other loans include term bank foans at various rates and repayment terms.

{v} Operating creditlines
interest rates charged on the credit lines are based on rates varying with LIBOR, the prime rate and simular market rates for
other currencies,

(vi} Reconciliation of changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Liabihties arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash fiows will be, classified in the
statement cf cash flows as financing activities Changes tn the Company’s habilittes anising from financing activities are
as follows:

Nen Cash

Balamice at Frnancing Furcign Balance at
fanuan I X007 Cavh FHows Loquissttions Exchinge Other December 31, 2087

Syndicated bank
credit facilities 3 756.6 $ 8074 $ e $ (28 4) $ {05) $ 1,535.1

Unsecured

Rule i44A bonds 662.1 — — {42.8) £.O 620.3
Unsecured notes 1730 — — (11.1) 1N 162.0
Finance lease Lhabilities 8.3 (36) 32 0.3 — 6.2
Other loans 33 (=) 3.1 02 09 7.8
Total $ 1,601.3 $ 8021 S 83 $ {81.8} s 1.5 $ 2,331.4

As at December 31, 2017, the carrying ameunt of financial and non-financial assets pledged as collateral, against $5.0 mullion
(2018 - $6.4 million) of long-term debt, amounted to $20.3 mitlion (2016 -~ $18.9 million).

18. FINANCE INCOME AND COST

Recognized in income statement

2017 2016
Tnterest expense on financal habilitzes measured at amortzed cost 3 71.4 $ 374
Fees and interest recognized on other financal mstruments (1.0) 38
Interest expense on post-employment defined benefit plans 17.0 0.6
Finance cost 87.4 41.8
Interest income on cash und cash equuvalents 33 38
Interest incomne on foans and recervables and other financial instruments 0.2 0.1
Interest income on post-cmployvinent detined benetit plans 8.7 —
fnance income 12.2 39
Net finance cost recognized 1n income statement $ 75.2 $ 379

The above finance income and expense are all with respect to assets (habilites) not at fair value through profit or loss.
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19. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

December 31, December 31,

2017 2016

Present value of wholly unfunded defined benefit abligations ] 260.9 $ 249.7
Present value of partally funded defined benefit obligations 435.7 92.3
{'olal present value of obligations 696.6 3420
Farr value of plan assets (376.9) (66.5)
Recognized liabality fur defined bencfit obligations 319.7 2735
Liabilsty for jong-service leave and jubilee plans 11.7 45
Liability for long-term incentive plan 13.2 70
Total employee benelits 344.6 287.0
Total eriployce benefits reported 1n other payables 11.0 77
Total employee benelits reported in non-current habihties $ 3336 $ 2793

(i) Defined contribution post-employment plans

The Company spensors defined contribution post-employment plans in Canada, the US, Thailand and the UK. A post-
employment plan is classified as a defined contribution plan if the Cormpany pays fixed contributions into a fund at a separate
entity and the Company has no further obhgation to pay any further contrnibutions «f the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employee benefits relating to employee service i the currant and prior periods. The expense for company-sponsored
defined contribution past-employment plans was $23 6 miliion in 2017 (2016 - $21.2 million) of which $0.1 million (2016 -
$0.t mithon} was for key management personnel Company contributions into defined contribution state plans are included
in the line “Compulsory social security contributions” of the table 1n note 20.

(ii) Defined benefit post-employment plans

The Company also has defined benefit post-employment plans in various countries of the world Although some of these
plans have elements common to defined contnibution plans, the Company has accounted for these as defined benefit plans
as they are not fully funded at a separate entity.

Partially funded defined benefit obligations

The Company's defined benefit post-employment plans are not futly funded. The obligation of these plans, net of any assets,
1s recorded in non-current liabilities on the Statement of Financial Position in employee benefits or, for payments expected to
be made within the next twelve months, in trade and other payables in current liabilities. Fluctuations in the pension Liabiiities
resulting from actuanal gains or losses due te changes in risk factors are recorded In other comprehensive income The
primary partially funded plans are (n Canada, the United Kingdom, Switzerfand and the Netherlands. Details of these pians
are as follows.

(a) In Canada, the Company has a registered partially funded defined banefit pension plan for seven retired executives
and one active empioyee of CCL. The Company makes all required contributions o the plans. Benefits are based on
employee earnings. An actuary is involved in measunng the obligation of the plan and in calculating the expense and
any contributions required. The plan is closed to new members. The primary risk factors for this plan are longevity of
plan beneficiaries, discount rate volatility for the value of the abligation and market risk on the assets. The Company has
determined that any surplus in the plan after all obligations have been covered is fully available 1o the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {In millions of Canadian doflars, except per share information)

(b} in the U.K, the Company has two registered partially funded defined benefit pension plans, The CCL plan has no active
members and s closed to new members. Benefits are based on finai salary. All members of the plan are either deferred or
retired and benefits are provided to spouses or dependents in the event of a member’s death before or after retirement.
The Company is required to make payments of GBP 0.7 million in deficit funding contnibutions annuaily An actuary is
involved In measuring the obligation of the plan and in calculating the expense and any contributions required The primary
risk factors for this plan are longevity of plan beneficianies and discount rate volatility for the value of the obligation, and
market nsk on the assets. The Company has determined that any surplus in the plan after all obligations have been
covered s fully available to the Company. While the Innovia plan does have active members, 1t 1s closed to new members.
Benefits are based on a member’s final pensionable salaries and length of service at retirement Benefits are provided to
spouses In the event of a member's death before or after retirement. Contributions are required by active members and
the Company. The Company is required to make payments of GBP 1.0 milion n deficit funding contributions annually. An
actuary 1s involved in measuring the obhigation of the plan and in calculating the expense and any contributions required.
The primary risk factors for this plan are longevity of plan beneficiaries and discount rate volatility for the value of the
obligation, and market risk on the assets. The Company has determined that any surplus in the plan after all obligations
have been covered is available to the Company if the plan 1s wound up. However, any surpius while the plan is ongoing
1s under the authonty of the trustees.

s

In Switzerland, CCL provides a mandatory legisiated contribution-based cash balance plan for empiloyees that 15
accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan. Benefits from the plan are paid out at retirement, disability
or death. If an employee terminates from the Company prior to retirement, the vested benefit equal to the accumulated
savings account balance is transferred to the pension pian of the new employer. The plan is governed by a foundation
board that s legally responsible for the operation of the plan and includes employer and employee representation, In
equal numbers A legally required minimum leve!l of retirement benefit1s based on age-related savings contributions, an
insured salary defined by law and a required rate of return set annually by the Swiss government Contributions from both
employers and employees are compulsory and vary according to age and salary The pnmary nsk factors for this pian are
longewvity of plan beneficiaries, discount rate volatility for the value of the obligation and market risk on the assets, Under
Swiss pension law, any surpius assets techrically belong to the pension plan and any reduction in contributions is at the
discretion of the Board

(c

{d) inthe Natherlands, CCL provides a defined banefit carcer average pay plan for a small number of employees Anactuaryis
involved in measuring the obligatian of the plan. Benefits from the plan are paid through retirement and at death, before or
during retirement, to the spouse or dependents. If a member of the plan leaves CCL, the member may choose to have the
benefits of the plan transferred into the plan of the new employer. The benefit formula I1s based on a percentage of each
year's pensicnable salary up to a set maximum salary less a social security offset. Benefits are guaranteed by an insurance
company and CCL s required to pay annual premiums on the insurance contract based on a contract interest rate. There
are no employee contributions to the plan. The primary risk factors for this plan are longevity of plan beneficiaries and
discount rate volatility.
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The most recent actuarial valuation for funding purposes for the executive defined pension plan in Canada was as of January 1,
2015. The next required actuarial valuation will be as of January 1, 2018. The most recent actuarnial valuation of the UK. defined
benefit pension plan for funding purposes was as of January 1, 2014, The next required valuation 1s as of January 1, 2017 The
most recent actuarnal valuation of the UK. Innowia defined benefit pension plan for funding purposes was as of January 1, 2017,
The next required valuaticn is as of January 1, 2020

Whelly unfunded defined benefit obligations

For defined benefit post-employment plans that have no assets, the Company simply funds the plans as benefits are paid.
The primary wholly unfunded plans are in Canada, the U.5. and Germany. Details of these plans are as foliows:

(a) In Canada, the Company maintains non-registered, wholly unfunded supplemantal retirement arrangements for one active

ol

e

Canadian executive, eight retired Canadian executives and two retired U.5. executives or therr widows The Company
makes ali required contributions to the plans. Benefits are based on employee earnings. An actuary ss involved in measuring
the obligation of the plans and in calculating the expense and any contributions required. The plans are ¢losed to new
members. The primary risk factors for these plans are longevity of plan beneficianes and discount rate volatility.

Inthe U.S,, the Company has a post-employment wholly unfunded deferred compensation plan for designated executives
("NQP"). Liabihties are based strictly on the contributions made to the plan, an established rate of return and are not
subject to actuanal adjustments. It allows executives to elect to defer specified portions of salary, cash benuses and long-
term incentive ptan payments The Company contributes a matching portion of the executive’s NQP deferred amount
to a maximum of 8% of the executive's base satary pius bonus. The Company may also contribute a discretionary annual
company contribution based on a percentage of base salary and annual bonus. Contributions to the NQP far one of the
executives vest immediately. For the other executives, immedsate vesting of discretionary Company contributions and
interest occurs on death, disability or change of control with narmal vesting occurring at age 60 with 10 years’ service.
The Company’s match portion and interest vest in the same manner as Company contributions in the 401k plan. Elective
deferrals by the executive vest immediately

In Germany, the Company has several wholly unfunded defined benefit plans. There are four salary-based annuity plans
that are closed to new members, but currently have approximately 130 active members All contributions and benefits
are funded by the Company. The primary risk factors for these plans are longewvity of plan beneficianies and discount rate
volatility There are also three cash batance plans for current employees. Two of those plans require the Company to match
& specific portion of employee contributions. Upon retirement, lump sum payments are made unless an employee requests
an annuity The third cash balance plan has employer and employae contributions and pays cut in three instalments upon
retirement. The primary risk factor for these three plans 15 discount rate volatility.

{d} The Company has wholly unfunded post-employment defined benefit plans in Austria, France, Italy, Mexico and Thailand

Benefits are paid out in lump sums upon retirement, disability or death. There are no employee contributions in these
plans. Benefits are based on salary and length of service with the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

The following table shows the reconcifiation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the defined benefit post-
employment ptans, including the defined benefit pension plans, supplemental retirement plans and other post-employment
defined benefit plans.

2017 Paruathy Funded Wholly Uniunded Total

Accrued benefit obligation

Balance, beginning of year $ 923 3 2497 $ 3420
Opening balance from current year acquisifions 3205 1.3 321.8
Current service cost 75 43 11.8
Interest ¢ost 10.4 6.6 17.0
Emplovee contributions 1.1 0.5 1.6
Benchits pmd {138) {83) (22.1)
Actuarial (gams) losses - experience 14 {2.8) (1.4)
Actuanal (guns) losses - demographic assumptions {(33) .1 (3.4)
Actuanal loss - finanaial assuniptions 10.1 32 13.3
Reinstatements and transters 2.5} — (2.5)
Effect of curtailment (02) — (0.2)
Settlement gain (1.5) — (1.5)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 139 6.3 20.2
Balance, end of year $ 4337 5 2609 $ 696.6
Plin assets
Fair value, beginning of vear $ 66.6 3 — $ 66.6
Opentng balance from current year acqusitions 2764 — 276.4
Expected return on plan assets 87 — 8.7
Actuanal gains 9.9 — 19.9
Employvee contributions 11 — 1.1
Employer contributions 105 83 18.8
Renefits pad (138} (8.3} (22.1)
Administrative expenses {2.5) -— (2.5)
Settiements (15) — (1.5)
Effect ef 1ttovements 1n cxch‘u]gc rates 11.5 — 11.5
Faur value, end of vear $ 376.9 $ — $ 376.9
Funded status, net deficit of plans $ (58.8) S (260.9) $ (319.7)
Accrued benelit Habiday 5 (5%.8) S {260 9) $ (319.7)
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2016 Vartiaih Funpded Whally U ntunded Total
Accrued benefit obhigation:
Balance, beginning of year $ 86.3 $ 145 § 2008
Opemng balance from current vear scquisilions 70 1328 1394
Current service cost 1.6 37 5.3
Past service cost e 01 0.1
literest cost 20 53 7.3
Employee contributions 0% 1.7 36
Benefits pand {(25) (3.4) (7.9)
Actuarial gains - expenence {07} (1.6) {23)
Acluarial guns - demographic assumpiions {0.9) {0.3) {1.2)
Actuarial loss - linancial assUmplans 83 4.8 3.1
Etfect of movemnents 1y exchange rates (9.7} (89) {18 6}
Balance, end of vear § 923 $ 2497 $ 3420
Plan assets
Fan value, beginning of vear 8 a7.2 S — $ 672
Openmyg balance from current year acquisihions 5.1 — 5.1
Expected return on plan assets 15 — 15
Actuarial losses (1.4) — (14
Emplovee contnbutions 09 — 0.9
Empioyer contribution, 25 54 79
Benefits patd (2.3) (54) (79)
Etfect of movemenls in exchange rates (6.8) (6 8)
Fair value, end of year $ 6o.5 ¥ - $ 66 5
Funded status, net deficit of plans 3 (23.8) 5 (249.7) $ {275.5)
Accrued benetit habsluy $ {25 8) S (249.7) $ (275 53)
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Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

The Company’s net defined benefit plan expense is as follows:

2017 Parbialh Funded Whollv Eniunded Total
Current service cost $ 7.5 3 4.3 $ 11.8
Netinterest cost on accrued benefit Hability 17 6.6 8.3
Curtadlment gain (02) — (0.2)
Net defined benefit plan expense % 96 $ 109 $ 19.9
Net defined benefit plan expense 18 recorded in,

Cost of sales $ 5.5 S 1.0 $ 6.5

Selling, general and admuustrative expenses 1.8 13 5.1

Finance vost 17 6.6 8.3
Net defined benefit plan expense $ S0 $ 10.9 $ 19.9
2016 Partalh Funded Whalh Untanded Tatal
Current service cost $ 16 3 37 $ 5.3
Past service cost — .1 0.1
Netinterest cost on acerted benefit habsliy 03 53 5.8
Netdefined benefit plan expense $ 2.1 $ 9.1 § 112
Nel defined benefit plan expense 14 recorded in

Cost of sales b 0.5 ) 1.8 $ 26

Seiling, general and administrain e expenses 08 72 30

Finance cosl 0.5 0.1 06
Net defined benetit plan expense $ 21 5 9.1 % L2
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Actuarial gains {losses) recognized directly in equity are as follows:

2017 W06
Actuarial gans — experience $ 14 $ 2.3
Actuarial gains - demographic assumptions 34 12
Actuarial loss - financial assumnpuions (13.3) {13 1)
Experience gains (losses) on plan assets 19.9 (14
Recognized during the vear in other comprehensive mcome $ 114 $ {110}
Pian assets consist of the following:
2017 Partiaihy Funded Whalh Unfunded Total
Equity securities 61% — 61%
Debt securilies 294, — 29%
Real estate 3% — 3%
Other 7% _ 7%
Total 100% — 100%
2016 Fartaily Funded Wholls Unfunded Fotal
Equily securitics 33% — 33%
Debt secunties 38% — 38,
Real estate e — 9q
Other 20% — 20%
Total 1003% — 100%

No plan assets are directly invested in the Company's own shares or directly in any property occupted by, or other assets

used by, the Company.

The actual returns on pian assets are as follows

Partially Faaded

Wholn Uniunded

Totd

2017 ¥ 286 — $ 28.6
016 $ 0.1 — b 0.3
The weighted average economic assumptions used to determine post-employment benefit obligations are as follows:

Parualiv Funded Wholly Untunded Tutal
December 31, 2017
Piscount rate 2.36% 2.00% 2.33%
Expected rale of compensation increase 1.38% 1.87% 1.56%
December 31, 2016
Dhscount rate 1.93% 1.96% 1.95%
Expected rate of compensation increase 1.60% 2.52% 2.31%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

The weighted average economic assumptions used to determine post-employment pian expenses are as follows.

Partth Furded Whatle Untunded Tatal
December 31, 2017
Discount rate 2 50% 194% 2.29%
Expected rate of compeisation increase 1 38% 1.89% 1.57%
December 31, 2016
Diuscount rate 2.45% 2.03% 2.15%
Expected rate of compensation mcrease 228% 2.31% 246%

The sensitivity analysis on the defined benefit obligation is as follows, and 1s prepared by altering one assumption at a time
and keeping the other assumptions unchanged. The resulting defined benefit obligation is then compared to the defined
benefit cbiigation in the disclosures:

Partally Tunded Whally Unrusded
Discount rate (increase 1Y) 5 (76.0) g (27 2}
Dhscount rate (decrease 19:) 3 909 & 0.6
Longewity {+1 year) 3 165 $ (339}
Inflatien {+0.25%) $ 106 g 0.3
Intlation (-0.23"%) S (10.0) 4 (0.2
Salary (increase 19) 5 16.6 $ 42
Salary (decrease 1%} S (15.8) $ 27
Duration {vears) 20 i2

The Company expects to contribute $8.8 million to the partiaily funded defined benefit plans and pay $101 million in benefits
for the wholly unfunded plans in 2018

(iii} Long-term incentive, long-service leave, jubilee and other plans
The Company has long-term incentive pians with cash and share-based payments, long-service leave plans and jubiiee plans
In varlous countries around the world. As at December 31, 2017, $0.3 million {2016 - nil) of the total obligation of $24.9 million

(2016 - $11.5 million) s classified as current, and reported in other payables. The expense for these plans was $18.1 midlion in
2017 {2016 - $177 mulion).

20.PERSONNEL EXPENSES

2017 2016

Wages and salaries $ 1,084.1 $ 812.8
Compulsory social security contributions 1311 92.1
Contnibutions o company-sposered defined coniribution plans 23.6 212
Expenses related to defined benetit plans 20.1 1.3
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 19.7 154
5 1,278.6 3 4$32.8
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21. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016
Current tax expense
Current tax on earnngs betore eatnings i equuty accounted investments for the year $ 155.2 $ 1260
Deferred tax expense {benefit} (note 14)
Ongination and reversal of temporary duTerences $ 21.3 $ 219
Impact of tax rate changes (44.3) (G.5)
Recogmuon of previousty unrecognized tax losses and deductible temporary ditferences (4.3) (6.6)
$ (27.3) ¢ 148
‘Fotal income Lax expense L 127.9 $ 140.8
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2017 2016
Combined Canadian federal and provinaal income tax rates 25.27% 25.27%
The meeme tax expense un the Company’s carmngs dilfers from the amount
determined by the Company’s statutory rates as tollows:
Net earnings for the year $ 474.1 3 3363
Add' income tax expense 127.9 14018
Deduct earnings in equity accounted mvestments 37 4.3
Earmings betore income tax and equity accounted investments 598.3 482.6
Income tax using the Compans’s demestic combined Canadian federal and
provincial income tax 1ates 151.2 1219
Eilect of Lax rales in forergn mrisdictions 274 80
Impact of tax rate changes (44.3) {0.5)
Recoguution of previously unrecognized tax losses and deductible temporary differences (4.3) {6.6)
I osses and deductible temporary ditferences for which no deferred tax asset was recognused 4.6 5.1
Non-deductible expenses and other items (6.7) 29
$ 127.9 $ 408
Income tax recovery recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Dervatives and foreign currency translation adjustments § (1.3) & 38
Actuarial gains and losses 1.8 {20)
Total meome tax expense (recovery) recognized directly in other comprehensive income $ 0.5 $ 18

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was substantively enacted. The leg:slation, which was generally effective for
tax years baginning on January 1, 2018, results in significant U.S. tax reform and revises the Internal Revenue Code by, among
other things, lowenng the corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to 21% and modifying how the U.S. taxes multinational
entities. The net impact of the revaluation of deferred tax balances due io the lowering of the corporate federal income tax
rate from 35% to 21% resulted in & deferred income tax recovery recognized in the income statement of $40.0 million and a
deferred tax expense recognized directly in the statement of changes in equity of $3 0 million.

The Company s subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment 1s required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes, There are many transactions and calcuiations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. If the final tax outcome of these matters s different from the amounts that were imtislly recorded, such differences
will iImpact the current and deferred income tax assets and liablhities in the period in which such determination i1s made
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NOTES TO THE CONSOQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information}

22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
At December 31, 2017, the Company had four share-based compensation glans, which are described below

(i) Employee stock option plan

Under the employee stock option glan, the Company may grant options to employees, officers and directors of the Company.
The Company does not grant options to independent directors. The exercise price of each option equals the market price
of the Company's stock on the date of grant, and an option’s maximum term is 10 years. Current options vest 25% one year
from the grant date and 25% each subsequent year. The term of these options is five years from the grant date. in general,
the grants are conditional upon continued employment No market conditions affect vesting. Granted options are not entitled
to dividends and may not be transferred or assigned by the option holder

For options and share awards granted for stock-based compeansation, $18.8 million (2016 - $15.4 million) has been recognized
in the financial statements as an expense with a corresponding offset to contributed surplus. The fair value of options granted
has been estimated using the Black-Scholes madel and the following assumptions:

2017 2018
Risk-free interest rate 1.12% 0 69
Expected hfe 4.5 years 4.5 years
Expected volanlity 28% 27%
Expected dividends $ 0.46 s 0 40

A summary of the status of the Company's Employee Stock Option Plan as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and changes
during the years ended on those dates, is presented below

2017 2016

Weighted Wewhred

Shares Average Shates \veiape

(in millions) Exercise Price na mutbens Fretoise Prace

Outstanding at beginnmy of year 31 $ 26.26 27 § 18.59
Granted 0.8 58.03 . 4390
Exerased (0.8) 15.83 (0.5) 1205
Outstanding at end of year 31 $ 36.81 3. § 26 26
Options exercisable at end of year 0.9 $ 25.35 G7 $ 1749

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise 1n 2017 was $58.01 (2016 - $48 03).

The following table simmarizes information about the employee stock options outstanding at December 31, 2017,

Options Quistanding Opiiens Exeraisabie
Weighted

Qptaons Average Weghted Options Weighted

Range ui Ouistanding Remaning Average Fxervinible Avwiape
Lxerasable Praces (i mdhons} Contractual Life Exerone Pree tm sudhons} Excrese Posee
S11.20-$2500 0.7 1.G years $ 16.30 0.4 $ 15,48
$2501-%40.00 0.8 2.2 years b 2748 G.3 § 27 48
$40.01-$58.03 1.6 37 years ¥ 3095 (.2 5 +3.90
$11.20-$58.03 3.1 2 6 years $ 36.81 0.9 ) 25.35
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{ii) Deferred share uniis (“DSU")

The Company mainiains a deferred share unit plan. Under this plan, non-employee members of the Company's Board of
Directors may elect to receive DSUs, in heu of cash remuneration, for director fees that would otherwise be payable to such
directors or any portion thereof until DSU holdings of three times the base retainer have been achieved. The number of units
received 1s equivalent to the fees earned and 1s based on the fair market value of a Class B non-voting share of the Company’s
capital stock on the date of 1ssue of the DSU. When diidends are paid on Class B non-voting shares of the Company, the
equivalent value per DS is calculated and the holder receives additional DSUs in lieu of actual cash dividends based on
the fair market vaiue of 5 Class B non-voting share of the Company. DSUs cannot be redeemed or paid out untif such time
as the directar ceases 1o be a drector. A DSU entitles the holder to recewve, on a deferred payment basis, the number of
Class B non-veting shares of the Company equating to the number of his or her DSUs on the redemption date. The Company
accounts for the DSU plan as an equity-settled share-basad payment transaction.

The Company had 376,515 DSUs outstanding as at December 31, 2017, The amount recognized as an expense in 2017 totalled
$0.9 million (2016 ~ $G 5 million).

{ili} Restricted share units ("RSU")

The Company has shares held in trust to be used to satisfy future employee benefits related to its long-term incentive plan
as outhned in note 15.

{iv) Long-term retention plan (“LTRP”)

In 2017, the Company instituted a long-term retention plan. Under the plan, the Company provided a one-time retention
incentive to four key executives totalling 259.676 shares to be issued from treasury The incentive vests 25% in each year
beginming 2022 and ending 2025, inciusive For LTRP, $0.8 million has been recognized as an expense with a corresponding
offset to contnibuted surplus

23.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Cash flow hedges

The Company was party to an interest rate swap agreement ("IRSA”), the hedging item, in order to redistribute the Company's
December 31, 2015, exposure to fixed and floating interest rates with a view to reducing interest rates over the long term,
The hedgad 1tem was US$80.0 million of the syndicated bank credit facility. Fair value of this IRSA was recorded in derivative
instruments on the consolidated statements of financial position. Change in fair value of the IRSA and the change in fair vaiue
of the debt were recorded in other comprehensive iIncome. No ineffectiveness was recognized in the consolidated come
statement as this was a fully effective hedge. This swap matured in September 2016.

The Company has in place numerous aluminum derivative contracts (hedging item) that are used to fix the price the Company
is required 1o pay for its anticipated aluminum manufacturing requirements {hedged item). These derivative contracts have a
fair value of $0.3 million {2016 - $0.1 million), which is included in denvative instruments. Alumimum is the major raw material
used in the Container Segment. The Company uses these contracts along with fixed-price customer contracts to minimize
the impact of aluminum price fluctuations. The Company does not enter into these contracts for speculative purposes.

The changes in value of the aluminum derivative contracts are recorded in other comprehensive income Any ineffective
portion ss recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses. For 2017 and 2016, no ineffectiveness was recognized.
Payments made or proceeds received upon the settlement of these contracts are recorded in cost of goods sold.

Prices for aluminum fluctuate in response to changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a vanety of other
factors beyond the Company’s control A US$100/MT increase (decrease) In the price of aluminum would have resulted in
a $0.1 million (2016 - $0 3 milion) decrease {increase) in other comprehensive income and no Impact on the earnings from
operations (2016 - nil} of the Company. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates,
remain constant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOQLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

(b) Hedges of net investment in self-sustaining operations

US$129.0 rmilhon {2016 - US$129.0 million) of unsecured notes, US$235.3 milhon (2016 - US$500.0 mullion} of unsecured
Rule 144A bonds and US$685.0 mullion (2016 - US$409.6 milion} of the unsecured syndicated bank credit facitities (hedging
items) have been used to hedge the Company's exposure to its net investment in self-sustairuing U.S. doHar-denominated
operations (hedged items) with a view to reducing foreign exchange fluctuations. The foreign exchange effect of the
unsecured notes, the unsecured Rule 144A bonds, the unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities and the net investment in
U.S. dollar-denominated subsidiaries is reparted in other comprehensive income These have been and continue to be 100%
fully effective hedges as the notional amounts of the hedging items equal the portion of the net investment balance being
hedged. No meffectiveness has been recognized in the income statement

£60.3 mithon (2016 - £70.0 million) of the unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities (hedging item) have been used to hedge
the Company’s exposure to its net investment in self-sustaining UK peund sterling-denominated operations (hedged items)
with a view to reducing foreign exchange fluctuations. The foreign exchange effect of both the unsecured syndicated bank
credit facilities and the net investment in UK pound sterling-denominated subsidiaries is reported in other comprehensive
income. This has been and continues to be a 160% fully effective hedge as the notional amount of the hedging 1tem equals
the portion of the net investment balance being hedged. No ineffectiveness has been recognized in the inceme statement.

€155.8 million (2016 - £€64.0 million) of the unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities {hedging item) have been used to
hedge the Company’s exposure to its net investment in self-sustaining euro-denominated operations (hedged items) with a
view ta reducing foreign exchange fluctuations. The foreign exchange effect of both the unsecured syndicated bank credit
faciities and the net investment in euro-denominated subsidiaries is reported in other comprehensive iIncome. This has been
and continues to be a 100% fully effective hedge as the notional amount of the hedging item equals the portion of the net
investment balance being hedged. No ineffectiveness has been recognized in the income statement

In February 2017, the Company converted US$264.7 million of the 3.25% unsecured Rule 144A honds {note 17} into
€250.0 million 1.23% fixed rate debt using cross-currency interest rate swap agreements {hedging items; “CCIRSAs") In
order to hedge 1ts euro-based assets and cash flows. Fair value of these CCIRSAs was recorded in non-current habilities
when negative in value and non-current assets when positive in value. The offset was recorded in other comprehensive
income These have been and continue to be 100% fully effective hedges as the notional amounts of the hedging items
equal the portion of the net investment balance being hedged. No ineffectiveness was recognized in the income statement
In 2017

[au Vvalue
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{c) Creditrisk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposurs to credit rnisk at

the reporting date was as follows.

December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
Cash and cash equivalents $ 557.5 $ 585.1
I'rade and other receivables 821.3 672.2
Available-for-sale financial assets 15.5 215
Derivative instruments 1.0 0.1
$ 1,395.3 b 11,2799
Impairment losses

The aging of trade recevables at the reporting date was as follows:
December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
Under 31 days $ 411.9 $ 3531
Between 31 and 90 days 299.1 2335
Greater than 90 days 60.4 117
$ 771.4 $ 648.3

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade recevables during the year was as follows:

Balance at January 1
[ncrease (decrease) durmg the year

Balance al December 31

December 31,

2017

3 17.8
(1.2)

3 16.6

December 31,

2616

$ 151
2.7

$ 17.8

The Company believes that no imparrment allowance is necessary i respect of trade recervables not past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In millions of Canadian doliars, except per share information)

{d) Liquidity risk

Exposure to liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial habiities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the
impact of netting agreements:

December 31, 2017
December 31, 2016 Payments Due by Period
Carmg Carrying  Contractual 0-6 6-12 1-2 2-5 More than

Amount Amount Cash Flows Months Months Years Years 5 Years

Non-derivative inanaal labihties

Secured bank loans $ 25 8 13  $ 1.3 3 0.2 $ 0.2 % 05 % 04 $ —
Unsecured bank loans 1.4 6.5 6.5 2.8 2.9 0.6 0.2 —
Unsecured noles i73.0 162.0 162.0 — 162.0 — — —
Finance lease habilities 5.6 6.2 6.2 1.1 1.1 1.7 1.6 0.7
Unsecured Rule 1444 bonds 662.1 620.3 620.3 — — — — 620.3
Unsecured svndicated bank
credit facility 736.6 1,015.1 1,015.1 — — — 1,015.1 —
Unsecured syndicated bank
term credit facility - 520.0 520.0 30.2 30.1 459.7 - —
Interest on unsecured notes * * 3.3 0.3 3.0 — — —
Interest on unsecured bank
credit {aclities * * 95.5* 20.0 20.4 290 26.1 —
Interest on unsecured
Rule 144A bonds N * 173.6* 5.2 10.1 204 61.3 76.6
Interest on other long-ternn debt v * 1.0 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.3 —
Ttade and other payables 8445 1,018.4 1,018.4 1,018.4 — — — —
Accrued post-emplovment
bencfit habilitics : * 223.3* 4.4 4.4 26.3 58.7 129.5
Operating leases — — 138.4 18.5 18.5 215 40.8 39.1
Total contractual
cash obligations S 24457 $3,349.8 $39849 $1,1014 $ 2529 $ 5599 $1,2045 $ 866.2

*  Accrued long-term employes nenefit and post-emoloyment benefit hability of $10. milkon and accrued interest of $83 miffion on unsecured notes,
unsecured Rule 144A bonds, and unsecured syndicated credit facilities are reported in trade and other payables in 2017 {2016 $76 rmihon and
$10 8 million, resnectively)

The following table indicates the penods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are
expectad to impact the income statement:

December 31,2017

December 31, 2016 Payments Due by Period

Carnving Carrying Contractual 0-6 6-12 1-2 2-5 More than

Amount Amount Cash Flows Months Months Years Years 5 Years

Assets $ 0l $ 1.0 $ 1.0 $ 06 % 04 $ — 8 — % —
Total contractual

cash obligations $ 01§ 1.0 $ 10 § 06 § 04 5 — 8 — 8 —
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{e) Currency risk

Exposure to currency risk
The Company's exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:

December 31, Decenber 31,
2017 2016

U.s. UK LS UK
Dollar Pound Euro Dollar Pound Eure
Cash and cash equuvalents 127.0 19.1 112.7 48,7 1.6 1049
‘Trade and other receivables 241.2 28.4 138.1 2410 18.3 1164
Trade and other payables 277.5 27.0 156.9 2563 124 i3l
f.ong-term debt 1,314.1 60.3 159.0 1,038.9 700 68,9

Sensitivity analysis

A five percent weakening of the Canadian dollar, as indicated below, against the following currencies at December 31 wouid
have increased (decreased) equity and income by the amounts shown below. This analysis assurmes that all other variables,
in particular interest rates, remain constant

Equute Income Statement

2017 2016 2017 2016

Euro (11.8) (4.3) 0.2 0.8
U S, dollar 5.2 (9.0} 4.0 5.3
UK. pound 09 29 0.3 0.0

A five percent strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the above currencies at December 31 would have had the equal
but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other vanables remain constant

(f) Interestrate risk

Anincrease of 100 hasis points in interest rates on the floating rate debt and cash equivalents as at the reporting date would
decrease net Income by $11 4 mithion (2016 - $6 1 million decrease). This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular
foreign currency rates, remain constant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 (In milllons of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

(g) Fair values versus carrying amounts

The fair values of financial assets and Labilihies, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial
position, are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2017 2016
Carrying Fair Larryng Fase
Ameunt Value Lsnouir Value
Assets carnied at fur vaiue:

Avaidable-Tor-sale inancial assets $ 15.5 $ 15.5 $ 225 $ 225
Derivative financaal assels 1.0 1.0 1 01
$ 16.5 $ 16.5 3 220 $ 226

Assets carried at amortized cost,
Loans and receivables $ 821.3 $ 821.3 3 6722 b3 6722
Cash and cash equivalents 557.5 5575 585.1 585.1

$ 1,378.8 $ 1,378.8 S 1.257 3 § 1.257.3

Liabudities carried al fair value:

Derivative financial liabilities $ 50.7 $ 50.7 S _— 3 —
$ 507 § 507 % — % —
Lilaknhities carried at amortized cost
Trade and other pavables $ 1,018.4 $ 1,018.4 3 8445 3 8445
Unsecured Rule 144A bonds 620.3 591.8 662 1 6260
Unsecured syndicated bank credit facilities 1,535.1 1,535.1 T36.6 7366
Unsecured notes 162.0 168.3 173.0 189.2
Other loans 7.8 7.8 39 39
Finance lease Habilities 6.2 6.2 5.6 5.6

$ 3,349.8 $ 3,327.6 8 24458 $ 24239

The basis for determining fair values is disclosed in note 3.

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows for the unsecured senior notes are based on the government vield
curve at the reporting date plus an adeguate credit spread.

(h) Fairvalue hierarchy

The table below summanzes the levels of hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities. it does not include the fair value
information for financial assets and financial habilities not measured at fair value if the carrying value is a reasonable
approximation of the fair value

The different levels have been defined as follows:
+ Level 1: quoted prices {unadjusted} in active markets for identicatl assets or habilities;

- Level 2 mputs other than quoted prices included within Levet 1 that are observable for the asset or liabiity, either directly
{i.e, as prices) or indirectly (1.e., derived from prices); and

+ Level 3 inputs for the asset or labsity that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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Fevel Tesel2 Ievel Total

December 31, 2017

Available-for-sale financial assets $ — $ 155 5 — $ 15.5
Dernative finanaal assets — 1.0 — 1.0
Denvative tinancial habihties - {50.7) — (50.7)
S — % {34 2) $ — 3 (34.2)
fevell Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 31, 2016
Available-for-sale financial assets $ — $ 225 3 — 3 225
Derivauve inancial assets — 0.1 .
4 — $ 220 $ - $ 226

24.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- credit nsk,
« hquidity risk: and
» rmarket nisk

This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Company’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company's management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures
are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set
appropriate risk imits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’'s activities. The Company, through its training
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment tn which
all employees understand their roles and obligations.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk 13 the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

The Company has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed indiidually for creditworthiness
before the Company’s payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Company's review includes external ratings,
wherg available, and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which represent the
maximum open amount without requiring approval from senior management; these limits are reviewed quarterly. Customers
that fail to meet the Company’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Company only on a prepayment basis.

The Company is potentially exposed to credit nisk anising from derivative financial instruments if a counterparty fals to meet
its obligations. These counterparties are large international financial institutions and, to date, no such counterparty has falled
to meet its financial obligations to the Company. As at December 31, 2017, the Company’s exposure 1o credit risk arising from
dervative financial instruments amounted to $10 milhon {2016 - $0.1 million).

(b) Liquidity risk

Licuichty nsk 1s the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obhigations as they fall due. The Company
manages hquidity by monitoning expectad cash flows and ensuring the availabiity of credit to ensure, as far as possible,
that it will always have sufficient hquidity to meet 1its liabilities when they are due The financial obligations of the Company
include trade and other payables, long-term debts and other long-term tems. The contractual maturity of trade payables 1s
six months or less Long-term debts have varying maturities extending to 2026, The Company has capacity to discharge its
current habilities from the continued cash flows from operations of the business. and an additional $557.5 million of cash-on-
hand and $500.0 miliion of available capacity within its syndicatad bank credit facility at December 31, 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 {In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

(c) Market risk

Market nisk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commoedity prices, wil
affect the Company's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

The Company uses derivatives to manage market risks. Generally, the Company seeks to apply hedge accounting 1n order
to manage volatiiity in profit or loss The Company does not utilize derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes

{i} Currency risk

The Company operates internationally, giving rise to exposure to market risks from changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Company partially manages these exposures by contracting primarily in Canadian dollars, euros, U K. pounds and U.S. dollars.
Additionally. each subsidiary's sales and expenses are primarily denomunated i its focal currency, further minimizing the
foreign exchange impact on the operating results.

in other cases, borrowings are done by non-Canadian dolfar-based subsidiaries in their own functional currencies such that
the principal and interest are denominated in a currency that matches the cash flows generated by those subsidiaries. These
provide natural hedges that do not require the application of hedge accounting.

{ii} Interes!rate risk

The Compeny is exposed to market risk related to interest rate fluctuations on its debt To mutigate this risk, the Company
maintains a combination of fixed and floating rate debt

{iif} Commodity price risk

Palypropylene is the most significant input cost for the Innovia Segment {ts traded in the market, with prices hnked to the
market price of natural gas and refining capacity. The Segment does not use derivative financtal instruments to hedge its
exposure to the volatility of polypropylene prices, therefore movements must be managed and where possible, passed along
10 the Segment’s customers

Aluminum 1s the major raw material used in the Container Segment Prices for aluminum fluctuate 1n response to changes
in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a variety of other factors beyond the Company's contral. The Company
uses customer-specific alumimum dernvative instruments (hedging items) along with fixed price contracts (hedged items) to
mimmize the impact of aluminum price fiuctuations

Aluminum derwvative contracts are accounted for as cash fiow hedges and changes in value are recorded on the statement
of financial position in other compreheansive iIncome. Any ineffective portion is recorded in selling, general and administrative
expenses. Payments made or proceeds received upon the settlement of these contracts are recorded in cost of goods soid.

{d) Capital management

The Company’s objective 1s ta maintamn a strong capital base throughout the economic cycle so as to maintam investor, creditor
and market confidence and to sustain the future development of the business. This capifal structure supports the Company's
objective to provide an attractive financial return to its shareholders equal to that of its leading specialty packaging peers.

The Company defines capital as total equity and measures the return on capital (or return on equity) by dividing annual net
earnings before goodwill iImpairment loss and restructuring and other itams by the average of the beginning and the end-
of-year shareholders’ equity. in 2017, the return on capital was 24.0% {2016 - 23 5%} and was well within the range of the
Company’s leading specialty packaging peers.

Management and the Board maintain a balance between the expected higher return on capital that might be possible with a
higher level of financial debt and the advantages and security afforded by a lower level of financial leverage.

The Company has provided a grewing level of dividends to its shareholders over the last few years, generally related to nts
growthin earnings Dividends are declared bearing in mind the Company's current earnings, cash flow and financial leverage

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year.

The Company 1s subject to certain financial covenants on its unsecured senior notes, unsecured notes, and its unsecured
syndicated bank credit facility This includes a covenant requiring a minimum censolidated net worth. The Company monitars
the ratios on a gquarterly basis and, at December 31, 2017 was in comphance with ali its covenants
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25. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(il Commitments
Non-cancellable operating iease rentals are payable as follows:

2017 2016

[ess than one year $ 37.2 $ 28.6
Between one and {ive years 62.8 529
More than five years 39.1 210
$ 13%9.1 $ 1625

The Company enters into operating feases in the ordinary course of business, primarily for real property and equipment.
Payments and other terms for these leases vary per agreement During the year ended December 31, 2017, $30.9 miilion was
recognized as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases (2016 - $26.8 mullion)

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had uncollateralized surety bonds of $75.5 million primarily to the Brazilian Tax
Authority In order to facilitate the appeal of tax reassessments. Based on the opinion of the Company’s Brazihian legat advisor,
no provision has been made in the financial statements for this reassessment.

(i) Contingencies

In the normal course of operations, the Company may be subject to lawsuits, investigatiens and other claims, including
environmental, labour, product, customer disputes and other matters. Management believes that adequate provisions have
been recorded in the accounts where required Although it 1s not always possible to estimate the extent of potential costs,
if any, management believes that the ultumate resolution of all such pending matters witl not have a material adverse impact
on our financial performance, financial position or hquidity

26. RELATED PARTIES

Beneficial ownership

The directors and officers of CCL Industries Inc. as a group beneficially own, control, or direct, directly or indirecily,
approximately 1.2 milbon of the issued and outstanding Class A voting shares, representing 94.7% of the issued and
cutstanding Class A voting shares.

Loan guarantee
The Company has provided various loan guarantees for its joint ventures and associates totalling $48 9@ million.

27. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

2017 2016
Short-term employee compensation and benefils $ 12.1 3 180
Share-based compensation 20.8 227
Post-emptoyment benefits 0.9 0.5
$ 33.8 8 342
28. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
2017 2016
Unrealized foreign currency translation losses, net of tax recovery of
$3.9 million (2016 - tax recovery of 1 53 million) $ (58.3) b {(1.0)
Gams on dervatives designaled as cash flow hedges, net of tax expense
of 1.1 million {2016 — tax expense of nd) 54 01
$ (52.9) $ {09)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 (In millions of Canadian dollars, except per share information)

29. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER ITEMS

2017 2016
CCL Segment restructuring (3} $ 6.5 h) 5.5
Avery Segnment restructuring (in) — (2.0
Checkpoint Segrment restructurmg {1} 14.8 207
[nnovia Segment restructuring (1) 3.0 -
Acqusition costs (v1 2.6 104
Other items {(v1) (15.6) —
Total restructuring and other items $ 11.3 $ 3d.6

{) In 2017, the CCL Segment recorded $6.5 mithon ($4.7 milhion, net of tax) in restructuring costs, primarily related to
severance costs for Innovia In 2018, the CCL Segment recorded $5.5 million ($4.5 million, net of tax) in restructuring
costs, primarily related to severance costs for Worldmark

(1} In 2018, the Avery Segment reversed $2.0 mitlion ($1.2 million, net of tax) of the restructuring reserve for the previously
announced closure of the Avery Meridian, Mississippi. binder manufacturing facility, which was repurposed and continue
to operate as a distribution facility only.

{in} In 2017, the Checkpoint Segment recorded $14.8 mithon {$11.8 million, net of tax) in restructuring costs, primarily related
to severance costs, In 2016, the Checkpoint Segment recorded $207 milhon ($14 G million, net of tax) 1 restructunng
costs, primarily related to severance costs

(v} In 2017, the Innovia Segment recorded $3 0 mulkon ($2.1 mulhion, net of tax) in restructuning costs, pnimanly related to
severance costs.

(v} In 2017, acquisition costs of $2.6 million ($2.6 million, net of tax) were recorded primanly for the Innovia acguisition. in
2018, acgusition costs of $10.4 midlion ($10.4 mullon, net of tax) were recorded primarly for the Checkpotnt and 2015
Worldmark acquisitions,

(v1) In 2017, Checkpoint recognized $15.6 mithon ($9.6 rmullion, net of tax) of Income due to the reversal of a pre-acquisition
legal accrual.

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board of Directors has declared a dividend of $013 per Class B non-voting share and $01275 per Class A voting share,
which will be payable 1o shareholders of record at the close of business on March 16, 2018, to be paid on March 30, 2018.
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SIX YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
(in milhons of Canadhian dollars, except share and ratio data)

2017 2016 2015 2014 1013 212
Sales and Net Earnings
Sales $  4,755.7 $ 39747 $ 30391 $ 25856 $ 1.889 4 $ 1.308 6
Depreciation and

amorhization 259.2 2037 1641 146 4 1202 102.6
Finance coat/

Interest expense 75.2 37y 150 156 256 209
Net earnungs $ 474.1} % 346.32 $ 29513 % 216 64 ) 103.65 $ 975
Basic net earnungs

per Class B share 5 2.70° $ 1.982 3 1703 3 1.264 S 0.61° 3 058
Financial Position
Current assets $ 1,851.6 $ 1,666.9 s 1,229 9 % 8219 % 770.2 $ 4769
Current habilities 1,299.7 907.0 9i2 8 6002 5445 3222
Working capilal® 551.9 7339 317 2217 2257 15347
Total assets 6,144.0 4,678.8 3,582.3 2,618.4 2,401.6 1,602.4
Net debt 1,773.9 10162 5998 437.2 3030 1401
Sharcholders’ equity  $ 2,157.9 $ 1,775.2 s 1,621.9 $ 1.216.2 $ 1,018.1 $ 887.2
Net debt to equily ratio 0.82 857 0.37 036 049 0.16
Net debt to talal

book capitalization 45.1% 36.4% 27.0% 26 4% 33.1% 13.6%
Number of Shares tvo.000.

Class A - Dec. 31 11.8 11.8 11.8 11.8 1.8 118
Class B - Dec. 31 165.0 Tod i 1636 lele 160.1 157.2
Weighted average

for the year 175.8 1752 1736 171.8 170.8 167.4
Cash Flow
Cash provided by

operations $ 711.2 $ 364.0 $ 473.3 $ 403 5 $ 3337 $ 199.3
Additions to plant,

property and

equipiment 285.7 2347 1722 153.7 116} 3.6
Business acquisitions 1,191.4 L ) 356.7 1159 5283 ile
Dividends 81.2 702 323 379 294 321
Dividends per

Class B share $ 0.46 $ 0.40 $ (.30 $ 0.22 g 0.17 3 0.16

fter pre-tax restructuning and other tems - net loss of $11 3 mukion
After pre-tax restructuning and other gtems - net 1oss of $34 6 miflion
After pre-tax restructuning and other ttems - net gain of $8 O mullion

fter pre-tax restructuring and otner ems - net gain of 881 mil'ron
After pre-tax restructuring and other itams - net ioss of $45 2 metlion
Current assets less current tabilities

T U s o b
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2017 BUSINESS LEADERSHIP

North America

Mark Cooper
President,
Avery & METO Worldwida

Brea, California, U.S A

John Dargan
Prasident,
Checkpoint Worldwide

Thorofare, New Jersey, U.S A,

Ben Rubino
President,
Home & Persanal Care Warldwide

Lumberton, New Jersey, US.A

Stephan Finke
Vice President & General Manager,
Food & Beverage North America

Sanoma, Califorma, U S.A

Eric Frantz
Vice President Operations,
Home & Personal Care North America

Hermitage, Pennsylvania, US A

Bill Goldsmith
Vice President & General Manager
CCL Design North Amenca

Scherervile, Inchana, US A,

Al Green
Vice President,
Technotogy Development

Ciinton, South Carolina, US A

Andy Iseli
Vice President & General Manager,
CCt Tube

Los Angeles, California, U.S A

Allison Phillips
Vice President & General Manager,
Avery North America Printable Media

Brea, Calfornia, US A,

Lee Pretsell
Group Vice President,
Healthcare & Speciaity Worldwide

Toronto, Ontario, Canada
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Europe

Giinther Birkner

President,

Food & Beverage,
Healthcare & Specialty and
innovia Fims Worldwide

Zurich, Switzerland

Peter Fleissner
President,
CCL Design Worldwide

Sofingen, Germany
Scott Mitchell-Harris

Group Vice President,
Checkpaint Europe & Asia Pacific,

Apparel Labeling Sclutions Worldwide

Barcelona, Spain

Erik Cardinaal

Vice President & General Manager,
Apparet Labeling Solutions,
Europe. Middle East and Africa

Terborg, Netherlands

Derek Cumming
Vice President & Managing Director,
CCL Design Electronics

Fast Kilbride, Scotland

Werner Ehrmann
Vice President,
Technotogy Development

Holzkirchen, Germany

Mathias Maennel
Vice President & Managing Director,
Healthcare & Specialty Europe

QOss, Netherlands

Jamie Robinson
Vice President & Managing Director,
Home & Personal Care Europe

Castleford, UK

Reinhard Streit
Vice President & Managing Director,
Food & Beverage Furope

Volkermarkt, Austria

Thomas Summer
Vice President & Managing Director,
Sleeves Europe

Hohenems, Austria

Asia Pacific

Jim Anzai
Vice President & Managing Director,
CCL industries North Asia

Tokyo, Japan

Da Gang Li
Vice President,
CCL Industries China

Shanghat, PR China

Kittipong Kulratanasinsuk
Managing Director,
CCL Label ASEAN

Bangkok, Thailand

Mark Gentle

Vice President & Managing Director,
Checkpoint & Meto Australia,

New Zealand & ASEAN

Melbourne, Austrahia

Bernhard Imbach
Vice President & Managing Director,
CCL Secure

Melbourne, Austraha

John O'Brien
Managing Drector,
CCL Label Australia & New Zealand

Adelaide, Austraha

Latin America

Luis Jocionis
Vice President & Managing Director,
CCL industries South Amenca

Sao Paolo, Brazif
Ben Lilienthal

Vice President & Managing Director,
CCL Industries Central America

Mexico City, Mexico



2017 CORPORATE EXECUTIVES

Donald G. Lang
Executive Charrman

Geoffrey T. Martin
President and
Chuef Executive Officer

Anne Brayley
Vice President, Internal Audit

Kamal Kotecha
Vice Presiclent, Taxation

2017 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Vincent J. Galifi
Director since 2016

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Magna International inc
Ontano, Canada

Edward E. Guillet
Director since 2008

Freelance Human Resources Consuitant
California, US A

Kathleen L. Keller-Hobson
Director since 2015

Corporate Duector
Ontarnio, Canada

Donald G. Lang
Director since 1991

Executive Ghairman,
CCL Industries inc
Ontario, Canada

Mark McClendon
Vice President and
General Counsel

James A. Sellors
Senior Vice President,
CGL industries Asia Pacific

Susan V. Snelgrove
Vice President,

Risk and Environmental Management

Lalitha Vaidyanathan
Senior Vice President,

Finance-!T-Human Resources,

CCL Industnes

Erin M. Lang
Director since 2016
Managing Director,
LUMAS Canada
Ontano, Canada

Stuart W. Lang
Director since 1991

Corperate Director
Ontario, Canada

Geoffrey T. Martin
Director since 2005

Presigent and CEQ,
CCL Industries Inc
Massachusetts, U.S.A

Douglas W. Muzyka
Drector since 2016

Corporate Director
Pennsylvamia, U.S A

Nick Vecchiarelli
Vice President,
Corporate Accounting

Monika Vodermaier
Vige President,
Corporate Finance
Europe and Asta

Sean P. Washchuk
Senior Vice President and
Chief financiaf Officer

Thomas C. Peddie
Director since 2003

Corporate Director
Ontano, Canada

Mandy Shapansky
Director since 2014

Corpotate Duector
Ontarta, Canada
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SHAREHOLDERS' INFORMATION

Auditors
KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants

Legal Counsel
MeMidlan LLP

Transfer Agent
AST Trust Company (Canada)
P.O. Box 700
Postal Station B
Montreal, QC H3B 3K3
Email: mguines@astfinancial com
Investor Services: (416) 682-3860 or
(800) 387-0825
Fax- (888) 249-6189
Website- www astfinancial com/ca-en

Financial Information

Institut:onal investors, analysts and registered representatives
requiring additional information may contact:

Sean Washchuk

Senior Vice President and CFO

(116) 756-8526

Additicnal copies of this report can be obtained from:

CCt Industnes nc
Investor Relations Department
111 Gordon Baker Road

Suite BN

Toronto, ON M2H 3R}

Tek (4186} 756-8500
Fax {4136} 756-83555
Email ccl@cclind com
Website www.cclind com
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Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders

The Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders
will be held on-

May 8, 2016 2t 1:00 pm

CCL Industnas Inc,

1M1 Gordon Baker Road

Suite 801

Toronto, ON MZH 3R1

Class B Share Information
Stock Symbol CCL.B

Listed TSX

Qpening price 2017 55269
Closwrg price 2017 S58 08
“Number of trades 337,368
Trading votume {shares) 61,730,209
I'radang value §5,192,425.534
Annual dividends dedared 01 4G
Shares Outstanding at December 31, 2017

Class A voung shares 11837250
Class B non-voting shares 164931412

Tlus report 1s printed on recyclable, acid-free and chlorine free paper
Printed 1n Canada

Designed by Bryan Mills Ltd. www bryanmills cam



